
 

 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Thursday, 28th October, 2021 

 Time: 1.30 pm 

 Venue: 
 

Guildhall 

 
 



2 

PLANNING COMMITTEE  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 
Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 

Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 

to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face the 

Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled parking 

space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground floor, which 

can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility and you wish to 

attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make 

any necessary arrangements to assist your visit. 

 

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 

Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 

preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II 

of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that 

the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to 

public inspection. 

 

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report 

on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 

providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 

proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 

attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 

attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded and 

for any footage to be broadcast or published.   

 

Please note the Council records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are published 

on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted in the 

meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council he/she will 

be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the 

Council’s website. The Chair of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if 

in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider 

that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision. 

 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 

for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 

Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day 

before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. 

 

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 

papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 

film, video or sound recording please contact the Lead Officer, Margaret Johnson, Democratic Services 

Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722085 (direct line); E-Mail Address:  

committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk. 

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 

minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information. 

 

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 

electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 

worcester.gov.uk 

 

 



3 

Planning Committee 
Thursday, 28 October 2021 

 

Members of the Committee:- 

 

Chair: Councillor Mike Johnson (C) 
Vice-Chair: Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo) 

 
Councillor Mel Allcott (LD) 

Councillor Alan Amos (C) 
Councillor Bill Amos (C) 
Councillor Jenny Barnes (LCo) 

Councillor Marjory Bisset (G) 
 

Councillor Owen Cleary (C) 

Councillor Allah Ditta (C) 
Councillor Jo Hodges (L) 
Councillor Andrew Roberts (C) 

 

 

  
C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  

LD = Liberal Democrat 

 
AGENDA 

 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 
1. Appointment of Substitutes  

 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place of a 

Member of the Committee. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 

3. Minutes of Previous Planning Committee  

Page(s): 1 - 10 

 of the meeting held on 23rd September 2021 to be approved and signed. 
 

4. Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel  

Page(s): 11 - 16 

 That the minutes of the Conservation Advisory Panel be received. 

 

5. Public Participation  

 Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a 

maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the 

Committee in accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 10. 
 

6. Public Representation  

 Members of the public will be allowed to address the Committee in respect of 

applications to be considered by the Committee in accordance with Committee 
Procedure Rule 11. Members of the public will address the Committee during the 

Committee’s consideration of the respective item. 
 



4 

7. Outline Planning Application P16L0448 (Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 
13/00656/OUT) - South Worcestershire Urban Extension  

Page(s): 17 - 98 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Simeon Manley, Interim Head of Planning 
Tel: 07955 434148 
 

 The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance recommends that the Planning 
Committee endorse the recommendation set out in paragraphs 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 

2.4 of the  report to the meeting of the Northern Area Planning Committee of 
Malvern Hills District Council to be held on 3rd November 2021(attached as 
Appendix 4), namely: 

 
2.1 The request for financial contributions towards acute health services in respect 

of planning application 13/00656/OUT has been considered and noted as 
something capable of being a relevant material consideration. However, the local 
planning authority does not agree to secure the contribution as the application has 

been subject to detailed investigation with respect to viability and the local 
planning authority is satisfied that the financial requests made by the 

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (in whole or part) could only be 
accommodated through the re-opening of already accepted financial appraisals and 
at the expense or reduction of the provision of other infrastructure considered 

critical to the delivery of sustainable development, including the provision of much 
needed affordable housing.  

2.2 The Council is not persuaded that the Trust’s request fully meets the tests set 
out in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 
2010, having regard to the Inspector’s decision and Secretary of State decision on 

the Wolborough Barton, Newton Abbott, Devon appeal decision and the more 
recent Claphill Lane, Rushwick appeal decision both of which are capable of being a 

material consideration. Even if the Council was to be persuaded that the request is 
CIL Regulation 122(2) compliant and/or compliance is confirmed by the Courts, the 
Council considers that the previously approved s106 Heads of Terms are still the 

most appropriate in this case and affordable housing should not be reduced below 
20%.  

2.3 In accordance with the decisions made by the planning committees at the 
three south Worcestershire councils in 2019, the section 106 agreement associated 
with application 13/00656/OUT does not include reference to a Deferred 

Contingent Obligation review mechanism on the basis that affordable housing 
provision at 20% is agreed as the maximum reasonable level of affordable housing 

across the whole development, not just the initial phase. 
2.4 To approve the amended list of planning conditions at Appendix 2 and the 
S106 Heads of Terms at Appendix 3 and to authorise the Director of Planning and 

Infrastructure to grant outline planning permission in consultation with the local 
ward members, subject to the completion of the s106 legal agreement and any 

further minor amendments to the drafting that may be necessary. 
 

8. Application 20/00866/FUL - Unit 7, St Martin's Quarter  

Page(s): 99 - 126 

Ward(s): Cathedral 

Contact Officer:  Sally Watts, Senior Planning Officer 

Tel: 01905 722172 



5 

 The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance recommends that the Planning 
Committee 

 
i) is minded to grant planning permission subject to the applicant and all persons 

having an interest in the land entering into an agreement under Section 106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 in accordance with the draft Heads of 
Terms, and; 

 
ii) delegates to the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance authority to 

agree the Heads of Terms and subject to being satisfied with the nature of 
such an Agreement authority to grant the necessary planning permission, 
subject to the conditions set out in section 9 of this report. 

 

9. Application 21/00680/FUL - New Bungalow, Grosvenor Walk  

Page(s): 127 - 152 

Ward(s): St. John 

Contact Officer:  Sally Watts, Senior Planning Officer 

Tel: 01905 722172 

 The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance recommends that the Planning 
Committee grants planning permission, subject to conditions as set out in section 9 

of this report.   
 

10. Any Other Business  

 Which in the opinion of the Chair is of sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
23rd September 2021 

 
Present:  
 

Councillor Mike Johnson in the Chair 

 Councillors Agar (Vice-Chair), Allcott, 
A. Amos, B. Amos, Barnes, Bisset, Cleary, 

Ditta, Hodges and Roberts 
 
Also in Attendance: 

 Councillor Mackay 
 

 
 

34 Declarations of Interest  

 
The following declaration of other disclosable interest was made: 

 
Application 21/00567/NMA – Rose Villa, Nunnery Lane 
(Minute No. 39) 

 
Councillor Agar – Acquainted with one of the speakers but had not discussed the 

details of the application. Councillor Agar left the room during the consideration of 
this item, but prior to that addressed the Committee as Ward Member. 
 

35 Minutes of Previous Planning Committee  
 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 22nd and 29th July 
2021 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

Matters arising: 
 

With regard to Minute 31, 29th July 2021 – Counsel’s  Opinion in relation to 
21/00462/FUL – Land at Everard Close the Chair provided an explanation for the 
requirement for the Committee to go into exempt session, as follows: 

 
On a point of clarity the legal advice that was sought on the reasons for refusal 

needed to heard in private so that the Council’s position was not prejudiced and it 
would be able to defend its position in any subsequent appeal.  Having received 

the advice the Committee moved quickly back into public session where the item 
was publicly debated. 
 

36 Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel  
 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Conservation Advisory Panel be 
received. 
 

37 Public Participation  
 

None. 
 

38 Public Representation  

 
Those representations made are recorded at the minute to which they relate. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



 23rd September 2021 2 

 
 

39 Application 21/00567/NMA - Rose Villa, Nunnery Lane  

 
Introduction 

 
The Committee considered a retrospective application for a non-material 
amendment for the re-siting of five roof lights to the rear roof slope, addition of 

one new roof light to rear roof slope, alteration of the central first floor window in 
the front elevation, omission of the previously proposed chimney, alteration to the 

first floor Juliet balcony windows on the front elevation, alteration of the gable 
windows on the front elevation and the alteration of the porch roof at Rose Villa, 
Nunnery Lane. 

  
Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee 

 
The application had been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Carver for the reason set out in paragraph 1.2 of the report. 

 
Report/Background/Late Papers 

 
The report set out the background to the proposal the site and surrounding area, 
the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representation s and 

consultations where applicable. 
 

The Committee were being asked to grant approval for the non-material 
amendment to planning permission 20/00088/FUL, subject to the amendment of 

condition 2 as set out on section 8 of the report. 
 
The application is for a retrospective non-material amendment to Application No. 

20/00088/FUL which was allowed at appeal.  The retrospective amendments that 
are sought by this application were highlighted at paragraph 3.1 of the report. 

 
There were no later papers circulated. 
 

Officer Presentation 
 

The information was presented as set out by the Corporate Director – Planning 
and Governance, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation for the item. 
 

Public Representations 
 

The following persons had registered to speak on the application: 
 
Kevin Ruff and Paul Chambers (Objectors) 

 
Key Points of Debate 

 
 The objectors in addressing the Committee expressed their concerns over 

the impact of the proposed changes which they did not see as minimal.  

They did not agree that the development was being built in  accordance 
with the consent granted by the Planning Inspector at appeal. 

 
 The Chair asked the Interim Head of Planning to explain/clarify to the 

Committee, Section 96A applications (Non Material Amendment).   

Page 2



 23rd September 2021 3 

 
 

 

The Committee were informed that they need to consider whether the 
changes in place are material or not.  If the application is refused then it is 

considered the amendments are material.  There is no recourse for Section 
96A applications, the applicant would need to apply again. 
 

 The Interim Head of Planning responded to Members on points of 
clarification around the process.   

 
 During the debate it was considered by some Members that the 

retrospective amendments cumulatively are considered to be material and 

it was proposed that the application be refused. 
 

A proposal to refuse the application had been made and this was seconded.  There 
being no further points made the Chair asked the Legal Team Manager to request 
the voting of each Member of the Committee, who were eligible to vote.  Following 

the recording of the votes the proposal was refused for the reasons set out above 
as follows: 

 
For - 5 
Against - 4 

Abstentions - 1 
 

Contrary to Officer recommendation it was: 
 

RESOLVED: That the Committee refuse the application for a non-material 
amendment to planning permission 20/00088/FUL as the amendments 
cumulatively are considered to be material. 

 
40 Application 20/00775/FUL Ketch Field, Broomhall Way  

 
Introduction 
 

The Committee considered an application for the development of 92 affordable 
dwellings and improvement of existing access, including green infrastructure and 

associated works at the Ketch Field, Broomhall Way. 
 
Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee 

 
The application was referred to Planning Committee on 29th July 2021 at which it 

was deferred in order to negotiate amendments to the scheme with regard to the 
design and appearance of the proposed apartment blocks,  In addition, an 
additional condition was requested requiring a further noise impact assessment in  

order to inform the mitigation measures already recommended. 
 

The previous report to Planning Committee on 29th July 2021 was attached as 
Appendix 1.  An extension of time for the determination of the application had 
been agreed until 31st October 2021 to allow determination by the Planning 

Committee and in the event that Members are minded to grant planning 
permission, completion of the Section 106 Agreement. 

 
Report/Background/Late Papers 
 

Page 3



 23rd September 2021 4 

 
 

The report set out the comments of the Corporate Director – Planning and 

Governance whereby amendments to the application had been sought in 
accordance with the resolution of the Planning Committee and amended 

elevations of the proposed apartment blocks have been submitted, together with 
computer generated images of the proposed development from certain vantage 
points around the site to illustrate the visual impact of the scheme on the site and 

from the surrounding area, as set out in the report. 
 

The amendments to the apartment blocks were summarized at paragraph 2.2 of 
the report. 
 

With regard to the noise impact assessment, the applicant had agreed to a 
condition for a further assessment to be undertaken in order to reflect current 

traffic conditions and inform proposed mitigation measures.  The condition was 
set out in paragraph 2.6 of the report. 
 

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the late papers which related to 
comments received from Alan Tucker, Chairman of St Peter the Great County 

Parish Council, opposing to aspects of the application for the development, 
together with comments from Parish Councillor, Roger Knight, opposing to the 
proposed three storey apartment block. 

 
Officer Presentation 

 
The information in the report was presented as set out by the Corporate Director 

– Planning and Governance, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation for the 
item. 
 

The Senior Planning Officer informed Members of the Committee that the list of 
plans that form condition 2 would need to be updated, which had been amended, 

as outlined in the presentation.  
 
As amended, Officers remained of the opinion that the proposed apartment 

buildings would be acceptable in terms of siting, size, scale, mass, design and 
appearance.  The landscape buffer in the form of an acoustic bund would partly 

screen and shelter the development.  This is considered a key landscape feature 
that would help mitigate the visual impact of the proposed apartment buildings, 
particularly as the proposed landscaping matures. 

 
Public Representations 

 
In accordance with the City Council’s Constitution, Part 5, Committee Procedure 
11.3.8, as public representations had been made at the 29th July 2021 meeting 

and no significant changes had been made to the scheme no-one had been 
permitted to register to speak again on this application.  However, local Ward 

Member Councillor Mackay addressed the Committee maintaining his objection to 
the proposal. 
 

Key Points of Debate 
 

 The local Ward Member, Councillor Mackay in addressing the Committee 
listed the concerns raised at the last meeting.   

Page 4



 23rd September 2021 5 

 
 

He acknowledged that Officers had taken on board the concerns raised with 

regard to the Noise Impact Assessment, but referred to the earth bund and 
the fact that noise is likely to resonate over it and that noise alleviation will 

need to be carried out before occupation.  He agreed that affordable 
housing was needed in the City but a different layout would be preferred 
and referred to the comments made by the Chairman of the Parish Council 

as set out in the late paper. 
 

 The Interim Head of Planning responded to questions from Members with 
regard to sustainability, infrastructure and design and bus services to and 
from the site.  He referred to the viability assessment carried out by the 

applicant which had limited capacity for contributions.  He commented that 
this is a planning balance between trying to deliver affordable housing as 

opposed to providing the infrastructure.  The matter of design was for 
Members to consider and whether this outweighed the benefits of the 
scheme.  The County Council Highway representative stated the bus service 

for the wider site will be enhanced. 
 

 In response to a question on what had changed to the apartment blocks 
since last considered by the Committee, the Senior Planning Officer referred 
Members to paragraph 2.2 of the report, which summarised the 

amendments. 
 

 The Interim Head of Planning stated that as a result of the last meeting the 
developer had also come back with photo montages which were referred to 

in the report and as part of the powerpoint presentation.  They had shown 
the proposed development from certain vantage points around the site to 
illustrate the visual impact of the scheme on the site and from the 

surrounding area, including landscaping when mature. 
 

 Many comments had been made with regard to the visual impact these 3 
storey apartment buildings would have on entering and leaving the City, 
but Some Members could not see an issue with the apartment blocks and 

reference was made to those situated in Diglis along the riverside and the 
newly built development on Whittington Road.  Some Members agreed that 

the applicant could have been more ambitious with the design and that 
they could have been better placed elsewhere on the site. 
 

 Members did ask why 3 storeys and why not 2 and what would the capacity 
be if reduced to 2.  It was confirmed that the housing numbers across the 

site would be reduced to 78. 
 

 With regard to the planting on the bund line it was asked when this would 

commence, if planted at the start of the development it would take 4 years 
instead of 5 to mature.  The Chair asked if this could be conditioned.  This 

resulted in the amendment of condition 11 accordingly. 
 

 It response to a question on the need for chimneys on the apartment 

blocks, the Chair gave permission for the agent representing the applicant, 
who was present, to provide clarification.  The agent stated that they were 

a design feature and were served by ground source heat pumps. 
 

Page 5



 23rd September 2021 6 

 
 

A proposal to approve the application was made and this was seconded.  There 

being no further points made the Chair asked the Legal Team Manager to request 
the voting of each Members of the Committee who were eligible to vote.  

Following the recording of the votes the proposal was agreed, subject to the 
amendment of conditions 2 and 11 as outlined above. 
 

For – 5 
Against – 1 

Abstentions - 5 
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee is minded to grant planning permission 

subject to the applicant and all persons having an interest in the land 
entering into an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act in accordance with the agreed Heads of Terms and subject 
to the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance being satisfied with 
the nature of such an Agreement delegate to the Managing Director 

approval to grant the necessary planning permission, subject to the 
conditions set out in section 3 of the report and to the amendment of 

conditions 2 and 11 as outlined above. 
 

41 Application 21/00624/FUL - Land adjacent to 97 Foley Road  

 
Introduction 

 
The Committee considered an application for the demolition of an existing garage 

and the erection of 1No. dwelling on land adjacent to 97 Foley Road. 
 
Reason Why Being Considered by Planning Committee 

 
The application had been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 

Councillor Alan Amos due to the principle involved of building on garden land. 
 
Report/Background/Late Papers 

 
The report set out the background to the proposal, the site and surrounding are, 

the proposal itself, relevant policies, planning history and representations and 
consultations where applicable. 
 

The Senior Planning Officer informed Members that the proposal was a re-
submission of planning application 20/00112/REM that was previously approved 

by Planning Committee at its meeting on 25th June 2020,  but has subsequently 
lapsed.  The proposal is the same as the scheme approved under 20/00112/REM 
and there has been no change in site or relevant policy circumstances in the 

meantime. 
 

There were no late papers circulated. 
 
Officer Presentation 

 
The information was presented as set out by the Corporate Director – Planning 

and Governance, in conjunction with a powerpoint presentation for the item. 
 

Page 6



 23rd September 2021 7 

 
 

Public Representations 

 
There had been no one registered to speak on the application. 

 
Key Points of Debate 
 

 As outlined in paragraph 1.2 of the report the principle of whether the 
Committee allows building on garden land, unless there is exceptional 

circumstances was questioned, as it was considered there were no 
exceptional circumstances in this case.  It was felt that the Committee 
needed to decide whether this is the right location for a house and the need 

to protect green space. 
 

 One of the Committee Members questioned why the application was before 
the Committee as the proposal is the same as approved in 2020 and there 
has been no neighbour objections.  This was also the opinion of other 

Members of the Committee and the need for consistency. 
 

 The Member who had called in the application, Councillor Alan Amos, stated 
that he had exercised his democratic right to ‘call-in’ an application 
anywhere in the City and referred the Member to the one line sentence for 

the reason for call-in, which the Member should understand.  The Member 
concerned, Councillor Hodges, objected very strongly to the comment made 

by Councillor Amos and saw it as a personal insult, as another Member had 
also made the same comment, but was not personally named.  She asked 

that her objection be minuted. 
 
A proposal to approve the application was made and this was seconded.  There 

being no further points made the Chair asked the Legal Team Manager to request 
the voting of each Members of the Committee who were eligible to vote.  

Following the recording of the votes the proposal was agreed. 
 
For – 8 

Against – 2 
Abstentions - 1 

 
RESOLVED: That the Planning Committee grant planning permission, 
subject to the conditions set out in section 9 of the report. 

 
42 Planning Committee Procedure - Decisions Contrary to Officer 

Recommendation  
 
The Committee considered a report on the Decisions Contrary to Officer 

Recommendation procedure. 
 

The Corporate Director – Planning and Governance in presenting the report stated 
this this was an options paper which explores the ‘minded to refuse’ process, the 
advantages and disadvantages. 

 
The report set out proposals to amend the process to be followed by Planning 

Committee when the Committee wishes to make a decision contrary to officer 
recommendation.  The procedure was last reviewed on 19th April 2018 where it 
was resolved to leave the procedure unchanged. 

Page 7



 23rd September 2021 8 

 
 

The Interim Head of Planning took Members through Options 1-4.  Options 1 and 

2 had been identified, Option 1 sought to remove the existing ‘minded to’ process 
and in its place introduce a delegated authority to the Corporate Director – 

Planning and Governance in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair procedure.  
Option 2 seeks to retain an amended version of the existing process. 
 

The Corporate Director – Planning and Governance and the Interim Head of 
Planning responded to questions from Members on the various aspects of the 

options.  The majority opting for Option 1. 
 
It was confirmed that applications deferred either for negotiations or further 

information would come back to the Committee for a decision.  It is only those 
applications either refused or approved contrary to officer recommendation that 

would be delegated to the Corporate Director – Planning and Governance in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair.  If either the Chair or Vice Chair do not 
agree with either the wording of the ground for refusal (in the case of a refusal) or 

the conditions to be attached (in the case of an approval) then the item would 
return to Committee for Members to agree the wording of the same.   

 
The Legal Team Manager clarified the difference between Options 1 and 2, in 
response to queries raised.  Clarification on the meaning of Chair and Vice Chair 

was requested if Option 1 chosen. 
 

It was proposed and seconded that the Option 1 be selected, with clarification on 
the meaning of Chair and Vice Chair.  There being no further points made the 

Chair asked the Legal Team Manager to request the voting of each Members of 
the Committee who were eligible to vote.  Following the recording of the votes 
Option 1 was agreed with the Chair and Vice Chair clarification and 

recommendation to Council for the Constitution to be amended. 
 

For – 9 
Against – 2 
Abstentions - 0 

 
RESOLVED: That the Committee: 

 
1. agree to Option 1 – Remove the ‘Minded to’ procedure but replace it 

with a Delegated Authority process with clarification on the 

meaning of Chair and Vice Chair; and 
 

2. agree to recommend to Council that the Constitution be amended to 
reflect the new process.  

 

43 Any Other Business  
 

None. 
 

44 Item Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information  

 
RESOLVED: That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said Act. 

Page 8



 23rd September 2021 9 

 
 

45 Minutes (Exempt Item)  

 
RESOLVED: That the minutes (exempt item) of the meeting held on 29th 

July 2021 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

 
Duration of the meeting: 1.30p.m. to 4.40p.m. 

 
 
 

Chairman at the meeting on 
28th October 2021 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL 

(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel) 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI 
Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE REMOTE MEETING HELD ON 8th September 2021 
 
 Present:  Mr C Potterton in the Chair 

    Dr H Barrett, Mr D Davis, Mr M Hughes, Mr G Harvey, Mr R 
Lockett, Ms A Marles, Mr M McCurdy and Mrs C Silvester  

     
    Councillors J Barnes and B Amos 
 

 Officers:  Dr P Collins  
 

 Apologies: The Dean, A Burton, S Laws and D Saunders 
 
46.  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the remote meeting held on 4th August 2021 were 

approved as a correct record. 
 
Matters arising: 

 
Minute 35 - The Chair confirmed that he had not had the opportunity to 

investigate the delay in the Panel’s comments being made available at the 
appropriate time for Application 20/00775/FUL – The Ketch, Broomhall 
Way, but will follow this up as soon as possible. 

 
47. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

 
1. Appeal Decisions and Notifications of Appeal. 

 
None. 

 

2. Chairman’s Correspondence and Information for Discussion 
 

None. 
 
48. OUTCOME OF APPLICATIONS 

 
Dr Collins informed the Panel that the report only items and main agenda 

items considered at the meeting on 4th August 2021 remain 
undetermined.  However, he did update the Panel on Application 
21/00521/HP – 5A London Road. 

 
49. REPORT ONLY ITEMS 

 
1. 21/00696/LB – 29 friar Street 

Erect transparent glazed canopy at first floor to the rear. 

 

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL 

(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel) 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI 
Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY 

 
 

 

2. 21/00709/HP – 2 King Stephens Mount 

Ground floor side extension. 

 
3. 21/00715/HP – 3 Bath Lodge, Green Hill, London Road 

Alteration of existing first floor rear glazing to reduce solar gain, 

addition of rear ground floor single storey extension. 
 

4. 21/00717/HP – 9 Fountain Place 

Single storey rear extension to replace existing conservatory. 
  

No issues or objections were raised with the above applications. 
 

5. 21/00744/ADV – Army Careers, 44 Foregate Street 

Two internally illuminated signs. 

 
6. 21/00713/ADV – 58 The Tything 

One off fascia sign(s) advertising the nature of the business. 

 
Overall, no objections. It was queried whether Item 6 above was 

retrospective. Concerns were also expressed over the lack of a Shop Front 
and a Signage Guide which would guide applicants. 

  

MAIN AGENDA ITEMS 
 

50.  21/00699/FUL – Pitmaston House, Malvern Road 
 

Proposed change of use from residential dwelling to mixed use residential & 

holiday accommodation let 
 

The Panel commented that there was insufficient information to allow the 
impact of the proposals upon the host listed building. Reference was made 
to the lack of elevations. The volume of neighbour objections was also 

noted, and doubt expressed that whatever limits were placed on the hours 
of use of the proposed pool, it would be difficult to enforce these. 

 
The Panel find the application unacceptable in its current format for 
the reasons noted above. 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 12



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL 

(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel) 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI 
Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY 

 
 

 
51.  21/00695/LB – 2 The Cross 
 

Refurbishment of ground floor 
 

The Panel has no objections. 
 
52. 21/00629/FUL – University of Worcester Severn Campus, Hylton 

Road 

Proposed infrastructure required for the future redevelopment of the 
University of Worcester Severn Campus; comprising non-vehicular access 

onto Henwick Road and Hardwicke Close (including emergency service 
vehicle access and flood emergency egress ramp, cycle routes and 

pedestrian ‘wellbeing’ routes), vehicle parking including electric vehicle 
and cycle parking, internal servicing and access roads linking to existing 
vehicular access from Hylton Road, green infrastructure, lighting, 

drainage, demolition of existing buildings, new University store building, 
and structures and associated works. 

 
The Panel had met on site with the applicants prior to the meeting. Before 
discussing this and the following application, Mr Mark Hughes from the 

University explained the thinking behind the applications. Dr Collins also 
explained that the houses in between which cycle and pedestrian access 

on Henwick Road is proposed are listed, and that only the front half of the 
Hylton Road site is within the Riverside conservation area.  
 

The need to protect existing trees on the perimeter of the site (both 
internally and externally) was stressed as was the importance of the 

correct choice of materials for both the hard landscape and the building. 
Whilst the colour gradation indicated on the proposals was praised and 
should be reflected in the final form applied, the Chair suggested that 

more attention is paid to the rear elevation of the main building as this 
would have an impact on adjacent residents. 

 
In addition, more detailed design was required for the soft landscape 

elements. Whilst the ‘sensory garden’ was a good idea as an ‘escape’ for 
people working on the site, it was agreed that it needed to be more 
sheltered and provide both a sensory and a physical shelter. The main 

design principles were acknowledged as being well thought out and the 
Panel thanked Mr Hughes for his time on site. 

 
It was agreed that it will bring about much needed improvements 
to this part of the Riverside and whilst some of the detail might 

need to be refined further, the Panel welcomed the proposals 
positively. 

 

Page 13



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL 

(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel) 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI 
Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY 

 
 

 
53.  21/00667/FUL – The University of Worcester Arena, Hylton Road 
 

Full planning permission for proposed International Inclusive Cricket 
Education Centre (Use Class F1(a) and E(d)) including lighting, drainage 

and associated works. 
 

Mr Hughes again explained the background to the proposal – a cricket 

centre for the visually impaired – which will be a national facility. The 
Panel asked about the design and scale, especially in comparison with the 

nearby Arena.  
 
It was explained that the proposed centre is broadly similar in footprint 

but lower in height with a rise in ground level on the site giving an illusory 
impression in this regard. The design was also discussed. Its arched front 

echoes that of the Arena, but the interior is largely open and reflects its 
use. The use of timber cladding on the frontage was queried. Based on 
experience elsewhere in the city, it was noted that was that this did not 

weather or wear well. The treatment of the side and rear elevations was 
also queried.  

 
This is proposed to be off white panels. Some concern was expressed over 
the rear elevation that would face Hardwicke Close, although it was 

pointed out that the houses there were at a higher elevation and screened 
by trees. The Chair offered to submit further comments about materials 

and planting at an appropriate point in the process.  
 

The Panel has no objection, in principle, subject to itemised issues 
and/or conditions. 

 

54.  21/00788/FUL & 21/00789/LB – 19 The Foregate 

Planning, Listed Building and Advertisement consent applications for 

internal and external alterations to front and rear including extraction 
equipment and new signage. 
 

The lack of a Council signage guide was again mentioned in this context 
and concern was expressed regarding the extraction system proposed. 

 
The Panel has no objection, in principle, subject to itemised issues 
and/or conditions. 

 
55. 21/00661/FUL – Land to rear of 56-60 Lowesmoor 

 
Demolition of existing flat roof extensions and provision of residential 
scheme for 16 apartments. 

 

Page 14



CONSERVATION ADVISORY PANEL 

(Incorporating the Civic Society Development Panel) 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Chairman Charles Potterton, BA DipLA CMLI 
Secretary: Worcester City Council, The Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY 

 
 

The Panel commenting that its ‘industrial scale and form’ fitted well in this 
context. Final material choices will be important. Some discussion followed 
about parking, but it was noted that the Highway Authority accept the site 

as parking free.  
 

The panel agreed that the scheme was modern in appearance and style 
but fitted well with the neighbouring buildings. 

 

The Panel welcomed the design positively. 
 

56. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

None. 

57.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
  

Wednesday 6th October 2021. It was agreed that the next meeting should 
be arranged around a site visit to Mount Battenhall. The Chair and Dr 
Collins would work together to arrange this. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

_______________________ 
Chair at the meeting  
Date: 6th October 2021 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1. Background 

 
 1.1 Outline Planning Application 

P16L0448 (Formerly P13L0316) 

Application Numbers Outline Planning Application P16L0448 

(Formerly P13L0316)(MHDC Ref: 

13/00656/OUT) 

Site Address South Worcestershire Urban Extension 

Description of 

Development 

 Outline planning application, including approval of access 

(appearance, landscape, layout and scale reserved) for a 

mixed-use development with local centre to the south of 

Worcester including demolition of existing buildings and 

the construction of up to 2204 dwellings including 

affordable housing (Use Class C3) and up to 14ha of 

employment land. The development to also include: Hotel 

(Use Class C1); Elderly Persons Accommodation (Use 

Class C2); Business (Use Classes E, B2 and B8); Retail, 

Financial and Professional Services, and Cafe and 

Restaurant (Use Class E);  Pub and Drinking 

Establishment and Food Takeaway (Sui-generis); Non-

Residential Institutions (including; Health (Use Class 

E(e)); Primary School (Use Class F1)); Assembly and 

Leisure (including: Indoor Leisure (Use Classes E and F2), 

Outdoor Sports and Leisure (Use Class F2)); Landscape, 

Public Realm, Open Space, Allotments and Orchards; 

Associated infrastructure and Off-site Highways Works, 

part of which is within the administrative district of 

Malvern Hills District Council/ Worcester City Council/ 

Wychavon District Council 

Case Officer Sim Manley Applicant Welbeck 

Strategic Land 

LLP 

Ward(s) All Agent Planning 

Prospects Ltd 

Reason for Referral to 

Committee 

 

In accordance with 

the adopted 

Schedule of 

Delegation 

Expiry 

Date 

 N/A 

Key Issues Section 106 requests for financial contributions from 

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust and updates 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



 relating to the Section 106 Agreement and planning 

conditions. 

Web link to applications  https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/P16L0448 

Recommendation 
 

The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance 
recommends that the Planning Committee endorse 

the recommendation set out in paragraphs 2.1, 2.2, 
2.3 and 2.4 of the  report to the meeting of the 
Northern Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills 

District Council to be held on 3rd November 
2021(attached as Appendix 4), namely: 

 
2.1 The request for financial contributions towards 
acute health services in respect of planning 

application 13/00656/OUT has been considered 
and noted as something capable of being a relevant 

material consideration. However, the local planning 
authority does not agree to secure the contribution 
as the application has been subject to detailed 

investigation with respect to viability and the local 
planning authority is satisfied that the financial 

requests made by the Worcestershire Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust (in whole or part) could only 
be accommodated through the re-opening of 

already accepted financial appraisals and at the 
expense or reduction of the provision of other 

infrastructure considered critical to the delivery of 
sustainable development, including the provision of 
much needed affordable housing.  

2.2 The Council is not persuaded that the Trust’s 
request fully meets the tests set out in Regulation 

122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Regulations 2010, having regard to the Inspector’s 

decision and Secretary of State decision on the 
Wolborough Barton, Newton Abbott, Devon appeal 
decision and the more recent Claphill Lane, 

Rushwick appeal decision both of which are capable 
of being a material consideration. Even if the 

Council was to be persuaded that the request is CIL 
Regulation 122(2) compliant and/or compliance is 
confirmed by the Courts, the Council considers that 

the previously approved s106 Heads of Terms are 
still the most appropriate in this case and 

affordable housing should not be reduced below 
20%.  
2.3 In accordance with the decisions made by the 

planning committees at the three south 
Worcestershire councils in 2019, the section 106 

agreement associated with application 
13/00656/OUT does not include reference to a 
Deferred Contingent Obligation review mechanism 

on the basis that affordable housing provision at 

Page 18

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/P16L0448


(MHDC Ref: 13/00656/OUT) was initially reported to the meeting of the 

City Council’s Planning Committee on 18th February 2018 at which it was 
resolved, as recommended, to:  

  

i. delegate its decision making authority in respect of Outline 
Planning Application P16L0488 (formerly P13L0316) to 

Malvern Hills District Council;  
 
ii. raise no objection to the application, subject to the 

conditions recommended in the appended report and the 
applicant and all persons having an interest in the land 

entering into an agreement under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act in accordance with the proposed 
Heads of Terms set out in the report to Malvern Hills District 

Council’s Northern Area Planning Committee on 7th March 
2018, and; 

 
iii. that Worcester City Council is consulted on any major 

changes that in the opinion of the Corporate Director – 

Planning and Governance raise issues not already covered in 
the report to Malvern Hills District Council’s Northern Area 

Planning Committee on 7th March 2018. 
 

1.2 Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (hereafter referred to as the 

Trust) subsequently wrote to Malvern Hills District Council formally 
requesting that the above outline planning application was subject to 
developer contributions towards acute health services provision. 

 
1.3 The City Council was consulted, and the application was reported to the 

City Council’s Planning Committee at the meeting on 19th September 
2019 (Appendix 5) where the Trust were seeking a contribution of 
£3,357,949.00. At this meeting it was resolved to endorse the 

recommendations set out in paragraphs 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 of the report to 
the meeting of the Northern Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills 

District Council on 14th August 2019 to: 
 

2.1 Refuse the request from the NHS Trust for contributions in 
respect of Planning Application P13A0617 (MHDC Ref: 
13/01617/OUT) and Outline Planning Application P16L0448 

20% is agreed as the maximum reasonable level of 

affordable housing across the whole development, 
not just the initial phase. 
2.4 To approve the amended list of planning 

conditions at Appendix 2 and the S106 Heads of 
Terms at Appendix 3 and to authorise the Director 

of Planning and Infrastructure to grant outline 
planning permission in consultation with the local 
ward members, subject to the completion of the 

s106 legal agreement and any further minor 
amendments to the drafting that may be necessary. 

 

Page 19



(Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 13/00356),  
 

2.2 The section 106 agreements associated with applications 
13/00656/OUT and 13/01617/OUT do not include reference to a 

Deferred Contingent Obligation review mechanism on the basis that 
affordable housing provision at 20% is agreed as the maximum 
reasonable level of affordable housing across the whole 

development and the mix of affordable housing is to be in 
accordance with the Heads of Terms previously accepted , and; 

 
2.3 to confirm to Malvern Hills District Council that the planning 
permissions in respect of Planning Application P13A0617 (MHDC 

Ref: 13/01617/OUT) and Outline Planning Application P16L0448 
(Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 13/00356) can be issued, subject 

to the completion of the s106 legal agreements under the 
delegations previously granted. 

 

1.4 The Trust has written again to Malvern Hills District Council formally 
requesting that Outline Planning Application P16L0448 (Formerly 

P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 13/00356 is subject to developer contributions 
towards acute health services provision.  

 
1.5 The Trust initially sought a contribution of £3,357,949.00 but it has now 

revised its methodology and re-submitted a request for funding in January 

2021, seeking a contribution of £1,839,839.06. 
 

1.6 The full background is set out within the report to the Northern Area 

Planning Committee of Malvern Hills District Council to be held on 3rd 
November 2021attached as Appendix 4. 

 

 2. Purpose and summary 
 

2.1  Worcester City Council has been consulted by Malvern Hills District Council 
on the further request from the Trust for financial contributions to the 
Trust in respect of this outline planning application that has a resolution to 

approve subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement and conditions. 
The background is set out within the report to the meeting of the Northern 

Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills District Council to be held on 3rd 
November 2021, which is attached as Appendix 4. 

 
2.2 Worcester City Council is requested to consider the written request of the 

Trust to Malvern Hills District Council attached as Appendix 1 and to 

confirm whether they are in agreement with proceeding on the basis of 
the recommendations detailed above. 

 
  

Page 20



Appendices 
 

1. Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust representation dated 14 January 
2021 (Parts 1 and 2) 

 
 

2. Amended list of planning conditions 

 
3. Amended s106 Heads of Terms. 

 
4. Malvern Hills Report to Northern Area Planning Committee 3rd November 

2021 

 
5. Report to WCC Planning Committee 19th September 2019 

 
Background papers 
 

Planning application 13/00656OUT 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



This is a summary of the Trust’s consultation response to the planning application ref: 

13/00656/OUT in relation to Land to the South of the City of Worcester Bath Road Broomhall

Introduction 

Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  The creation and maintenance of healthy communities is an 

essential component of sustainability as articulated in the Government’s National Planning Policy 

Framework, which is a significant material consideration. Development plans have to be in conformity 

with the NPPF and less weight should be given to policies that are not consistent with the NPPF. 

Consequently, local planning policies along with development management decisions also have to be 

formulated with a view to securing sustainable healthy communities. Access to health services is a 

fundamental part of a sustainable healthy community.

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals Trust 

As the attached document demonstrates, Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (the Trust) is 

currently operating at full capacity in the provision of acute and planned healthcare.

It is further demonstrated that this development will create a potentially long-term impact on the 

Trust’s ability to provide services as required. 

The Trust’s funding is based on the previous year’s activity it has delivered subject to satisfying the 

quality requirements set down in the NHS Standard Contract. Quality requirements are linked to the 

on-time delivery of care and intervention and are evidenced by best clinical practice to ensure optimal 

outcomes for patients.

The contract is agreed annually based on previous year’s activity. The Trust is unable to take into 

consideration the Council’s housing land supply, potential new developments and housing trajectories 

when the contracts are negotiated. Further, the following year’s contract does not pay previous year’s 

deficit retrospectively. This development creates an impact on the Trust’s ability to provide the 

services required due to the funding gap it creates. The contribution sought is to mitigate this direct 

impact.

Page 23 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



CIL Regulation 122 

The Trust considers that the request made is in accordance with Regulation 122: 

“(2) A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the 

development if the obligation is—

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

(b) directly related to the development; and 

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.” 

S 106

S 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) allows the Local Planning Authority 

to request that a developer contribute towards the impact that a development creates on the services. 

The contribution in the amount of £1,839,839.06, sought will go towards the gap in funding created 

by each potential patient from this development. The detailed explanation and calculations are 

provided within the attached document.

Without the requested contribution, access to adequate health services is rendered vulnerable 

thereby undermining the sustainability credentials of the proposed development due to conflict with  

NPPF and Local Development Plan policies as explained in the attached document.

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust

14 January 2021

Page 24



1

Application reference: 13/00656/OUT Land to the South of the City of Worcester Bath 

Road Broomhall

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust’s Consultation Response and Regulation 

122 CIL compliance statement in respect of the above planning application:

This document provides a summary of the impacts of new housing developments on 

Worcestershire Acute Hospital NHS Trust’s (WAHT) services, as well as a calculation of the 

contribution sought to mitigate the impact of the development on WAHT. It provides a sense 

of the operating scope and environment of Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust 

(WAHT). It explains:

• The impact and consequences of increasing demand upon the Trust.

• The context of the Trust and the services it provides.

• How funding flows within the NHS to show how WAHT is paid for the care it provides 

to the people of Worcestershire.

• The relationships WAHT has within the health and social care system in 

Worcestershire. 

A glossary of terms can be found in Appendix 1.

About Worcestershire Acute NHS Trust

1. The Trust was created pursuant to the National Health Services Act 2006 (as amended) 

which consolidates previous Health Services Acts. The Trust has a primary obligation to 

provide NHS services to NHS patients and users according to NHS principles and 

standards; free care, based on need and not ability to pay. 

Page 25



2

2. The Trust is a Secondary Care Acute services provider and delivers a range of planned 

and emergency hospital services to residents of Worcestershire. The Trust is subject to 

NHS standards, performance ratings and systems of inspection

3. WAHT was formed in 2004 by the amalgamation of three separate hospital trusts based in 

Redditch, Kidderminster and Worcester. Thus today, WAHT provides services for the whole 

population of Worcestershire from:

• The Alexandra Hospital in Redditch,

• Kidderminster Hospital and Treatment Centre and

• Worcestershire Royal Hospital in Worcester.

4. Until 2004, each hospital provided a broad range of services for their local populations. 

Subsequently, the Trust has re-designed most of its services to operate on a county-wide 

basis (where practicable) in order to provide efficient, high quality care achieved through 

economies of scale. This has maximised the clinical expertise of its workforce and uses 

the facilities of its physical assets, such as emergency departments, wards, operating 

theatres, laboratories and diagnostic equipment, to best effect. Each site provides a 

different combination of planned and emergency services to patients from across the 

county, including the new occupants of this development. Despite these changes, WAHT 

is at the furthest end of a continuum of NHS trusts that face demand that outstrips their 

capacity to provide care. The services the Trust provides are listed in Appendix 2.  

5. To illustrate the scale of WAHT’s activities, in 2018/19 the Trust provided care to more 

than 231,448 different Worcestershire patients – that is 40% of the Worcestershire 

population received care at one of our hospitals. The Trust saw 634 patients per day, 

which amounts to:

• 156,160 A&E attendances (12,220 more than the previous year)

Page 26



3

• 152,712 Inpatients (including day cases)

• 641,486 Outpatients (including diagnostics & outpatient procedures)

• 5,261 births

6. WAHT employs nearly 6,000 people and around 800 people volunteer to help to deliver 

care. The Trust has an annual turnover of over £400 million. The Trust ended the 2018/19 

financial year with a significant deficit above the level originally planned. The adverse 

position was driven largely by the provision of additional capacity to address increasing 

demand and workforce pressures. 

7. Every NHS Trust is authorised to operate by a licence issued by the Independent Regulator.

Each NHS Trust’s licence sets out the conditions under which it must operate including:

• The health services that the Trust is authorised and required to provide to the NHS.

• The standards to which they must operate and against which the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) will inspect and assess.

8. In common with other NHS providers, WAHT (at each site) is regulated by and inspected 

against national quality standards by the CQC. In addition, NHS England/Improvement 

monitors each NHS Trust to ensure they do not breach the terms of their authorisation as 

an NHS Trust. If an NHS Trust significantly breaches the terms of its authorisation, or finds 

itself in difficulty, NHS England/Improvement has a range of intervention powers, including 

powers to:

• Issue warning notices.

• Require the Board of Governors or Board of Directors to take certain actions.

• Suspend or remove the Board of Governors or members of the Board of Directors.

In the most serious cases, where NHS Improvement intervention cannot resolve the 

breach, an NHS Trust can be dissolved.

Page 27



4

9. WAHT has received a number of warning notices and has had conditions placed on its 

license by the CQC over the last few years. These have mainly been related to the capacity 

to provide urgent care, particularly to delays in ambulance handovers, fifteen-minute triage 

breaches and harm reviews.

10. The Trust has put in place a number of initiatives over the last three years to improve 

performance including;

• Initiation of a Patient Flow Programme (now superseded by the Home First

programme) which improves the rate and efficiency with which patients flow through 

hospital in-patient services and back into the community in response to increasing 

demand. The programme has entire work-streams dedicated to improving patient 

safety and experience in the A&E Department and improving admission and 

discharge of patients through the hospital.

• An emphasis on appropriate care for those living with frailty who need acute hospital 

services. Frailty expertise is being introduced to Trust-wide pathways, beginning in 

both Emergency Departments. 

• A Same Day Emergency Care model established at Worcestershire Royal Hospital 

is to be introduced at the Alexandra hospital during 2020/21. It is designed to treat 

patients on the day of attendance and should reduce hospital admissions by up to 

20%. An expanded Medical Ambulatory Emergency Care facility opened in 

November 2017, followed by a Surgical Decisions Unit in 2019. Both provide 

alternatives to admission for emergency and urgent patients. In late 2018 a GP out 

of hours service was co-located with Ambulatory Emergency Care to ensure that 

patients receive timely assessments where their condition is more suited to primary 

care.

• Additional bed capacity has been required beyond normal surge capacity at the 

Worcestershire Royal and Alexandra hospitals throughout 2019/20 to cope with 

Page 28



5

additional demand. This has required capital development to enable reconfiguration 

of wards and creation of 123 beds across both sites.

• Theatre and outpatient productivity programmes continue to be implemented to 

enable the most efficient use of outpatient clinics and theatres so that additional 

demand can be accommodated.

THE SHORT AND LONG TERM IMPACT ON NHS SERVICES

Impact of increasing demand 1 – operational issues

11. Each part of the health system has seen year on year growth in activity which manifests 

in an increase in demand for healthcare services, particularly for emergency care. 

Examples of the impact of these pressures include delays in offloading patients from 

ambulances at WAHT’s EDs; shortage of beds for those requiring admission to hospital; 

extended stays in hospital for patients who are otherwise fit for discharge where additional 

care is needed when they leave hospital. These pressures put attainment of the Trust’s 

NHS constitutional standards at risk (e.g. the Emergency Department “4 hour wait” and 

referral to treatment times). 

12. It is important to note that an NHS hospital trust never closes its doors and has a legal 

obligation to assess and, where necessary, treat all patients who present at ED as well 

as those patients referred by GPs for non-emergency care. This means that increasing 

demand must always be accommodated1. There is no option for the Trust to refuse to 

admit or treat a patient on the grounds of a lack of capacity to provide the service/s. In 

some cases, patients are able to exercise choice over where they access NHS services, 

1 NHS Standard Contract- Service Condition SC7

Page 29



6

but in the case of an emergency, they are taken to their nearest appropriate A&E 

Department by the ambulance service. The Trust’s sites are the nearest in regards to 

this proposed development. Whilst changes to the way the Trust’s services operate 

have enabled improvements in productivity and efficiency (see paragraph 10), ongoing 

growth in demand requires investment in additional capacity in order to maintain safe 

hospital services.

13. This development individually and cumulatively will increase the impact on the services 

WAHT provides. 

Impact of increasing demand 2 – workforce issues

14. Provision of safe hospital-based services relies on sufficient capacity within a suitably 

sized and skilled clinical workforce and within appropriate physical assets. WAHT has 

invested in two stepped costs in the last 5 years to increase the size of its physical assets 

to respond to increasing demand. In 2016, the Emergency Department (ED) at 

Worcestershire Royal Hospital was enlarged using space adjacent to the original smaller 

department. However, further increases in demand mean that the sizes of the Emergency 

and Urgent Care departments at both Worcester Royal and the Alexandra Hospital are 

already insufficient. In 2019, WAHT opened an additional 44 acute beds at the Alexandra 

Hospital in Redditch and has commenced a programme of refurbished ward 

accommodation at Worcestershire Royal Hospital, increasing its bed capacity on this site 

by 79. This was necessary to accommodate patients who need to be admitted following 

presentation to ED.

15. The Trust provides the majority of healthcare services through employed staff but has sub-

contracted agency and/or locum staff for services because of operational pressures that 

result from the impact of increased demand. These are employed at a premium cost. The 

Page 30



7

supply of our clinical professional workforce is nationally determined and there is limited 

opportunity for the Trust to influence local supply, other than through recruitment and 

retention. Nationally, many health professions are suffering chronic shortages. Unable to 

attract permanent staff, WAHT (like other acute trusts) has addressed these workforce 

shortages by growth in its use of locum and agency staff. In turn, their scarcity has driven 

up prices to a premium within a national labour market where prices are buoyed by annual 

increases in NHS service demand. In 2018/19, WAHT paid £46m in temporary staffing 

costs 16.4% of which was spent at premium rates. 

Impact of increasing demand 3 – quality & safety issues

16. Despite recent capacity increases, the Trust’s hospitals are operating at full capacity and 

there are limited opportunities to improve this further. NHS provider trusts are contractually 

required to comply with NHS Standard Contract quality requirements. However, at WAHT, 

there is insufficient operational capacity to accommodate population growth created by the 

development without reduction in the quality of the service (as outlined by the standards 

set out in the NHS Standard Contract). Ultimately, the Trust will be sanctioned financially 

for external factors which it is unable to control. 

17. In order to maintain adequate standards of care, a key factor to deliver on-time care without 

delay is the availability of beds to ensure timely patient flow through the hospital. 85% bed 

occupancy represents the benchmark for patient safety, and it is inadvisable for bed 

occupancy to regularly exceed that figure2. NHS Improvement states that bed occupancy 

above 92% leads to accelerated deterioration in A&E performance. An 85% bed 

occupancy rate results in better care for patients and better outcomes because it enables 

patients to be placed in the right bed, under the right team and to get the right clinical care 

2 BMA 2017 Beds in the NHS 

Page 31



8

for the duration of their hospital stay. Where the right capacity is not available in the right 

ward for the treatment of a particular condition, the patient will be admitted and treated in 

an alternative ward or department and transferred as a more appropriate bed space 

becomes available. Multiple bed/ward moves increases the length of stay for the patient 

and is known to have a detrimental impact on the quality of care and recovery time. 

Consequently, when hospitals run at occupancy rates higher than 85%, patients are more 

at risk of delays to their treatment, of receiving sub-optimal care and have a poor 

experience during their hospital stay.

18. Appendix 3 shows that the Trust’s utilisation of acute bed capacity exceeded the optimal 

85% occupancy rate for the last three years and increased to an average occupancy rate 

of 97.34% in 2018/19. This demonstrates that current occupancy levels are unsatisfactorily 

high, and the problem will be compounded by an increase in the population that does not 

coincide, with an increase in the number of appropriately-staffed bed spaces available at 

the hospital. This is an inevitable result where clinical facilities are forced to operate at 

over-capacity and is why there is now a very real need to expand the Trust facilities. Any 

new residential development will add a further strain on the current acute healthcare 

system.

19. Without mitigating the impact, this development will have individual and cumulative 

detrimental impact on the safety and quality of services. 

MITIGATING THE SHORT AND LONG TERM IMPACT ON NHS SERVICES

Funding of NHS activities

20. Within universal coverage healthcare systems such as the NHS, services are provided 

free of charge. In England, publicly-provided healthcare is ultimately funded from taxation.

This section describes how funding allocations, made by central government to the 

Page 32



9

Department of Health and Social Care, are distributed to the NHS and onwards to NHS 

acute hospital service providers, such as WAHT.

21. In a given year, the level of NHS funding is set by central government through the 

Comprehensive Spending Review process. The process estimates how much funding 

the NHS will receive from central sources. The NHS receives about 80% of the health 

budget, which is allocated in England to NHS England/Improvement (NHSE/I), the 

governing body of the NHS in England. In turn, NHSE/I allocates funds to Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs).

22. CCGs are clinically-led, statutory NHS bodies which are responsible for identifying the 

health needs of their local population. They plan and commission health care services

from providers such as WAHT to meet those needs. CCGs exist to maintain and 

improve the health of their registered population and are, therefore, concerned with 

preventing as well as treating ill-health. With effect from 1st April 2020, Herefordshire 

and Worcestershire have a joint CCG which commissions planned and emergency 

acute healthcare services for the population of both counties.

23. CCGs commission most services from NHS provider organisations using their funding 

allocation under the terms of the NHS Standard Contract. Almost half their allocation is 

used to purchase acute hospital care. WAHT is the predominant acute provider for 

Worcestershire. The CCG also commissions acute hospital services from other trusts for 

Worcestershire where WAHT does not provide a particular service or does not have the 

capacity to meet demand. The remainder of the allocation is spent on other types of 

health provision (e.g. mental health and community services) and CCG running costs. 

Page 33



10

24. The following diagram, from a recent National Audit Office report3, shows these funding 

flows together with recent national financial performance.

CCG Funding Allocations

25. CCGs are allocated NHS funding to carry out their role using a nationally determined 

formula. The formula is based on independent academic research overseen by an 

independent external group, the Advisory Committee on Resource Allocation. Allocations 

are based on a weighted capitation rate. The starting point for determining a target CCG 

allocation is the latest estimate of the number of patients registered with a GP practice 

located within the CCG area (the registered GP population). However, a CCG’s 

allocation is then ‘weighted’ according to a number of factors such as age, health 

3 https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/NHS-financial-sustainability_.pdf

Page 34



11

inequalities, deprivation levels. A per capita rate of NHS funding is calculated for each 

CCG area and multiplied by the number of people registered with GP practices4. 

26. Allowance for growth in the number of people registered with GP practices is applied to 

projected CCG allocations by NHS England. This population growth is based on mid-

year estimates from Office for National Statistics’ age-sex specific population projections.

CCG projected funding allocations comprise indicative amounts that are often adjusted, 

year on year, to account for in-year factors, policy changes or NHS-wide based financial 

out-turns, most particularly national deficits. Despite recent multi-year financial 

settlements for the NHS, multi-year financial allocations are subject to annual 

confirmation or amendment within the framework set by each year’s Comprehensive 

Spending Review.

How are NHS providers paid?

27. WAHT is part of the healthcare system in Worcestershire. Its partners include i) the 

Worcestershire Health & Care Trust, which provides community services such as district 

nursing; ii) Worcestershire County Council which provides Adult Social Care, including a 

range of domiciliary and care home services, as well as Public Health which 

commissions WAHT to provide screening services; iii) General Practice which provides 

in and out of hours primary care; iv) West Midlands Ambulance Service which serves all 

WAHT’s hospitals with both an emergency service and a patient transport service.

28. NHS providers do not have directly allocated funds. Rather, each has annual contracts 

negotiated with CCGs. These contracts serve as a mechanism by which CCGs 

4 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/note-on-ccg-allocations-2019-20-2023-
24.pdf

Page 35



12

commission service providers to care for those members of the population who need 

healthcare. Contracts include service specifications, based on clinically evidenced and 

recognised guidelines, which are used to monitor the quality of service delivery.

29. The annual contracts between CCGs and providers are activity based. The Trust’s contract 

income comprises two payment types i) payments for episodes of activity, known as tariff 

payments and ii) block payments, most usually for emergency and urgent care activity.

i) The National Tariff Payment System is published annually by NHSE/I. It is a system 

whereby CCGs pay NHS healthcare providers a standard national price (tariff) for each 

patient seen or treated and is based on the average cost of delivering that care across 

all NHS organisations. The Department of Health sets the tariff annually. Tariff currently 

comprises 65% for staffing costs, 21% other operational costs, 7% for drugs, 2% for 

clinical negligence scheme premia and 5% for capital maintenance costs. The tariff is 

derived from the national average cost base for the delivery of hospital care and is 

adjusted to account for inflation, efficiency improvement and other cost base 

pressures. (e.g. changes to the Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST)

premium and introduction of new medical technologies).

ii) Block payment arrangements fund the Trust for a quantum of activity and include 

“floors” and “ceilings” to prescribe (and proscribe) activity levels. If these are under or 

over-achieved, penalties are applied, usually in the form of marginal payments for 

additional activity. In accordance with NHS policy, WAHT’s provision of non-elective 

admissions, A&E attendances and Same-Day Emergency Care is governed by a block 

contract, negotiated and agreed annually, based on the previous year’s activity levels. 

Overachieved activity is paid for at marginal rate, currently 20% of full cost. This does 

not cover the cost of providing the activity. 

Page 36



13

30. Tariff and block activity payments combine to represent out-turn activity levels for a 

provider for the previous year. These are the basis of the annual contract refresh. Rates 

of growth encountered during the current year are never entirely funded in the following 

year by CCGs. Additional expenditure which results from increasing demand in year, over 

and above contracted values, is never paid for retrospectively and so becomes an 

unfunded in year pressure. Thus, payment for growth always lags behind activity 

increases. 

31. The Trust’s income does not take into consideration local housing need, housing 

projections or existing planning permissions. The income is always based on existing 

activity as explained above.

Direct Impact of the Development and Mitigation Formula

32. The existing service infrastructure for emergency and planned health care in WAHT is 

unable to meet the additional demand generated by the proposed development. The new 

population associated with the proposed development (individually and cumulatively) will 

impact significantly on service delivery and performance of the Trust until the annual 

contract refresh includes the activity volumes associated with the population increase. 

Therefore, the development and its associated demand for acute and planned health care 

will have an adverse effect on the Trust’s ability to provide “on time” care without delay.

This will result in the Trust receiving financial penalties for not achieving performance 

standards (e.g. referral to treatment times).

33. The only way that the Trust can achieve the “on time” service delivery without delay and 

comply with NHS quality requirements is that the developer mitigates the impact and 

contributes towards the cost of the Trust providing the necessary capacity to maintain 

service delivery during the first year of occupation of each dwelling. Without securing such 

Page 37



14

contributions, the Trust will have no funding to meet healthcare demand arising from each 

dwelling during the first year of occupation and the healthcare provided by the Trust would 

be significantly delayed and compromised, putting local people at risk.

34. The calculation used to calculate the mitigation required to offset the impact of additional 

demand created by the development can be found in Appendix 4. 

Explanation of formula to calculate s106 developer contribution

35. All activity undertaken by the Trust is traceable to a patient through the patient’s address, 

NHS number and registered GP, which are recorded each time a patient is treated. This 

activity count does not represent discreet patients, but the amount of activity (episodes of 

care) undertaken.

36. The Trust has calculated the financial impact of the development on its resources and the 

mitigation required to meet additional costs. The calculation table (Appendix 4) is colour-

coded to support the reader’s understanding of the calculation.

37. The Trust’s calculation establishes the additional impact the new development will impose 

on the Trust’s resources. To start the calculation, the total population of the development 

is calculated by multiplying the number of dwellings by the average number of people 

expected to live in each house. The Trust uses an average number of people per 

household published by the local council to make this calculation, unless provided with a 

different average by the development’s builder.

38. An impact per dwelling is calculated by dividing the development’s total cost pressure on 

the Trust (from column 10) by the number of dwellings in the development, to arrive at 

impact per dwelling.

Page 38



15

39. However, the total impact of the development is abated to 44.1% of total cost pressure.

This abatement recognises that, according to the Trust’s specialist planning advice, 44.1% 

of people moving into the development are new to the county or, by leaving a void 

elsewhere, cause others to move into the county. They are therefore not included in the 

funding allocation with which the CCG buys the Trust’s services. In this way, the calculation 

avoids double counting the impact from the demand generated by existing GP registered 

patients who are accounted for in the Trust’s annual plan.

40. For a detailed explanation of the calculation, please refer to Appendix 4.

41. As a consequence of the above and due to the payment mechanisms the Trust is subject 

to, it is necessary that the developer contributes towards the cost of enabling the Trust to 

provide services during the first year of occupation of each dwelling. The contribution 

requested is based on this calculation and by that means ensures that the request for the 

relevant landowner or developer to contribute towards the cost of health care provision is 

directly related to the development proposals and is fairly and reasonably related in scale 

and kind. Without securing such contributions, the Trust would be unable to support the 

proposals and would object to the application because of its direct and adverse impact on 

the delivery of healthcare in the county. Without the contribution being paid, the 

development would not be acceptable in planning terms because there would be 

inadequate health services available to support it and there would be detrimental impact 

to others in Worcestershire. 

42. Therefore, the contribution requested for this proposed development of 2204 dwellings is 

£1,839,839.06. This contribution will be used directly to provide additional services to meet 

patient demand as indicated in Appendix 4.

Page 39



16

Summary

43. As its evidence demonstrates, the Trust is currently operating at full capacity in the 

provision of acute and planned healthcare. The contribution is being sought not to support 

a public body but rather to enable that body (i.e. the Trust) to provide services needed by 

the occupants of the new homes. The development directly affects the Trust’s ability to 

provide the health services to those who live in the development and the community at 

large. Without contributions to maintain the delivery of health care services at the required 

quality standard, and to secure adequate health care for the locality, the proposed 

development will strain services, putting people at significant risk of receiving substandard 

care, leading to poorer health outcomes and prolonged health problems. Such an outcome 

is not sustainable and will have detrimental socio-economic impact on the community.

44. The Trust acknowledges that housing developments are constructed and occupied in 

phases and therefore is willing to negotiate staged payments of the total sum claimed.

The money will be spent to meet the marginal costs of direct delivery of healthcare for 

the additional population. This will include the cost of medical, nursing and other health 

professional staff, which may be incurred at a premium rate. The money will also meet 

increases in other direct costs associated with healthcare delivery, for example, 

diagnostic examinations, consumables, equipment.

Page 40



17

The table below is indicative of the range of costs that will be mitigated by s.106 claims.

Cost descriptor

Emergency Department Drugs Outpatients 

Blood Endoscopy Pathology 

Consultants High cost drugs Pharmacy

Critical Care Junior doctors Prostheses/implants/devices

Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts Nursing Imaging

Other diagnostics Specialist nursing Operating theatres

Dental Therapies Ward and other settings

Policy 

1. One of the three overarching objectives to be pursued in order to achieve sustainable 

development is to include “b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy 

communities … by fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible 

services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support 

communities’ health, social and cultural well-being:” NPPF paragraph 8. There will be a 

dramatic reduction in safety and quality as the Trust will be forced to operate over 

available capacity as the Trust is unable to refuse care to emergency patients. There 

will also be increased waiting times for planned operations and patients will be at risk of 

multiple cancellations. This will be an unacceptable scenario for both the existing and 

new population. The contribution is necessary to maintain sustainable development. 

Further the contribution is carefully calculated based on specific evidence and fairly and 

reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. It would also be in the 

accordance with Council's Adopted Development Plan as follows:

South Worcestershire Development Plan – Adopted February 2016

B. Health and Public Health 

Page 41



18

SWDP 7

A. The partner authorities will work closely with their partners, especially the 

County Council, to bring forward the appropriate and proportionate infrastructure that 

is required in order to deliver the plan. 

B. Development will be required to provide or contribute towards the provision of 

infrastructure needed to support it. 

C. Where new infrastructure is needed to support new development, the 

infrastructure must be operational no later than the appropriate phase of development 

for which it is needed.

Planning for Health in South Worcestershire - Supplementary Planning Document 

(Adopted September 2017) Malvern Hills District Council, Worcester City Council, 

Wychavon District Council. Prepared in conjunction with Worcestershire County 

Council

Aims and objectives

1.12 The aims and objectives of this Health SPD are as follows:

Aims 

Page 42



19

To inform pre-application advice (and subsequent planning applications) of any 

potential health-related issues, and to be a material consideration, where relevant, 

to be taken into account in determining planning applications; 

To provide information and guidance that can be used to support a Health Impact 

Assessment; 

To promote opportunities for healthier lifestyles, encourage healthier choices and help 

reduce the demand on the NHS, health professionals, councils and individuals across 

south Worcestershire; 

To provide an evidence base resource, responding to local needs by providing 

supporting information and guidance; 

Objectives

• To stimulate and bring about development proposals whose design is supportive of 

this SPD; 

• To help deliver built and natural environments that provide suitable living conditions, 

encourage good physical and mental health and wellbeing and help prevent people 

becoming ill; 

• To increase the number of Health Impact Assessments in order to maximise the 

positive health impacts of their proposals and provide mitigation against any 

potential negative impacts. 

Page 43



20

Chapter 8 of the NPPF elaborates paragraph 8 in paragraph 92, which directs that:

To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community 

needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

a) … ; 

b) … ; 

c) guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly 

where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs; 

d) ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and 

modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community; and 

e) … . 

In the circumstances, without the requested contributions to support the services 

infrastructure the planning permission should not be granted.

14 January 2021

Page 44



21

Appendix One: Glossary of terms

1 Definitions

• Accident and emergency care: Accident and Emergency Departments may be i)

major units, providing a 24 hour service seven days a week to which the great majority 

of emergency ambulance cases are taken, or ii) smaller units commonly called minor 

injury units, in which services are often only available for limited hours and which may 

not deal with emergency ambulance cases.

• Acute care: This is a branch of hospital healthcare where a patient receives short-

term treatment for a severe injury or episode of illness, an urgent medical condition, or 

during recovery from surgery. In medical terms, care for acute health conditions is the 

opposite from chronic care or longer-term care. 

• Block Contract: a payment made by the commissioner to a provider to deliver a 

specific and defined range of services, regardless of the volume of services delivered.

The value is independent of the actual number of patients treated or activity completed. 

Block contracts generally operate on a annual basis. 

• Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG): CCGs are clinically-led statutory NHS bodies 

responsible for the planning and commissioning of health care services for their local 

area.

• Community care: long-term care for people who are elderly or disabled which is 

provided within the community rather than in hospitals, especially as implemented in 

the UK under the National Health Service and Community Care Act of 1990

Page 45



22

• Dr Foster: Dr Foster provides healthcare information and intelligence particularly 

about the performance of NHS trusts. Dr Foster uses data-driven methodologies to 

support organisations to improve quality and efficiency.

• Emergency care: Care that is unplanned and/or urgent. 

• NHS Improvement (NHSI): NHSI was a health services organisation that was 

responsible for supporting NHS trusts to provide consistently safe, high quality care 

within a local health system that is financially sustainable. On 1st April 2019, NHSI and 

NHS England came together as one organisation to better support the NHS to deliver 

improved care for patients.

• Office of National Statistics: Known as ONS

• Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL): OPEL is a standard framework 

for Trusts to report levels of pressures nationally using a consistent approach.

• Planned care: Medical care that is provided by a specialist or facility upon referral and 

that requires more specialised knowledge, skill, or equipment that can be provided by 

the referrer.

• Premium Costs: Premium costs incurred by an NHS trust include the supply of 

agency staff, Locum Medical Staff and payments to deliver services to meet 

operational pressures which exceed the costs incurred when delivering with 

substantive staff. It also covers sub-contracting the provision of certain services to third 

parties to meet demand.

Page 46



23

Appendix Two List of services provided by Worcestershire Acute NHS Hospitals Trust

Alexandra 

Hospital

Kidderminster 

Treatment 

Centre

Worcestershire 

Royal Hospital

Emergency Department, including trauma   P 

Emergency department P  P 

Minor injuries service P P P 

Urgent medical admissions P  P 

Stroke service   P 

Cardiac angiography   P 

Diabetes service   P 

Outpatient Renal dialysis  P  

Oncology - chemotherapy P  P 

Oncology – radiotherapy   P 

Elective surgery – high risk/complex   P 

Elective surgery P   

Intensive care P  P 

Daycase surgery P P P 

Radiology diagnostics P P P 

Endoscopy  P P 

Outpatient appointments (all specialties) P P P 

Maternity services – ante-natal P  P 

Maternity services – delivery suite   P 

Neonatal ITU    

Paediatric emergency service and in-patients   P 

Paediatric clinics P  P 

Public health screening services, breast, 

AAA, bowel

P P P 

Page 47



24

Appendix 3 Bed Occupancy

The table below details the Trust’s actual average occupancy of the general bed base for the three years 

shown. This should be compared with an optimal occupancy rate of 85%,

Actual bed occupancy of general bed base by 

day

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Core bed occupancy (excluding surge capacity) 93.57% 97.27% 97.34%

Bed occupancy including surge capacity 93.90% 95.75% 96.08%

This high occupancy rate creates significant impact on available bed capacity in the hospital on a day-to-

day basis, creating delays in getting patients transferred from the Emergency Department once it is 

determined they require admission. 

Page 48



25

Appendix 4 Calculation of contribution requested for this proposed development

P
age 49



26

Explanatory note: Data used to calculate contribution

Clinical activity recording

All activity undertaken by the Trust is traceable to a patient through the patient’s address, NHS number and registered GP which are recorded each time a 

patient is treated. This data is anonymised, validated and submitted monthly to a national data warehouse so that it is available nationally and publicly. Note 

this activity count does not represent discrete patients, but the amount of activity undertaken.

Calculating the Trust’s claim

The data table above calculates the impact of the development on the Trust’s resources and mitigates this by creating a financial claim to meet additional 

costs. The table is colour-coded to support the reader’s understanding of the calculation.

Assumptions and explanations

The Trust’s calculation establishes the additional impact the new development will impose on the Trust’s resources. To start the calculation, the total 

population of the development is calculated by multiplying the number of dwellings by the average number of people expected to live in each house. The Trust 

uses an average number of people per household published by the local council to make this calculation, unless provided with a different average by the 

development’s builder.

However, the total impact of the development is abated to 44.1% of total cost pressure. This abatement recognises that, according to the Trust’s specialist 

planning advice, 55.8% of people moving into the development are new to the county (or, by leaving a void elsewhere, cause others to move into the county) 

P
age 50



27

and therefore are not included in the funding allocation with which the county’s clinical commissioning groups buy the Trust’s services. In this way, the 

calculation avoids double counting the impact from existing county residents’ demands already anticipated in the Trust’s annual plans.

The calculation’s steps

Column 1 (light yellow) shows the different types of activity undertaken by the Trust. Column 2 (purple) provides the Trust’s total activity in a 12 month period 

and column 3 is a percentage rate of provision for the county's population. 

The first blue column (column 4) shows the amount of activity undertaken by the Trust that originated from the LSOA/ward in which the new development is 

being constructed. Column 5 shows the percentage rate of provision for that LSOA. All of this data is derived from the Trust’s records of patients seen over the 

12 month period used for the calculation.

Each activity undertaken by the Trust has a nationally determined cost associated with it. These costs are an average cost of activity across the NHS and are 

known as ‘NHS reference costs’. They are published annually. The Trust uses this average figure for each activity type to calculate the financial impact of 

caring for new people housed in the development. The reference costs can be found in the first orange column (column 6), entitled “Delivery cost per activity”.

The additional activity anticipated as a result of the new population (column 7) is derived from a multiplication of the development’s new population by the 

historical percentage rate of provision for that LSOA (column 5).

P
age 51



28

The additional impact that will result from the new population (column 8) is a product of multiplying the delivery cost (column 6) by the additional activity 

(column 7).

However, over and above the reference cost of delivery, due to long-standing, national, workforce shortages, the Trust will face additional cost pressure from 

employing premium rate staff to meet the additional demand. The cost of this is shown in column 9, “Premium staffing”. This has been calculated by dividing 

Staff Pay - Premium by the sum of Staff Pay - Substantive and Staff Pay - Premium and multiplying by 100. Thus, to demonstrate total impact, columns 8 and 

9 have been added together to show the cost pressure created by the new population for each type of activity (column 10). P
age 52



 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS 
 
1. Defining Reserved Matters 

 
No development shall take place within each individual phase of the development hereby 
approved, until detailed plans showing the layout, scale and external appearance of the 
building(s) and landscaping (hereinafter referred to as "the reserved matters") have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase.  The 
development shall be carried out as approved. 
 
Reason: As required by Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 

2. Approved plans and drawings 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans and drawings unless otherwise required by conditions attached to this 
planning permission: 
 
• Site Boundary Plan (dwg 00454_PP_01_P02) 
 
Access Plans:  
 
• Plan - Access - SW3 A38 (dwg 23406-025-103 rev E)  
• Plan - Access - SW4 Norton Gateway (dwg 23406-025-104 rev F)  
• Plan - Access - SW5  Employment Access (dwg 23406-025-105 rev E)  
• Plan - Access - SW6 A38 West (dwg 23406-025-106 rev D)  
• Plan - Access - SW7  Broomhall (south) (dwg 23406-025-107 rev E) 
• Plan - Access - SW10 A38-Taylors Lane (dwg 23406-025-110 rev D) 
• Plan - Access - SW11 A38 Employment (dwg 23406-025-111 rev B)  
• Plan - Access - SW12 A38-Broomhall Lane (dwg 23406-025-112 rev C)  
• Plan - Access - SW13 Norton Road - Crookbarrow Road (dwg 23406-025-113 rev A)  
• Plan - Access - SW15 Taylors Lane (west) (dwg 23406-025-115 rev D) 
• Plan - Access - SW16 Taylors Lane (central west) (dwg 23406-025-116 rev C) 
• Plan - Access - SW17 Taylors Lane (central east) (dwg 23406-025-117 rev A) 
• Plan - Access - SW18 Taylors Lane (east) (dwg 23406-025-118 rev B) 
• Plan - Access - SW19  Broomhall (north) (dwg 23406-025-119 rev A) 
 
• Storey Heights Plan (drwg 00454  PP-04 rev P04) 
• Storey Heights Plan (dwg 00454_PP_04a_P05)  
• Access and Movement Plan (dwg 00454_PP_05_P02)  
• Open Space Provision Plan (dwg 00454_PP_06_P04)  
• Building Demolition Plan (dwg  00454_PP_07_P01) 
• Land Use Plan (dwg 00454_PP_02_P01) 
• Residential Density Plan (dwg 00454_PP_03_P01) 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans and principles and parameters contained within the submitted documents 
upon which this decision is based. 
 
 

3. Principles and Parameters 
 
All future applications for the approval of reserved matters shall be broadly in accordance 
with:  

Page 53 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



 
I. the principles and parameters described and illustrated in the updated Design & 

Access Statement dated May 2013; 
II. the principles and parameters described and illustrated in the Green Infrastructure 

Statement dated May 2013  
 
All reserved matters applications shall include a statement providing an explanation as to how 
the design of the development responds to the details submitted as part of the outline 
planning application. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with safe access and meets the design 
quality and environmental requirements of the Development Plan in accordance with Policies 
SWDP 4 and 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

4. Time for implementation 
 
Application for the approval of the reserved matters for the first phase as identified by the 
phasing plan as approved under Condition 6 shall be made to the Local Planning Authority 
before the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission.  The development 
of the first phase shall be begun not later than the expiration of 2 years from the final 
approval of the reserved matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final 
approval of the last such matter to be approved.   
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 
 

5. Time for implementation 
 
Application for the approval of reserved matters for the subsequent phases of development as 
identified by the phasing plan as approved under Condition 6 shall be made to the local 
planning authority before the expiration of 15 years from the date of this outline planning 
permission.  The development of the subsequent phases shall be begun no later than the 
expiration of 3 years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the case of 
approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be approved.  
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and allow sufficient time to submit reserved matters applications for all aspects of the 
development including employment uses and the local centre. 
 
 

6. Phasing Plan 
 
As part of the submission of the Reserved Matters for the first phase of development a 
Phasing Plan for the whole development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.   
 
The phasing plan shall include details of the intended number of dwellings for each phase of 
development together with general locations and phasing of key infrastructure, including road 
improvements, the spine-road connecting Norton Road to the A38, foul and surface water 
drainage (including SuDS and the surface water by-pass feature), green infrastructure 
including strategic advance landscaping, biodiversity enhancements, community facilities, 
play areas (LEAPS X9 and NEAPS X2), access for pedestrians, cyclists, buses and people in 
vehicles and public open space, sport and recreations facilities including built facilities. 
 
The phasing plan shall be broadly in accordance with the Illustrative Master Plan (Drawing 

Page 54



No.000454_MP_01 Rev P01) and the phasing arrangements contained within the 
Implementation section of the Design & Access Statement dated May 2013, except where 
other planning conditions specifically require otherwise.   
 
Nothing in the Phasing Plan shall conflict with any of the conditions attached to this planning 
permission or any of the provisions within the associated s106 legal agreement. The 
applications for approval of reserved matters shall be made for each phase in accordance 
with the Phasing Plan and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Phasing Plan. Any variations to the Phasing Plan must first be approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and submitted as part of any subsequent application for 
Reserved Matters approval that requires an amendment to the Phasing Plan. 
 
Reason: To ensure the appropriately timed delivery of infrastructure, facilities and services 
and to protect the amenity of the area in accordance with Policies SWDP 4, 7, 21, 28, 29, 
31and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

7. Spine road 
 
No more than 833 of the dwellings approved by this outline planning permission, shall be first 
occupied until the construction of the central spine road to link Norton Road to the A38 has 
been completed in accordance with a specification that has previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority and is open to vehicular traffic and use by 
the public. 
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate capacity is available on the existing highway network and a 
suitable means of vehicle and pedestrian access is available to the occupiers of the 
dwellings, in accordance with Policy SWDP4 and 7 of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 
 
 

8. EIA 
 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the mitigation 
measures set out in the Environmental Statement submitted in support of the outline planning 
application, unless otherwise required by conditions forming part of this outline planning 
permission. 
 
Reason: To ensure the environmental impact of the development is appropriately mitigated in 
accordance with the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2011 as amended (ES 
submitted before 16 May 2017) and policies SWDP 21, 22, 24, 25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 
and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

9. Design Principles (Codes) 
 
No development shall commence until a document setting out the design principles (hereafter 
referred to as ‘Design Principles’) for the whole development hereby approved have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
The Design Principles shall set out how the principles and objectives of the Design and 
Access Statement will be met and shall broadly accord with the Illustrative Master Plan 
(Drawing No.000454_MP_01 Rev P01), the phasing arrangements contained within the 
Implementation section of the Design & Access Statement dated May 2013, and the Phasing 
Plan submitted and approved in respect of condition 6 above.  
 
The Design Principles shall include the following matters: 

Page 55



 
(i) The principles for determining the design, form, heights and general arrangement of 

external architectural features of buildings including the roofs, chimneys, porches and 
fenestration; 

(ii) The principles of the hierarchy for roads and public spaces; 
(iii) The principles for determining the colour, texture and quality of external materials and 

facings for the walls and roofing of buildings and structures;  
(iv) The principles for the design of the public realm to include the colour, texture and 

quality of surfacing of footpaths, cycleways, streets, parking areas, courtyards and 
other shared surfaces;  

(v) The principles for the design and layout of street furniture (including litter bins and grit 
bins) and level of external illumination; 

(vi) The principles for the laying out of the green infrastructure including the access, 
location and general arrangements of the multi-use games area, the children’s play 
areas and allotments; 

(vii)  The principles for the incorporation of renewable or low carbon energy sources as an 
integral part of the development based on the Energy Strategy dated April 2013; and 

(viii) The principles to ensure that there is appropriate access to buildings and public 
spaces for the disabled and physically impaired. 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Design Principles. The 
submission of subsequent applications for Reserved Matters approval shall include a 
statement outlining how the development proposed in that application accords with the 
Design Principles. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with safe access and meets the design 
quality and environmental requirements of the Development Plan in accordance with Policies 
SWDP 4, 21 and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

10. Layout 
 
The details to be submitted for the reserved matter "layout" for each individual phase of the 
development shall include as appropriate to that phase: 
 

a) plans identifying the layout of the development 
b) a plan identifying the location of the affordable housing to be provided together with 

details of the size and type of tenure 
c) the positions, height, design and materials of new boundary treatments 
d) the proposed facilities for the storage of refuse and recycling. 
e) the location and specification of the Locally Equipped Areas for Play (LEAP) and 

Local Areas for Play (LAP) 
f) A Building for Life 12 (or any future design quality guidance that replaces Building for 

Life 12) preliminary assessment of the proposed layout. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the satisfactory development of the site, in accordance Policies SWDP 4, 
5, 6, 7, 13, 15, 21, 25, 29, 39 and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

11. External materials 
 
Prior to the commencement of any development within any individual phase, details shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, pursuant to condition 
no.1 above relating to "external appearance" for that phase of the development to include 
samples of the materials proposed to be used for the external surfaces of the buildings. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 56



Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy 
SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

12. Landscaping 
 
The details to be submitted for the reserved matter "landscaping" for each individual phase of 
the development shall be broadly in accordance with the principles of the Design and Access 
Statement (May 2013) and the Green Infrastructure Statement (May 2013). The landscaping 
scheme shall include details of the following: 
  
• details of all existing trees and hedgerows on site to be retained (including details of 

location, canopy spread, species and proposed pruning/ felling and changes in ground 
levels); 

• a plan showing the layout of proposed tree, hedge, shrub planting as well as grassed 
areas; 

• a proposed planting schedule including details detailing the disposition of planting, 
cross referenced to a schedule listing the species, size and number and densities; 

• a written specification setting out cultivation and other operations associated with tree, 
plant and grass establishment. All planting and seeding/ turfing shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details in the first planting and seeding/ turfing seasons 
following the completion or first occupation of the development, whichever is the 
sooner; 

• where existing hedgerow(s) are to be removed, a scheme for the re-establishment of 
hedgerows set behind the required visibility splays either side of vehicular access 
points; and 

• details of all proposed hard landscaping features.  
 
If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree or shrub planted 
pursuant to this condition that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it 
is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning 
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written approval to any variation. 
 
Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the application site, ensure a high quality 
of external environment and reinforce local landscape character in accordance with Policy 
SWDP 25 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

13. Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity Maintenance, Management and Monitoring 
 
A Green Infrastructure (GI) and Biodiversity management and maintenance plan for each 
phase, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all Green Infrastructure, SuDS and Biodiversity areas, other than privately 
owned domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the occupation of any dwelling or employment building hereby approved 
within each phase. The maintenance and management plan shall make provision for 
monitoring of the performance of the GI, SuDS and Biodiversity features for a period of at 
least 10 years post their construction. The management and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented and the maintenance schedules adhered to as approved for the lifetime of the 
development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is properly drained, avoiding flood risk and pollution 
in accordance with Policies SWDP 7, 28, 29 and 31 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and in the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with 
Policies SWDP 5, 21, 22, 25 and 29 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 

Page 57



 
 
 

14. Arboricultural Method Statement 
 
The details to be submitted pursuant to condition no.1 above in relation to "landscaping" for 
each individual phase of the development shall include an Arboricultural Method Statement 
(including a compliance schedule showing how it meets the principles of the Environmental 
Statement)  
 
No development shall commence within each individual phase until an Arboricultural Method 
Statement for that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority  
 
Reason – To ensure adequate protection of trees and hedgerows being retained as part of 
the development, in accordance with Policies 21, 22, 25 and 45/1of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan. 
 
 

15. Retention of existing trees and hedgerows 
 
With the exception of any hedgerow that would be required to be removed to provide the 
required visibility splays and the approved access points, no other existing trees or 
hedgerows shall be destroyed or removed from the site, unless previously approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority as part of any landscaping scheme approved as part of any 
reserved matters application or separate application for full planning permission.  
 
Reason: To ensure the environment of the development is protected in accordance with 
Policies SWDP 22 and 25 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

16. Tree protection 
 
No site clearance, excavations or building operations of any type shall commence until a 
protective fence (of at least 2 metres in height and in all other respects in accordance with 
BS: 5837 (2012) Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction and previously 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority), has been erected around the trees and 
hedgerows to be retained within the site and around those trees and hedges outside the site 
or along the site boundaries, whose Root Protection Areas (RPA) (as defined in BS 5837 
(2012)) fall within the site, at the outer limit (or beyond) of the their RPA or in a position 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This tree protective fencing shall remain in 
place until all construction and associated ground-works have been completed.  
 
If any retained tree or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, replacement planting 
shall be carried out in the first available planting season of such species, sizes and numbers 
and in positions on site to replace that which has been lost. 
 
Reason: To avoid unnecessary damage to and secure the well-being of the trees and hedges 
to be retained in accordance with Policies 21, 22 and 25 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan. 
 
 

17. Materials storage 
 
No materials shall be stored, temporary buildings erected or ground levels altered within the 
Root Protection Area (RPA) (as defined in BS 5837 (2012) Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction) of any tree retained on site or of any tree beyond the site 

Page 58



perimeter whose RPA lies within the site, unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: To prevent unnecessary damage to trees in accordance with Policies SWDP 21, 22 
and 25 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

18. Residential Development 
 
The development hereby approved shall not exceed 2,204 dwellings falling within Use Class 
C3. Of the 2,204 dwellings, no more than 85 dwellings shall be located east of Norton Road 
and no more than 40 of these 85 dwellings shall be located within the Significant Gap as 
shown on Diagram 1 – SWDP 45/1 (page 223) of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 
 
Reason: To define the permission and ensure that the development does not exceed the level 
of development subject to transportation modelling, to ensure that the development does not 
have a severe residual impact of the local highway network, in accordance with Policies 
SWDP 4, 7 and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

19. Local Centre retail floorspace 
 
The Local Centre (as approved as part of the Phasing Plan required to be submitted and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority by condition 6 above) shall include no 
more than 2,500 square metres (net) of retail floorspace and no single convenience store 
shall exceed 2,000 square metres (net).  
 
Reason – To prevent adverse consequential impact on the retail function of the existing city of 
Worcester and existing town and district centres in accordance with Policies SWDP10 and 
45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

20. Employment Land and other non-residential Uses 
 

• Employment related development in the area annotated as E1 on EIA Parameter Plan: 
Land Use Plan (fig 5.4) and drwg. no. 00454-PP-02-P01 shall not exceed 32,150 sqm. 
and be limited to uses falling within: 

 
Use Class E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes and E(g)(iii) 
Industrial processes and uses within Class B2 and Class B8 of the Schedule to the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order (as amended). The Office uses shall 
only be located within the limits of the Local Centre area as defined by the Phasing 
Plan to be approved under condition 6 above and within that area shall be limited to no 
more than 2,027 sqm. 

 
• Employment related development in the area annotated as E2 on EIA Parameter Plan: 

Land Use Plan (fig 5.4) and drwg. no. 00454-PP-02-P01 shall not exceed 7,050 sqm. 
and be limited to uses falling within: 

 
Use Class E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes; and/or  
Use Class E(g)(iii) Industrial processes and uses within Class B2 and Class B8 of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order (as amended). If an 
hotel falling within Use Class C1 is constructed in the area annotated as E2, the 
amount of Class B2 and Class B8 uses and Use Class E(g)(ii) and (iii) uses in this area 
shall not exceed 4,250 sq.m. 

Page 59



 
• Within the areas annotated as E1 and E2 on EIA Parameter Plan: Land Use Plan (fig 

5.4) and drwg. no. 00454-PP-02-P01 the individual uses shall not exceed the following:  
 
     Class E(g)(ii) and (iii) 45%, Class B2 35% and Class B8 20% of the land area.  
 
• The Health Centre (Class E(e)) including GP Surgery and pharmacy, hereby approved, 

shall not exceed 1,380sq.m. 
 
• The development hereby approved shall not exceed 60 bedrooms of Class C2 

Residential Institution (Care Home) and 40 bedrooms of Class C3 Extra Care 
Residential uses and these uses together shall not exceed 6,595 sqm.  

 
• Notwithstanding the thresholds on retail floorspace as set out in Condition 19 above, 

retail uses, financial and professional services, café or restaurants within Use Class E 
and Drinking Establishments and Hot Food Takeaways, located within the Local Centre 
to be defined by the Phasing Plan to be approved under condition no.6) shall not 
exceed 1,145 sqm.   

 
• The development hereby approved shall not exceed 930sqm. of Pub or Drinking 

Establishment uses.  
 
• The development hereby approved shall not exceed of 2,800 sqm. (80 bedrooms) of 

Class C1 Hotel use.  
 
Notwithstanding the details shown on the Land Use Parameter Plan dwg. 00454 PP_02 rev 
P01, the area M4 shall not include any retail uses, financial and professional services, café, 
restaurants or other uses within Use Class E, or as a pub or drinking establishment and shall 
instead only be brought forward for Use Class C3 housing. 
 
The development shall be carried out so as to comply with the above limitations and the use 
of any building shall not change, notwithstanding the permitted changes of use allowed by the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1995 (as amended), or The Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) or 
any other provision equivalent to that Class in any Statutory Instrument revoking and/or re-
enacting that Order with or without modification.  
 
Reason: To define the permission and ensure that the development is consistent with the 
submitted Environmental Statement and transportation modelling carried out as part of the 
technical assessment of the planning application. Other uses within these Use Classes may 
not be acceptable in this edge of City location and may conflict with the sustainability 
objectives that form part of the strategy to the South Worcestershire Development Plan and 
policies SWDP 8, 10 and 45/1 as well as the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

21. Site wide drainage scheme – surface water and foul 
 
No development shall take place until a phased drainage scheme incorporating sustainable 
drainage principles (features to include balancing ponds and swales) and an assessment of 
the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development in relation to the disposal of 
surface water and foul sewage has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  
 
The scheme shall include a detailed design for the by-pass feature (off-take weir, pipeline 
including tumbling bay structures and outlet) to take excess flows from the Broomhall Brook 
directly to the River Severn. The detailed design shall be informed by the following General 

Page 60



Arrangement drawings included within the submitted Environmental Statement: 
 

• Plan of Route 23406/116/001 rev B 
• 1:500 Pipe Gradient 23406/116/002 rev A 
• Inlet Structure 23406/116/003 rev A 
• Outlet & Tumbling Bay Structures 23406/116/004 rev B 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the 
approved scheme shall be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason – To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, in 
accordance with Policies SWDP 28, 29, 30 and 31 of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 
 
 

22. Drainage scheme for individual phases including SuDS 
 
No development within each individual phase of the development shall commence until the 
following information has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
 

a) details of the range of SuDs components to be used at source, site and regional control 
levels for that phase of development. These should be used comprehensively and 
appropriately in accordance with best practice as laid out in the CIRIA Guidance 
manuals and any adopted National and Local SuDS Standards, with consideration 
given in the first instance to utilising water management through soft features and at 
ground level; 

b) methods for the protection of SuDS and Green Infrastructure during each individual 
phase of construction to ensure that ‘soft SuDS’ are adequately established prior to 
bringing them into beneficial use. 

c) phasing arrangements to ensure that flows along the Broomhall Brook do not increase 
until the by-pass feature that will take excess flows from Broomhall Brook to the River 
Severn is completed and fully operational. 

d) A public safety assessment particularly in relation to children. 
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and the 
drainage infrastructure completed before any residential, commercial or other built 
development within the respective phase is first occupied.  
 
Reason - To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage 
as well as to reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to minimise 
the risk of pollution in accordance with Policies 28, 29, 30 and 31 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan. The safety assessment should be carried out by an organisation such as 
ROSPA. 
 
 

23. Drainage – protection of easements 
 
No buildings or other obstructions shall be located and no trees or larger shrubs with deep 
roots shall be planted within the easements shown on the General Arrangement drawings 
listed in Condition 21 and any foundations shall be designed not to impose loadings on the 
by-pass feature. 
 
Reason - To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage 
as well as to reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to minimise 
the risk of pollution in accordance with Policies 28, 29 30 and 31 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan. 

Page 61



 
 

24. Drainage – maintenance and management 
 
No development shall be first occupied until a maintenance and management plan for the 
drainage scheme in relation to the disposal of surface water, to include all SuDS features and 
the by-pass feature to take excess flows from the Broomhall Brook directly to the River 
Severn, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The maintenance and management plan shall include:- 
 

a) details of the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and/or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime. 

b) details of measures to ensure public safety around the inlet and outlet to the by-pass 
pipeline and minimise the opportunity for unauthorised entry and vandalism to affect 
the performance of the scheme. 

c) details of the arrangements for access in perpetuity to and along the by-pass feature 
for its entire length from the inlet at Broomhall Brook to the outlet to the River Severn 
for vehicles and pedestrians. 

 
The drainage scheme shall be implemented on a phased basis in accordance with the 
drainage strategy approved under Condition 21 before each phase of the development is first 
brought into use and thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
maintenance and management plan throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason - To ensure that the approved drainage scheme once implemented is appropriately 
managed and maintained and sustainable for the lifetime of the development to reduce the 
risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and to minimise the risk of pollution in 
accordance with Policies 28, 29 30 and 31 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

25. Drainage Scheme – surfacing  
 
Each application for reserved matters approval pursuant to this outline planning permission 
and relating to "layout", shall include for the written approval by the local planning authority 
details of proposed surfacing materials relating to surface water drainage including: 
 

i) a plan showing proposed layout and types of surfacing, including permeable paving in 
appropriate locations; 

ii) a written specification of proposed surfacing materials and the proposed method of 
construction and maintenance; 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason - To ensure the satisfactory development of the site and to ensure the provision of an 
adequate and sustainable drainage system in accordance with Policies 28, 29 30 and 31 of 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

26. Surface Water Bypass Feature 
 
The bypass feature hereby approved forming part of the drainage scheme for the 
development shall be contained within public open space and/or the public highway and shall 
not be within any privately-owned land such as the curtilage of any privately-owned building, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Page 62



Reason – To ensure that satisfactory access arrangements can be maintained should it be 
necessary in the future to excavate to expose, examine and/or repair the pipeline, in 
accordance with Policies 28, 29 30 and 31 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

27. Levels 
 
No development shall take place within each individual phase of the development until the 
following details for that phase have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority 
 

i. a detailed plan showing the levels of the existing site and the immediately adjoining 
phases, the proposed Finished Floor Levels of any proposed building(s), the 
surrounding land levels and a datum point outside of the site; and 

ii. a construction method statement for any ground works and changes of levels/ 
construction of all ground retaining features in the vicinity of retained trees and 
hedgerows 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
  
Reason: To define the permission and ensure that the development is of a scale and height 
appropriate to the site and surrounding area in accordance with Policies 21 and 25 of the 
South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

28. Means of access 
 
No development shall take place within each individual phase of the development until the 
details of the means of access for that phase have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. No part of the phase of the development shall be first occupied until the 
approved means of access to it has been substantially completed. 
 
The means of access for each individual phase of the development shall be designed to be 
broadly in accordance with the access principles identified in the Design and Access 
Statement dated May 2013 and the General Arrangements Plan drwg.ref.23406/025/100 Rev 
L unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
Reason – To ensure an adequate and acceptable means of vehicle and pedestrian access is 
available before the buildings are first occupied in accordance with Policy SWDP4 of the 
South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

29. Cycle Parking 
 
No development within each individual phase of the development shall be first occupied until 
a scheme for the provision of secure cycle parking for use by occupiers of any buildings 
within that phase, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, 
implemented prior to the first occupation of each building and retained thereafter.  
 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision of cycle parking is provided and to help encourage 
sustainable modes of travel, in accordance with Policies SWDP 4, 7, and 45/1 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

30. Roads, cycleway, footpath and driveways/ parking areas specification  

Page 63



 
No buildings within each individual phase of the development shall be first occupied until: 
 

a) the engineering details and specification of the proposed roads, cycle ways, 
footways, footpaths and highway drains within that phase; and 

b) details of the turning areas, driveways and parking areas/ parking spaces have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and the 
approved details have been implemented to at least base-course level.  

 
Reason – To ensure an adequate and acceptable means of vehicle and pedestrian access is 
available before the buildings are first occupied and to ensure appropriate parking is provided 
in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy SWDP4 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

31. Travel Plan – non-residential 
 
Non-residential buildings within each individual phase of the development hereby approved 
shall not be first occupied until a travel plan, including targets for modal shift, for that occupier 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Such Travel 
Plans will only be required to be submitted for individual units/buildings within which the 
floorspace thresholds set in Appendix B of the Department of Transport Guidance for 
Transport Assessments (2007) (or as subsequently modified or replaced by locally adopted 
thresholds) are exceeded.  The employment travel plans shall contain targets for mode share 
shifts to reduce car travel and increase travel by more sustainable transport modes as well as 
a management structure, set of measures and a monitoring regime tracking the outcome of 
the Plan against its targets. Such targets must be achieved within 5 years of the first 
occupation of the building to which it relates. If the targets have not been met at the end of 
the 5 year period, a revised employment travel plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority within 6 months, to address any shortfalls, and where 
necessary make provision for and promote improved sustainable forms of access to the site. 
The employment travel plan (as amended or supplemented) shall thereafter be implemented 
as approved.  
 
Reason - To ensure all reasonable steps have been put in place to promote sustainable travel 
to/from the site and reduce the number of single occupancy vehicle trips from the 
development to enable the M5 motorway to continue to be an effective part of the national 
system of routes for through traffic, in accordance with Section 10 (2) of the Highways Act 
and Policy SWDP4 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

32. Completion of Roads 
 
All roadworks and pavements within each individual phase shall be completed up to final 
wearing course for that phase within a period of five years from the commencement of 
development of the phase or an alternative period that has previously been agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority or within six calendar months of the substantial completion of 
75% of the buildings within the respective phase hereby approved, whichever is the sooner. 
This will entail the making good of surfacing, grass areas and landscaping in accordance with 
a specification to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason – In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the free flow of traffic using the 
adjoining highway and to ensure adequate and appropriate parking is provided, in 
accordance with Policies SWDP4, 7, 21 and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 
 
 

Page 64



33. Noise survey and mitigation 
 
Prior to the commencement of development in any individual phase containing residential 
development, a noise survey in relation to the proposed residential buildings in that phase 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The survey shall have been undertaken by a competent person, shall include periods for 
daytime as 07:00-23:00 hours and night-time as 23:00-07:00 hours, and where required 
identify appropriate noise mitigation measures. All residential units shall thereafter be 
designed to achieve as far as practicable the noise criteria based on current figures by the 
World Health Authority Community Noise Guideline Values/BS:8233 conditions given below: 
 

•   Dwellings indoors in daytime: 35 dB LAeq,16 hours  
•   Outdoor living area in day time: 55 dB LAeq,16 hours  
•   Inside bedrooms at night-time: 30 dB LAeq,8 hours (45 dB LAmax) 
•   Outside bedrooms at night-time: 45 dB LAeq,8 hours (60 dB LAmax)   

 
Such detail and appropriate consequential noise mitigation measures as shall have been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be implemented prior to first 
occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved and shall be retained as approved 
thereafter.         
 
Reason: To ensure that the development hereby permitted is not detrimental to the amenity of 
the future residents because of undue external noise, in accordance with Policy SWDP31 of 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

34. Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) 
 
No development within any individual phase shall begin until a Construction Environment 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include the following details:- 
 

a.    details to minimise the impact of noise, vibration and dust etc. from construction, 
demolition and site clearance activities and the traffic associated with this 
development, including a scheme for wheel cleaning;  

b.    details of site operative parking areas, material storage areas and the location of site 
operative facilities (offices, toilets etc);  

c.    restrictions on burning;  
d.    details in relation to the prevention of pollution of waterways;  
e.    construction exclusion zones to prevent soil compaction in large scale planting areas, 

playing fields/ areas, allotments/ orchards and remediation proposals for any soil 
compaction which does occur; 

f.     a strategy for the handling and storage of topsoil; 
g.    ecological mitigation measures (including updated protected species surveys) and 
h.    a management strategy and proposals for the minimisation of construction waste. 

 
The CEMP should generally comply with the requirements of Worcestershire Regulatory 
Services Code of Best Practice for Demolition and Construction Sites 1st Edition July 2011. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CEMP. 
 
Reason: To protect existing and new occupiers of residential areas from the unreasonable 
effects of noise, vibration, light and dust nuisance and to avoid and mitigate for any potential 
impact on protected species in accordance with Policies SWDP21 and 22 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 

Page 65



 
35. Construction traffic routing 

 
All construction related traffic to and from the site shall be routed via the junction of Norton 
Road and the A4440 Broomhall Way to the North-East of the site and/or the A38 Bath Road. 
Construction related traffic shall not be routed via the junction of Taylors Lane and the A38 
Bath Road, Broomhall Lane, Church Lane in Norton or Bookend Lane in Kempsey, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. A phased scheme of temporary 
signage to inform drivers of construction related vehicles, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme of signage shall be 
implemented and retained for the duration of the construction of the development in 
accordance with the details so approved.   
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to minimise risk to pedestrians, in accordance 
with Policy SWDP4 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

36. Timing of hedgerow removal 
 
Any section of existing hedgerow required to be removed to facilitate the new accesses shall 
not be removed between March and August inclusive unless preceded by a thorough survey 
for nesting birds undertaken by an appropriately qualified ecologist. If required to carried out 
to comply with this condition, a report of the survey and recommendations prepared by that 
ecologist shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
any relevant phase of the development commences. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the wild birds are suitably protected, having regard to the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (As amended) and to accord with Policy SWDP 22 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

37. Construction working hours 
 
Demolition/ground works/construction works/ deliveries and collections during the 
construction phase of the development, shall not take place outside the following hours:  
 

 Monday to Friday 07.30 – 18.00hrs  

 Saturday 08.00-13.00hrs  

 There shall be no work on Sundays or Public Holidays 
 
Reason: Reason: To protect the residential amenities of existing and new occupiers of 
residential areas in accordance with Policy SWDP 21 and 31 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and in accordance with Section 60 and 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 
1974. 
 
 

38. Biodiversity 
 
Prior to the commencement of development within any individual phase of the development 
hereby approved, a specification (including methodology and programme of implementation) 
for the enhancement of biodiversity (as recommended in the submitted Environmental 
Statement and addendum in respect of ecology and biodiversity) through the provision of 
features including bat and bird boxes and holes at ground level in boundary walls and fences 
for hedgehogs to pass through, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority for that phase. The works so approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved programme of implementation and be retained thereafter for the lifetime of 
the development. For each phase of development identified on the Phasing Plan submitted to 

Page 66



and approved in writing by the local planning authority in respect of condition no.6 above, 
within three months of the first occupation of the last building to be constructed within each 
phase, pursuant to reserved matters approval relating to layout, the development shall be 
inspected by a qualified ecologist and a statement of conformity shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority to confirm whether all of the measures for enhancing biodiversity 
have been implemented in accordance with the details approved under this condition.  
 
Reason: To enhance biodiversity on accordance with Policy SWDP 22 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

39. Lighting scheme 
 
No development shall commence within an individual Phase until an external lighting scheme 
for the respective Phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development of each Phase shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details for that Phase. 
 
The submitted scheme shall include:- 
 

• details of the design, appearance and location of proposed lights 
• proposed illumination levels 
• identification of dark zones 
• measures to show how lighting is to be restricted around the boundary edges, 

particularly along hedgerows, where protected species are likely to be found, and to 
be kept to a minimum at night across the whole site to minimise impact on emerging 
and foraging bats and other nocturnal wildlife.   

  
Reason: To control light pollution and to protect the amenities of the local area in accordance 
with the Environmental Statement. ES appendix 5.2 Fig 9.6 refers. To protect the potential 
habitat and foraging routes of bats which are protected under the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities (NERC) Act, 2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations, 2010, The Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981(as amended), The Countryside 
and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act, 2000, Habitats Directive and in accordance with Policies 
SWDP 21, 22 and 31 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan.  
 
 

40. Survey of POS land 
 
No development shall take place until:- 
 

a) a detailed assessment of ground conditions of the land proposed for the new 
playing field(s) has been undertaken (including drainage and topography) to 
identify constraints which could affect its suitability for such public use; and 

b) a detailed scheme to ensure that the playing fields will be provided to an 
acceptable quality (including appropriate drainage where necessary and levels) 
based on the results of the assessment to be carried out pursuant to (a) above, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of playing fields within the development and to 
inform the Phasing Plan required by condition 6, in accordance with Policies SWDP 5, 7, 21, 
39 and 45/1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

41. Site investigation 

Page 67



 
No development within each individual phase of the development shall commence until the 
following measures to investigate site contamination and monitor surface water within that 
phase during construction and for a period of 12 months post construction, have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
information shall be in accordance with BS10175 and BS:5930 (or as amended). The stages 
comprise:  
 

a) a desk study including a walkover, identification of all potential sources of 
contamination and an initial conceptual model;  

b) a desk study to identify any private domestic water boreholes; 
c) an intrusive site investigation using a refined conceptual model and appropriate 

laboratory accreditation in the event that potential contamination is found; and  
d) a remediation scheme in the event that levels of unacceptable contamination are 

identified. 
 
Reason: To ensure safe occupation and use of the site and to prevent pollution of the 
environment, in accordance with Policy SWDP 31 of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 
 
 

42. Remediation strategy 
 
No development shall commence within each individual phase of the development until a 
remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the risks associated 
with the contamination within that phase has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority: 
 

i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
• All previous uses; 
• Potential contaminants associated with those uses; 
• A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; 
• Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 
 

ii) A site investigation scheme, based on (i) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 

 
iii) The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (ii) 

and, based on these; an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details 
of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local planning 
authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason – To protect controlled waters, in accordance with Policy SWDP 31 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

43. Remediation strategy 1 
 
No occupation of any individual phase shall take place until a verification report demonstrating 
completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the 
remediation has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the local planning authority. 
The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also 
include any plan (a "long-term monitoring and maintenance plan") for longer-term monitoring 
of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in 

Page 68



the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be implemented 
as approved. 
 
Reason – To protect controlled waters, in accordance with Policy 31 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

44. Remediation strategy 2 
 
If, during development within each individual phase, contamination not previously identified is 
found to be present then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority) shall be carried out within that phase until a remediation strategy has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority The development 
shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason – To protect controlled waters, in accordance with Policy SWDP 31 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

45. Archaeology 
 
No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work for each phase, 
including a Written Scheme of Investigation, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include: 
 

a) the programme and methodology of site investigation and recording 
b) the programme for post investigation assessment 
c) provision to be made for the analysis of the site investigation and recording 
d) provision to be made for the publication and dissemination of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation 
e) provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the 

site investigation 
f) nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the 

works set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation  
 
No development on each phase shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 
Written Scheme of Investigation 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in accordance with the provisions of 
para 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework and in accordance with Policies SWDP 
6 and 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

46. Site investigation and post investigation assessment 
 
No occupation of each individual phase of the development shall take place until the site 
investigation and post investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Condition 44 and 
the provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results had been secured. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in accordance with the provisions of 
para 141 of the National Planning Policy Framework, in accordance with Policies SWDP 6 
and 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

47. Superfast Broadband 
 

Page 69



Prior to the construction of any individual phase of any of the dwellings or employment related 
buildings hereby approved, details of proposed utilities connections to facilitate super-fast 
broadband connectivity including fibre optic cabling to the property where practicable shall be 
submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the new development includes broadband that allows residents and 
employers/employees to choose how they work, how they interact with services and facilities 
and to provide a greater opportunity for home working and a reduction in car-based 
commuting in accordance with Policy SWDP26 of the South Worcestershire Development 
Plan. 
 
 

48. Renewable Energy, Water Conservation and Recycling and Primary Non-sustainable 
Materials 
 
No development shall commence within any individual phase until the following details have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority for that phase:  
 

• details on how on-site micro–generation to meet at least 10% of the household/ 
premises predicted energy requirements from renewable or low carbon sources 
equivalent to at least 10% of predicted energy requirements; 

• details of measures to conserve and recycle water to be incorporated into the 
proposed development; 

• details of energy efficiency measures to be incorporated into the proposed 
development; 

• details of construction materials to be used in the proposed development with 
the aim of minimising the use of primary non-sustainable materials; and 

• Details of residential waste (for landfill) storage and the separation and storage 
of recyclable materials.  

 
If photovoltaic roof panels are proposed, a plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority showing the location of these on the roofs of the buildings. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained 
thereafter unless replaced with panels of the same or improved specification and 
performance.  
  
Reason: To reduce carbon emissions and secure sustainable energy solutions in accordance 
with Policy SWDP 27 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

49. Low Emission Boilers  
  
Details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to 
the first occupation of the development for the installation of Ultra Low NOx boilers with 
maximum NOx Emissions less than 40 mg/kWh. The details as approved shall be 
implemented prior to first occupation of the building to which they relate. The boilers shall be 
retained thereafter unless they need to be replaced in which case the replacement boiler 
shall be of the same specification or have a lower NOx emission output.   
  
Reason: To reduce pollution in accordance with Policy SWDP 31 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and in accordance with Paragraph 35 of the Framework. 
 
 

50. EV Charging 
 
Appropriate cabling and an outside electrical socket shall be supplied for each dwelling to 

Page 70



enable ease of installation of an electric vehicle charging point (houses with dedicated 
parking) and be operational before the respective dwelling is first occupied. For all 
developments with unallocated parking i.e. flats/apartments, sports facilities, community 
buildings, employment buildings and retail development, at least 2 EV charging points per 
building (as a minimum) shall be provided and be operational before the respective building is 
first occupied or otherwise first brought into use. Charging points must comply with BS:7671. 
The sockets shall comply with BS:1363 and shall be provided with a locking weatherproof 
cover if located externally to the building. The EV charging points required by this condition 
shall be retained for the lifetime of the development unless they need to be replaced in which 
case the replacement charging equipment shall be of the same specification or a higher 
specification in terms of charging performance.   
  
Reason: To reduce pollution in accordance with Policy SWDP 31 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and in accordance with Paragraph 35 of the Framework. 
 
 

51. BREEAM – non residential 
 
No development shall commence within any Phase containing non-residential development 
until details have been submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate how the non-residential building(s) will be constructed to achieve the BREEAM 
"excellent" standard, in respect of water usage and details for the storage of waste for landfill 
and the separation and storage of collectable recyclable materials. No development within 
the employment phase shall be occupied or otherwise first brought into use until the design 
features have been fully implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that water usage is effectively managed in accordance with Policies 
SWDP21 and Policy SWDP30 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

52. Fire Safety 
 
No development shall commence within any individual Phase until a scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the provision of fire 
hydrants (served by mains water supply) within each Phase. No development within each 
phase shall be occupied until the hydrant(s) serving the building or group of buildings to 
which they relate have been provided in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of fire safety in accordance with Policy SWDP21 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan. 
 
 

53. Safeguarding of land adjacent Oil Pipeline 
 
No development shall take place on land forming a corridor 5 metres either side of the GPSS 
Oil Pipeline running across land within the application site to the West of the A38 Bath Road. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the openness of the Oil Pipeline is maintained to allow for access, 
maintenance and surveys.  
 
 

 
 
 
NOTES TO APPLICANT 
 

Page 71



1. This decision notice should be read in conjunction with the terms of the S106 legal agreement of even 
date. You are advised to satisfy yourself that you have all of the relevant paperwork. 

 
2. With regard to condition 12 above, unauthorised removal of trees to be retained may be the subject of 

formal enforcement action and the unlawful removal of hedgerows may result in the Local Planning 
Authority commencing prosecution proceedings. 

 
3. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the need to keep the Highway free from any mud or other 

material emanating from the application site of any works pertaining thereto. 
  
 
4. Public rights of way cross the site of this permission. The permission does not authorise the stopping 

up or diversion of any right of way. Rights of way may be stopped up or diverted by Order under 
Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, provided that the Order is made before the 
development is carried out. If the right of way is obstructed before the Order is made, the Order 
cannot proceed until the obstruction is removed.  

 
5. If access to the site is via a public right of way and the applicant's attention is drawn to the restrictions 

imposed by Section 34 of The Road Traffic Act, 1988, regarding the driving of motor vehicles over 
public footpaths/bridleways. 

 
6. This permission does not authorise the laying of private apparatus within the confines of the public 

highway. The applicant should apply to the Worcestershire County Council’s Network Control 
Manager, County Hall, Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP (telephone 0845 607 2005), for consent 
under the New Roads and Streetworks Act 1991 to install private apparatus within the confines of the 
public highway. Precise details of all works within the public highway must be agreed on site with the 
Highway Authority. 

  
7.      This permission does not authorise the applicant to carry out works within the publicly maintained 

highway since such works can only be carried out by the County Council’s Approved Contractor 
following the issue of a license under Section 184 and 278 of the Highways Act, 1980. The applicant 
should contact Worcestershire County Council’s Highways Network Control Manager, County Hall, 
Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP (telephone 0845607 2005), regarding the issue of the 
necessary license authorising the access works to be carried out by the County Council’s Approved 
Contractor at the applicant’s expense. 

  
8.      No work on the site should be commenced until engineering details of the improvements to the Public 

Highway have been submitted to and approved by the Highway Authority and an agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 entered into. 

  
9.      If it is the Developer's intention to request the County Council, as Highway Authority, to adopt the 

proposed roadworks as maintainable at the public expense, then details of the layout and alignment, 
widths and levels of the proposed roadworks, which shall comply with any plans approved under this 
planning consent unless otherwise agreed in writing, together with all necessary drain-age 
arrangements and run off calculations shall be submitted to the County Council's Network Control 
Manager, Worcestershire County Council, County Hall, Spetchley Road, Worcester, WR5 2NP. No 
works on the site of the development shall be commenced until these details have been approved 
and an Agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act, 1980, has been entered into. 

  
10.    It is not known if the proposed roadworks can be satisfactorily drained to an adequate outfall. Unless 

adequate storm water disposal arrangements can be provided, the County Council, as Highway 
Authority, will be unable to adopt the proposed roadworks as public highways. The applicant is, 
therefore, advised to submit the Engineering details referred to in this conditional approval to the 
County Council's County Network Control Manager, Worcestershire County Council, County Hall, 
Spetchley Road, Worcester, WR5 2NP at an early date to enable surface water disposal 
arrangements to be assessed. 

  

Page 72



11.    This consent does not authorise the erection of temporary direction signs on the Public Highway. 
Should the applicant wish to direct traffic to the development site they should seek the consent of the 
Highways Authority.  All temporary directional sign proposals should be submitted to the Network 
Control Manager, Worcestershire County Council, County Hall, Spetchley Road, Worcester, WR5 
2NP. No signs should be erected without the consent of the Highway Authority. 

  
 
12.    Any alterations to existing, or provision of new, culverts or works in or on an Ordinary Watercourse 

will require Land Drainage Consent under Section 23; Land Drainage Act 1991 from SWLDP prior to 
any works commencing on site.  Such consents cannot be granted retrospectively and failure to 
comply may result in enforcement action being taken under the Act by the Lead Local Flood 
Authority.  

 
 
 
 
Reason for approval 
 
The development falls within Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended). The site is not located within any designated sensitive areas 
for these purposes. The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) and other supporting information is 
considered sufficient to properly understand the proposals and assess their likely environmental effects.  
 
The application has been considered against relevant National and Local planning policy and is considered 
to be broadly in accordance with the Framework (as amended) and the Development Plan.  
 
The proposal takes forward the SWDP strategic allocation SWDP 45/1 and therefore represents a 
significant contribution towards implementing the Plan. The proposals accord with the strategy and 
objectives of the SWDP. The proposals are subject to development viability considerations but are largely 
policy compliant and the obligations set out in the associated s106 legal agreement are considered to be 
lawful and accord with Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended).  
 
The various benefits of the development are not significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the adverse 
impacts and overall the proposals are considered to represent sustainable development. 
 
The local planning authority in reaching a decision to grant outline planning permission has taken into 
account all of the environmental information submitted with and in support of the application and all of the 
consultation responses and third-party comments received. Overall, it is not considered that there will be 
any significant adverse environmental effects that cannot be adequately mitigated. Where necessary 
adequate mitigation to avoid and reduce any adverse effects including but not limited to flood risk, land 
contamination, air quality, noise and vibration, ecology, landscape and visual effects, cultural heritage and 
transport impacts can be secured at this outline stage through the use of planning conditions and 
obligations contained within a s106 legal agreement.  Where further details of mitigation measures are 
required, these can be assessed and secured at reserved matters stage. 
 
These proposals have been subject to extensive pre-application public consultation carried out by the 
applicant as well as statutory and non-statutory consultation and neighbour notification. 
 
Outline planning permission is granted by Malvern Hills District Council under delegation arrangements 
agreed with Worcester City Council and Wychavon District Council. 
 
  
 
 
Note: - This permission refers only to that required under the Town and Country Planning Acts and does 
not include any consent or approval under any other enactment, byelaw, order or regulation. In particular 

Page 73



this permission is not a Building Regulation Approval. Advice should be sought from the South 
Worcestershire Building Control on 01684 862223 to ascertain if approval is required under the 
Building Regulations for the proposed development.  Failure to make a Building Regulations 
application, if required, prior to work commencing on site is an offence under Section 35 of the 
Building Act 1984 and may result in the authority taking further action.  
 

 

Page 74



 

S106 Heads of Terms 
 

 
The applicant to enter into a Section 106 Legal Agreement with Malvern Hills District Council, 
and where necessary Worcester City Council, Wychavon District Council and Worcestershire 
County Council to include the following:- 
 

 Transfer of land required to construct the primary school (with nursery provision) to 
the County Council and provision of access to this land/ the school.  

 

 A Community Use Agreement for the primary school 
 

 The financial contribution towards primary education to be required as follows:- 
 

 £6,173,972.53  

Payments to be structured in relation to dwelling occupations. 

 

 The financial contribution towards secondary education to be required as follows:- 
 

 2 or 3 bed houses £2,786/ 4 bed houses £4,179 and 2+ bed flats £1,115. No 

contribution for affordable housing or 1 bed houses/flats. 

Payments to be structured in relation to dwelling occupations. 

[Secondary education contributions to be used towards the enhancement and 

improvement of secondary education and/or a new secondary school] 

 

 financial contributions towards highways and sustainable transport measures as set 
out below for ease of reference. 

 
Payments to be structured in relation to dwelling occupations. 

 

 affordable housing at 20% for the whole development. with the following requirements 
for housing tenure and mix: 
 

• 70% Social Rent/ Affordable Rent 

• 30% Shared Ownership (with a minimum 50% initial share) 
 

• Affordable housing mix to be agreed by the LPA for each phase/ Reserved Matters 
application for residential development. 

 

 the phased delivery of affordable housing in relation to delivery of open market 
housing. 

 

 The allocation of affordable housing to be in accordance with a site specific Lettings 
Policy/ South Worcestershire Housing Accord (to be appended to the legal 
agreement). 

 

Page 75 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



 

 Financial contribution towards a Gypsy and Traveller site of £975,130.00 
 

 The General Market Housing to be provided in accordance with a market housing mix 
plan for the whole site, as follows (subject to any amendment to the market housing 
mix as may be from time to time agreed with the council):- 
 

 Not less than  35% of the total number of market dwellings to be 1 and 2 bedroom 
dwellings 

 Not less than  35% of the total number of market dwellings to be 3 bedroom 
dwellings 

 No more than 30% of the total number of market dwellings to be 4 and 4+ bedroom 
dwellings. 

 

 the on-site public open space including playing pitches/ courts, allotments, orchards, 
and Neighbourhood Equipped Areas for Play (NEAPs), Local Equipped Areas for Play 
(LEAPs) and Local Areas for Play (LAPs), built facilities (incl. Sports Pavillion to be 
informed by Drawing nos. 00454_SK_020G Rev B and 00454_SK_020F Rev B and 
layout informed by Fig.12 of the Green Infrastructure Statement) to be provided in 
accordance with a phasing plan and specification for the built facilities, the pitches 
and built facilities to be completed before 1000 dwellings are first occupied and all of 
the facilities to be retained for those purposes for the lifetime of the development. 
Temporary Public Open Space to be provided before occupation of 450 dwellings. 
 

 

 Delivery as part of the Local Centre, the transfer of a serviced site sufficient for a 4 GP 
practice of at least 646 sq.m. and accommodation for health visitors, district nurses 
and social workers of at least 162 sq.m. 

 

 Establishment of a Management Organisation including secure long-term funding 
arrangements (incl. s106 pump priming). This is expected to be an organisation known 
as the Land Trust. 

 

 Middle Broomhall Farm (Listed building) to be restored in accordance with a scheme 
of works previously submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA and made 
available to the Management Organisation or other body established to manage land 
and facilities, for use as offices for the lifetime of the development. 

 

 The developer to provide opportunities for local employment and apprenticeships 
with skills training and further education to local people in connection with the 
construction of the development. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



Table Two below, sets out the s106 financial contributions required having regard to CIL Regulation 
122:- 
 

 
Table Two: Infrastructure funding (post CIL Reg. 122 and viability assessment) 
 

Essential Infrastructure 
Requirement 

Means of 
Control 

Financial Contribution 

Transportation  S106 
agreement 

 A4440 Dualling  £14,391,000.00 

 Bath Rd, Sidbury, College Rd, City 
Walls Rd (junction and highways 
works, bus infrastructure 
£510,000.00 

 London Rd (bus infrastructure) 
£19,000.00 

 RTS and VMS (Bath Rd and 
London Rd) £200,000.00 

 A4440 E & N Orbital  (junction 
capacity works) £430,000.00 

 Parkway Railway St. £390,000.00 

Total: £15,940,000.00 

 Public Transport Services (Service 
32) £476,150.00 

 On-site public transport 
infrastructure £130,000.00 

 Norton Rd, Crookbarrow Road, 
Brockhill Lane walk/cycle 
improvements £10,000.00 

 A4440 Ped./ Cycle bridge  
£ 2,946,650.00 

 A38 walk/cycle improvements 
(Hatfield Lane to A4440 Ketch r/b) 
£72,070.00.00 

 Travel Planning (residential) 
£250,000.00 

 Traffic calming (Norton) £8,900.00 
 
Total: £3,893,770.00 

 

Education provision,  
Proportionate financial 
contribution towards new 60 PAN 
Primary School at SWUE.  
 
Secondary education – 2 or 3 bed 
Houses £2,786/ 4 bed houses 
£4,179 and 2+ bed flats £1,115. 
 
No contribution for affordable 
housing or 1 bed houses/flats. 

S106 
agreement 

 
Primary Education – proportionate 

contribution (approx. 90%) towards a new 

primary school on the Welbeck land to the 

south of Taylors Lane. 

£6,173,972.53  
 
Secondary Education will follow tariff 

approach.  

 
 

Page 77



Open Space Sport and 
Recreation incl. built facilities 
 

S106 
agreement 

On site 

GP Practice plus health visitors, 
district nurses and social 
workers. 

S106 
agreement 

Option to purchase 0.4ha between NHS 
Property Services and the Applicant. 
£1,720,000.00 towards site acquisition or 
expansion/extension/ enhancement of local 
GP surgeries serving the Development.  
 

Community Development  S106 
agreement 

Establishing a sustainable Management 
Organisation with accommodation at Middle 
Broomhall Farm. 
 

Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation 
 

S106 
agreement 

£975,130.00 

CIL (Retail only) 
 

CIL c£150,000.00 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 78



1         Report No.  
 

Northern Area 
Planning Committee  
3rd November 2021 

 

 

Section 106 Requests for financial 
contributions from Worcestershire Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust (13/00656/OUT) 

Plus, updates relating to the Section 106 
Agreement and Planning Conditions. 

13/00656/OUT Applicant: Welbeck Strategic Land LLP 

Outline planning application, including approval of access (appearance, landscape, 
layout and scale reserved) for a mixed-use development with local centre to the 
south of Worcester including demolition of existing buildings and the construction 
of up to 2204 dwellings including affordable housing (Use Class C3) and up to 14ha 
of employment land. The development to also include: Hotel (Use Class C1); Elderly 
Persons Accommodation (Use Class C2); Business (Use Classes E, B2 and B8); 
Retail, Financial and Professional Services, and Cafe and Restaurant (Use Class E);  
Pub and Drinking Establishment and Food Takeaway (Sui-generis); Non-Residential 
Institutions (including; Health (Use Class E(e)); Primary School (Use Class F1)); 
Assembly and Leisure (including: Indoor Leisure (Use Classes E and F2), Outdoor 
Sports and Leisure (Use Class F2)); Landscape, Public Realm, Open Space, 
Allotments and Orchards; Associated infrastructure and Off-site Highways Works, 
part of which is within the administrative district of Malvern Hills District Council/ 
Worcester City Council/ Wychavon District Council. 

Land to the South of the City of Worcester, Bath Road, Broomhall, Worcestershire 

 

Relevant Wards: Kempsey (MHDC), Norton Juxta Kempsey (WDC) and 
St Peters (Worcester City Council) 
 
 

Portfolio Holder (MHDC): Councillor David Harrison 
 
 

Head of Service: Holly Jones, Director of Planning & Infrastructure 
 
 

Contact Officer: Duncan Rudge, Head of Planning Services 
 

Page 79 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 4



2         Report No.  
 

(If you have any queries or questions about the content of this report, please speak 
to the portfolio holder or contact officer in advance of the meeting.) 
 

1. Purpose and Summary 

1.1 Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (hereafter referred to as the Trust) wrote 
to Malvern Hills District Council in January 2021, formally requesting again that the 
above outline planning application is subject to developer contributions towards 
acute healthcare service provision.  

1.2 The planning application referred to above has been considered by this Committee 
on two previous occasions, first on 7th March 2018 and again on 14th August 2019 to 
consider the original request from the Trust. This committee resolved to grant outline 
planning permission subject to the applicant entering into a necessary s106 legal 
agreement, but the decision has not yet been issued. This is due to protracted work 
associated with formulating and agreeing what is a very complex legal agreement.  
The drafting of the legal agreement is now at a very advanced stage, but the 
application is brought back to this committee after the council has sought external 
legal advice. This is necessary to ensure that the committee is aware that the Trust 
is requesting a lesser amount of funding from this development.  

1.3 In these circumstances the local planning authority is required to consider the latest 
request from the Trust before any decision is issued. The significance of the request, 
the delegations put in place by Worcester City and Wychavon District Councils and 
the scale of the proposals are such that it has been considered appropriate to 
formally refer consideration of the Trust’s revised request to the planning committees 
at each of the three south Worcestershire Councils. 

1.4 This report focusses on the consideration of the Trust’s revised request for financial 
contributions. However, as the decision has not been issued, the Committee is, if it 
so wishes, at liberty to consider any aspect of the application and insofar as the 
overall package of s106 developer contributions is concerned, needs to do this 
before arriving at a decision on what financial contributions and obligations such as 
those relating to affordable housing, should be sought, still having regard to 
development viability and deliverability. However, the Committee is reminded that 
the earlier resolution to approve, subject to a legal agreement, represents the 
culmination of many years work and negotiations, as well as considerable post 
committee work, undertaken to advance the necessary legal agreement to the point 
that the outline planning permission is capable of being issued in the near future. 

1.5 The original officer report for planning application 13/00656/OUT can be viewed at: 

13/00656/OUT https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=66004 

The Committee should note that since the Trust’s original representation requesting 
developer contributions relating to applications forming part of the Worcester South 
(SWDP 45/1) and Worcester West (SWDP 45/2) urban extensions, the following 
outline planning permissions have been granted and these decisions have not been 
challenged by the Trust even though the contributions they sought were not secured. 

13/01617/OUT - Outline application with all matters reserved except for access, for a 
mixed use development comprising residential development up to 255 dwellings, 

Page 80

https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=66004


3         Report No.  
 

employment (B1) (b and c), B2 and/or B8, access, footpath, cycleways and highway 
infrastructure, pedestrian / cycle bridge over A4440, public open space, landscaping 
and associated development and drainage. Land north of Taylors Lane, adjacent the 
A4440 Broomhall Way 

https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=67346 

16/01168/OUT – Outline application with all matters except access reserved, for the 
development of up to 1,400 new homes; formation of new means of access onto 
Martley Road and Oldbury Road; the laying out of areas of formal and informal open 
space; habitat creation; drainage infrastructure; pedestrian and cycle links including 
diversion of public rights of way; and other associated infrastructure. Land North of 
Oldbury Road and South of Martley Road, Lower Broadheath. 

https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=74008 

15/01419/OUT – Outline application with all matters reserved (except points of 
access) for an urban extension to Worcester of up to 965 dwellings; employment 
uses (up to 23,000 sq.m of B1a, B1b and B1c); mixed use local centre [with up to 
3,000 sq.m of floor space (GEA) in use classes: A1 retail (not exceeding 1,500 sq. 
m), financial services (A2), restaurants, pubs and takeaways (A3, A4, A5), business 
uses (B1a and b); plus (in addition) residential uses (C3)]; community uses (including 
non-residential institutions and health centre (D1); leisure uses (D2); C2 residential 
care home; access from Bromyard Road and Oldbury Road; two form entry primary 
school (including pre-school); green infrastructure including open space; sports and 
recreation facilities including children's play; sustainable drainage; landscaping; 
infrastructure (including highways, services, cycle and pedestrian routes); the 
diversion of public rights of way; travellers pitches (up to 10 pitches); car parking for 
all uses; demolition, and engineering works (including ground remodelling). Land At 
(Os 8202 5595 West Of Worcester) Martley Road, Lower Broadheath. 

https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=71868 

1.6 The latest letter from the Trust requesting financial contributions towards acute 
health services is attached as appendix 1 to this report. 

1.7 The Trust continues to assert that this development will have a detrimental impact on 
the Trust’s ability to continue to deliver services within required quality standards and 
timeframes without appropriate financial contributions. The Trust says that the 
developer contribution is being sought not to support a government body but rather 
to enable the Trust to provide services needed by the residents of the new 
development. 

1.8 The Trust says that the funding they are requesting from the developer cannot be 
sourced from elsewhere and without contributions to maintain the delivery of health 
care services at the required quality standard and to secure adequate health care for 
the locality. The proposed development will put too much strain on the said 
infrastructure, putting people at significant risk and the development imposes an 
additional demand on existing over-burdened acute healthcare services and failure 
to make the requested level of healthcare provision will detrimentally affect safety 
and care quality for both the new and existing local population. This, the Trust says 
will mean that patients will receive substandard care, resulting in poorer health 
outcomes and pro-longed health problems, there will be a dramatic reduction in 

Page 81

https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=67346
https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=74008
https://plan.malvernhills.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=71868


4         Report No.  
 

safety and quality as the Trust will be forced to operate over available capacity as 
the Trust is unable to refuse care to emergency patients. There will also be 
increased waiting times for planned operations and patients will be at risk of multiple 
cancellations. 

1.9 As planning application 13/00656/OUT includes land within Malvern Hills district, 
Wychavon district and the City of Worcester the application has previously been 
reported to the relevant Planning Committee at all three Councils. Wychavon and 
Worcester City Councils both agreed previously with Malvern Hills District Council’s 
recommendations on the application and agreed that Malvern Hills District Council 
should issue an outline planning approval on behalf of all three councils (subject to 
the applicant entering into a s106 legal agreement). However, both Councils in 
granting delegation to Malvern Hills District Council required that they should be 
consulted upon ‘any major changes that in the opinion of the Head of Housing and 
Planning Services (now Director of Planning & Infrastructure) raise issues not 
already covered in the report to Malvern Hills District Council’s Northern Area 
Committee on 7th March 2018. Wychavon District Council and Worcester City 
Council also agreed with the recommendation of Malvern Hills District Council not to 
seek acute healthcare contributions. It is the opinion of the Director of Planning and 
Infrastructure that the Trust’s revised request represents a major issue not 
addressed by the 2018 report and given the reduction in the amount now sought by 
the Trust, is capable of affecting the planning balance and the overall package of 
s106 obligations required of the development. Wychavon District Council will 
consider this matter at their planning committee meeting on 14th October 2021 and 
Worcester City Council, at their planning committee meeting on 28th October.  

1.10 This report also addresses a number of other matters. These include the affordable 
housing provision, the drafting of the s106 legal agreement to allow funding towards 
secondary education infrastructure to be directed towards expansion of existing 
secondary schools and/or the creation of a new secondary school as well as a 
number of updates and amendments to planning conditions, necessary to ensure the 
efficient delivery of the development and to take into account changes in 
circumstances since the application was originally reported to this committee. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The request for financial contributions towards acute health services in 
respect of planning application 13/00656/OUT has been considered and noted 
as something capable of being a relevant material consideration. However, the 
local planning authority does not agree to secure the contribution as the 
application has been subject to detailed investigation with respect to viability 
and the local planning authority is satisfied that the financial requests made by 
the Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (in whole or part) could only be 
accommodated through the re-opening of already accepted financial 
appraisals and at the expense or reduction of the provision of other 
infrastructure considered critical to the delivery of sustainable development, 
including the provision of much needed affordable housing.  

2.2 The Council is not persuaded that the Trust’s request fully meets the tests set 
out in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Regulations 2010, having regard to the Inspector’s decision and Secretary of 
State decision on the Wolborough Barton, Newton Abbott, Devon appeal 
decision and the more recent Claphill Lane, Rushwick appeal decision both of 

Page 82



5         Report No.  
 

which are capable of being a material consideration. Even if the Council was to 
be persuaded that the request is CIL Regulation 122(2) compliant and/or 
compliance is confirmed by the Courts, the Council considers that the 
previously approved s106 Heads of Terms are still the most appropriate in this 
case and affordable housing should not be reduced below 20%.  

2.3 In accordance with the decisions made by the planning committees at the 
three south Worcestershire councils in 2019, the section 106 agreement 
associated with application 13/00656/OUT does not include reference to a 
Deferred Contingent Obligation review mechanism on the basis that affordable 
housing provision at 20% is agreed as the maximum reasonable level of 
affordable housing across the whole development, not just the initial phase. 

2.4 To approve the amended list of planning conditions at Appendix 2 and the 
S106 Heads of Terms at Appendix 3 and to authorise the Director of Planning 
and Infrastructure to grant outline planning permission in consultation with 
the local ward members, subject to the completion of the s106 legal agreement 
and any further minor amendments to the drafting that may be necessary. 

2.5 Wychavon District Council and Worcester City Council are invited to consider 
the Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust’s revised request with respect 
to planning application 13/00656/OUT and to confirm whether they are in 
agreement with proceeding on the basis of recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 
2.4 above and for Malvern Hills District Council to issue outline planning 
permission once the s106 legal agreement has been completed. 

 

 

3. Background 

3.1 This committee considered the above application in 2018 and again in 2019 and was 
minded to approve the proposals, subject to the applicant agreeing to enter into a 
legal agreement necessary to deliver essential infrastructure and other obligations 
associated with the proposals. 

3.2 At the time the application was first considered by the Committee no request had 
been received from the Trust for financial contributions towards acute health services 
and therefore this was not fed into the financial viability assessments undertaken by 
the applicant’s viability consultant and the consultant acting for the Council.  

3.3 The Trust submitted its original request for financial contributions in January 2019 
and this was for £3,357,949.00. The Trust has since revised its methodology and 
submitted a revised request for funding in January 2021, seeking £1,839,839.06 

3.4 No advance notice was given by the Trust that the original request was being 
formulated and they would be submitting this after the application had been formally 
considered by the three south Worcestershire councils planning committees. 
Similarly, your officers were not aware that the Trust intended to submit a revised 
request this late in the decision-making process and after the south Worcestershire 
councils had expressly considered the previous request. The Councils had set aside 
any reasons not to seek the contribution relating to the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) Regulations and had decided that the contribution should not be sought 

Page 83



6         Report No.  
 

on development viability grounds and the need to deliver at least 20% affordable 
housing. Nevertheless, this remains something that is capable of being a material 
consideration. The timing of the requests is not material, albeit very unhelpful. 

3.5 Given the significance of the sum requested, even using the Trust’s revised 
methodology, your officers have again considered this matter very carefully because 
various appeal decisions relating to other parts of the Country, have found for and 
against the principle of securing s106 funding towards acute healthcare services 
albeit not all applicants have contested the requests and not all of the appeals the 
Trust has drawn to the council’s attention to have involved testing evidence and 
arguments at a public inquiry. Of the appeal decisions that have found the requests 
to not be in accordance with Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended), there are two that your officers have attributed 
significant weight. The first is where the relevant Acute Hospitals Trust challenged an 
appeal decision and a decision of the Secretary of State after calling in an appeal 
relating to Wolborough Barton, Newton Abbot, Devon (appeal ref 3205558).     

3.6 In the decision letter at paragraph 46 the Secretary of State decided: 

“A planning obligation was sought by the Torbay and South Devon NHS 
Foundation Trust (IR321), to mitigate the short-term impact of the 
additional residents on healthcare services (IR323; IR355). The 
Secretary of State has carefully considered the Inspector’s analysis of 
this obligation at IR322-353, and her conclusions at IR354-365. For the 
reasons given there, the Secretary of State agrees with the Inspector 
that in the circumstances of a ‘known’ development within an adopted 
Development Plan document which had been the subject of 
consultation with relevant health providers at the time of production, it 
cannot be justified to require a developer to plug a gap in funding 
essentially to pay staff wages, which is brought to the appeal at the 
eleventh hour, even though that may, in part, be due to some element 
of new population which may move into the Newton Abbot area as a 
result of the building of the new homes (IR361). For this reason, he 
considers that the provision obligation fails to meet the tests of 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended) and is not therefore enforceable.”  

3.7 Your officers were made aware that the NHS Trust in that case issued a challenge to 
the appeal decision in the High Court (case ref CO/2448/2020) and judgement has 
now been given (Abbotskerswell PC v SSHCLG [2021] EWHC 555 (Admin) (11 
March 2021). Having made enquiries about the outcome, all we were able to 
establish is that the matter was “settled” out of court. The Worcestershire Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust solicitor was asked about this as it is understood that they also 
represented the Torbay and South Devon Trust. They advised that the Inspector and 
subsequently the Secretary of State, made an incorrect assumption that somehow 
during the local plan process the NHS can take into consideration the local plans 
and work it into the NHS funding. This is and was factually incorrect they say. There 
is no mechanism for the NHS to subsidise the developer for the impact that the 
development creates. Secondly, they say that the Inspector and Secretary of State 
thought that there was a lag in the funding when, in fact, the evidence before her 
was clearly a gap with a long-term impact. 

3.8 The Challenge in relation to the Wolborough Barton appeal never reached the final 

Page 84



7         Report No.  
 

hearing as the parties settled the case. Unfortunately for the south Worcestershire 
councils, this judgement and the explanations we have been given did not provide 
the clarification we were hoping it would. The claim was eventually “discontinued” (by 
Consent Order) in February 2021 with all parties bearing their own costs and the 
developer having entered into an agreement to provide “a” contribution towards the 
provision of healthcare services.  It is assumed that this is outside of any s106 
agreement. We do not know why the Secretary of State decided to agree to the 
terms of the discontinuance.  If the Secretary of State had accepted that he acted 
unlawfully, then the remedy would have been a quashing order by consent not 
discontinuance. 

3.9 Given the complexities of this issue officers sought counsel’s opinion regarding the 
ongoing legal basis for the request and how this latest request should be handled, 
the Council still needed to reach a view on whether the contribution over and above 
that indicated by the government’s National Tariff funding formula is “fairly” related to 
the development, and “necessary” to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. 

Analysis 

3.10 It is an established element of the national planning system that developers have a 
part to play in the delivery of public service infrastructure and facilities. In accordance 
with national planning policy, need is generally assessed through the plan making 
process and its delivery and the need for financial contributions towards it, is 
invariably the subject of local plan policy, whether in general or on a site-specific 
basis. 

3.11 Developers have delivered school premises and/ or health centres as part of large 
schemes, and/ or made land or financial contributions towards new, or for the 
expansion of existing premises. However, in the main, contributions both nationally 
and locally have been in the form of land or the physical fabric of the infrastructure or 
service, rather than revenue costs associated with the delivery of the service. The 
latter with respect to public services has traditionally been regarded as matters to be 
funded through a central government funding formula, but this is not to say that it 
cannot be lawful to secure such funding. 

3.12 The Trust contends that the current central government funding formula for acute 
services does not fully fund demand for services associated with population growth 
arising from new housing development in its first year and this, with respect to 
continuing housing growth, creates a sustained rolling revenue budget deficit (a gap, 
not a lag in funding) as the Acute Trust has no option other than to provide services 
to meet any increased demand arising from increases in its catchment area 
population. The Trust has also pointed to some appeal decisions where revenue 
funding of the type now sought has been found to be reasonable and required to 
make development acceptable in planning terms. Some, but not all of those appeal 
decisions, were uncontested so the weight to be attributed to them does vary. 

3.13 The Trust seeks a contribution from developers in respect of this revenue funding 
gap.  It is not a request for funding for infrastructure that would be funded by 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (so there is no question of ‘double dipping’ in 
the context of the current South Worcestershire CIL Charging Schedule arising, that 
would be prohibited under Reg 123(2)).  Other parts of the NHS are responsible for 

Page 85



8         Report No.  
 

requesting infrastructure contributions.  

3.14 The Trust has advanced a methodology for calculating financial contributions 
towards revenue funding of acute health services. The specifics of the methodology 
have been the subject of on-going discussion with the Trust and its legal advisers 
and your officers have remained unconvinced that the Trust has adequately 
evidenced that all components of the calculated need are appropriate or relevant in 
formulating a contribution request. With regard to how service providers are funded, 
the NHS operates a “managed market” with a measure of competition between 
providers. Pricing of NHS Contracts is governed by rules in Chapter 4 of Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 and was originally a “Payment by Results” (PbR) approach 
based on the principle that money followed the patient, every patient who attended A 
& E for example attracted a fee – and the total payable under the CCG/Trust 
contract was an amalgamation of individual treatment fees. The fees for individual 
episodes of treatment are set out in the National Tariff. The key point is that for a 
service provider operating PbR there can, by definition, be no “NHS funding gap” 
and this immediately calls into question whether a financial contribution under s106 
is necessary. It is extremely difficult for a local planning authority to forensically 
examine and fully understand the funding arrangements for a specific Trust, but your 
officers are of the view that either a funding gap does not exist or that it only exists 
because legal requirements and common NHS practice are allowed to part 
company. If the legal rules are followed, there should be no NHS gap for predictable 
increases in demand. Arguably there is nothing in planning more predictable than a 
site specific allocation in an adopted Development Plan. 

3.15 For planned large scale developments: 

 CCGs are funded for extra patients arising from predicted population flows 
because planned population increases are included in ONS projections 

 Trusts are funded partly by block payments under CCG/NHSE contracts 
where the rules require a fair price to be paid for the projected number of 
patients – so there should be no funding gap 

 Extra funds a developer provides may end up reducing the need for central 
subsidy and not benefit patients at the particular Trust, notwithstanding 
assurances that the Trust provides regarding monitoring spending of any 
s106 derived funds. 

3.16 Notwithstanding any arguments over whether a funding gap exists in the real world 
and on-going discussion regarding the methodology employed by the Trust, the 
requests still need to be considered in the context of reaching an overall planning 
judgement over obligations necessary to make these proposals, as part of the South 
Worcester urban extension (SWDP 45/1), acceptable in planning terms and having 
regard to the viability and deliverability of the proposals.  

3.17 Whilst the Trust is not prevented from making a request for contributions very late in 
the application process, it is important to note that no specific requests or 
methodology for making requests were identified when the strategic urban 
extensions were proposed through formulation stages or during the examination of 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan. The consultation process for the 
SWDP and related Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) did however, identify a number 
of non-health site specific infrastructure requirements which were enshrined in the 

Page 86



9         Report No.  
 

adopted SWDP or were fed into relevant negotiations when the above planning 
applications were received. Consequently, there is no specific SWDP policy 
requirement associated with the Trust’s specific requests relating to acute healthcare 
services. 

3.18 This is important to note because in an appeal made by Lioncourt Strategic Land 
relating to a site off Claphill Lane, Rushwick (ref.3267054), the Trust made 
representations requesting developer contributions towards the provision of or 
improvement of medical services and appeared at the public inquiry to give 
evidence. The Trust’s request was resisted by both the appellant and the council.  In 
this appeal, the council and the appellant argued that the contribution would not 
meet the tests set out in para.57 of the Framework and Regulation 122(2) of the 
Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

3.19 In the Rushwick appeal it was stated by the Trust that there is a threshold of 15 
dwellings, above which they seek a contribution, but the Trust’s representative 
conceded that this is an arbitrary figure, having not been through any public 
consultation. The Inspector opined that there is therefore no clear basis for the 
threshold or a point at which seeking the contribution becomes clear and justifiable. 
Furthermore, he observed that there is no agreement on this for the purposes of 
setting development plan policy on this matter. This, the Inspector said, would be 
contrary to guidance in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) which states amongst 
other things, that policies for planning obligations should be set out in plans and 
examined in public and that policy requirements should be clear so that they can be 
accurately accounted for in the price paid for land for example. The PPG also 
highlights that local communities should be involved in the setting of policies for 
contributions expected from development and this has not happened in this case.   

3.20 The Inspector concluded, albeit in the particular circumstances of the Rushwick 
appeal case, that there was no clear justification for the NHS contribution and that 
the request failed to meet the tests set out in Reg. 122(2) of the CIL Regulations, 
particularly in terms of not being necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms and not being directly related to the development. Although the 
committee will appreciate that all applications/appeals must be considered on their 
own merits, with regard to the matter of principle, this appeal is in relation to a major 
development in south Worcestershire and should be attributed significant weight in 
the consideration of application 13/00656/OUT, although that weight should be 
tempered slightly by the fact that the solicitors acting for the Worcestershire Acute 
Hospitals NHS Trust gave notice to the district council by letter dated 1st October 
2021 that the Trust has instructed them to file papers at the High Court to challenge 
the decision of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, to grant planning permission at Land off Claphill Lane, Rushwick, 
under s288 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

3.21 On the basis of the extensive negotiations over a number of years and having regard 
to development viability the application has been recommended for approval with an 
accepted reduction in financial and other obligations as follows: 

13/00656/OUT: (reduction of £607,126 and affordable housing reduced to 20% from 
40%* - this being 20% across the whole development. 

*with respect to affordable housing the councils also accepted an adjusted mix of 
affordable housing with respect social rented housing and shared ownership 

Page 87



10         Report No.  
 

housing.  

3.22 In accordance with the ‘planning balance’ and priorities of the Local Planning 
Authorities, in general 100% of highway and education infrastructure is to be funded 
by developer contributions.  

3.23 Officers have not requested that negotiations over an accepted viability position is 
re-opened with the applicant as the three councils have already accepted that the 
proposals are unable to meet all of the infrastructure requirements that potentially fall 
to them and accommodating the Trust’s request could only be achieved (in whole or 
part) at the expense of other essential infrastructure or affordable housing 
considered necessary in the judgement of the local planning authorities to date, to 
make the proposals acceptable in planning terms. The latest request from the Trust, 
if acceded to, would necessitate disturbing the planning balances and priorities 
previously reached. 

3.24 Members need to consider whether the request received in January 2021 for 
£1,839,839.06 for acute healthcare revenue funding is in respect of potential 
impacts, of a higher priority than the impacts currently proposed to be mitigated by 
s106 contributions or whether even further reductions in affordable housing delivery 
should be accepted in order to allow NHS contributions to be made, notwithstanding 
your officers advice and concerns on compliance with the CIL Regulations, without 
disturbing the viability of the proposed development and rendering it undeliverable. 

3.25 Notwithstanding the concerns your officers have raised regarding the Trusts request 
not being CIL Regulation compliant, officers have considered this issue and have 
concluded: 

 Highways infrastructure should continue to be a priority for developer funding as 
previously agreed because the County Highway Authority has already forward 
funded elements of off-site highways infrastructure and this is necessary to 
mitigate the impact of the developments, avoid a severe residual cumulative 
impact on the road network and comply with specific requirements of 
SWDP45/1. The urban extensions are not CIL liable other than in respect of 
retail development.  

 Education infrastructure should continue to be a priority for developer funding as 
previously agreed because the provision of a new primary school is a critical 
physical element of the urban extension in terms of place making, reducing the 
need to travel and ensuring compliance with specific requirements of SWDP45/1 
and secondary education contributions are required to ensure that the 
necessary physical infrastructure is in place as houses are occupied and in 
accordance with the Council’s Developer Contributions SPD.   

 The need for affordable housing remains acute. The south Worcestershire 
councils have already accepted a 50% reduction in the level of affordable 
housing expected on the urban extensions compared to the level referred to in 
SWDP 45/1 and the level of development that is likely to come forward over the 
remainder of the plan period (2021 to 2030) is unlikely to satisfy the identified 
need. Therefore, it is not recommended that affordable housing delivery be 
reduced below 20%. If the Trust’s latest request was secured, this could be 
expected to reduce affordable housing by around 2.5%. 

Page 88



11         Report No.  
 

 The nature and merits of the Trust’s requests have not been considered through 
the plan-making process which is the most appropriate forum for these matters 
to be assessed. In the Claphill Lane, Rushwick appeal the Inspector stresses 
why this is important and references the PPG. 

3.26 With regard to the impact of the development on health-related infrastructure and 
services, whilst the development may not contribute toward acute healthcare service 
provision in the way that the Trust would wish, it is important for members to note 
that the s106 agreement will secure some new healthcare infrastructure, to mitigate 
some impacts of the development. The s106 legal agreement will secure a serviced 
plot (subject to an option arrangement between NHS Property Services and the 
applicant) of 0.4ha to accommodate a four GP practice, to be located within the new 
Local Centre.  Prior to the occupation of the 900th dwelling, a Healthcare 
contribution of £1,720,000.00 will fall due. This is to fund site acquisition and 
construction and/or extension, expansion or enhancement of up to ten existing GP 
surgeries serving the development.  

3.27 With respect to viability assessment of the above application, although very 
extensive and comprehensive negotiations took place between the councils and the 
applicant, it was not possible for the councils and the applicant to agree all inputs to 
the financial appraisal. However, based on the advice of specialist consultants the 
councils were satisfied that the proposal could not meet all the financial contributions 
identified and only 20% affordable housing could be achieved. Whilst the viability 
assessment has not been reopened, your officers have sought further specialist 
advice from viability consultants and any increase in residential sales values for 
example, is expected to be more than off-set by increases in costs, particularly 
building costs, such that overall viability would not have significantly changed since 
the committee last considered the application. 

3.28 Should the committee disagree with the officer recommendations and wish to agree 
to the Trust’s requests (in whole or part) it will be necessary to: 

 Formally advise the applicant that the councils cannot issue the decision on the 
basis of the Heads of Terms previously agreed and of the need to formally re-
open negotiations over the financial appraisal. 

 Fully test all aspects of the Acute Trust’s requests in terms of its latest 
methodology, including: 

o Determining whether all projected service users are new to the Trust’s 
catchment area for services and facilities; 

o Migration assumptions; 

o Whether assumptions arising from future affordable housing provision are 
correct (given that majority of occupants will be drawn from waiting lists in 
Worcester City and Malvern Hills); 

o Demographic and household size assumptions; and 

o If a funding gap exists, the true extent of that gap. 

3.29 Whilst the following have no direct bearing on the merits or otherwise of the Trust’s 
requests, officers would highlight the potential consequences of undertaking the 

Page 89



12         Report No.  
 

assessment and further work set out above. 

 It would result in a significant delay and uncertainty with respect to the issuing of 
the outline planning permission;  

 Cause delay to the delivery of completed dwellings on the south of Worcester 
urban extension with significant implications for the councils housing land supply 
(HLS) and Housing Delivery Test (HDT); 

 There is a risk that the applicants may decide that to appeal against non-
determination represents a preferable course of action to address the 
uncertainty referred to above (at which point the delivery of those infrastructure 
elements already identified in the heads of terms cannot be assured); 

 It would be necessary to re-consult those infrastructure providers currently 
expecting to benefit from negotiated developer contributions, to determine the 
implications of reduced infrastructure contributions and whether they can 
continue to support the proposals in the light of potentially reduced contributions;   

 Potentially reduce affordable housing provision below 20% (deemed to be a 
significant threshold given the strategic nature of the urban extension); 

 It will require the LPA to re-open negotiations with the applicant over the content 
of the existing viability assessments with associated uncertainty over already 
agreed costs and inputs (this process will also involve significant cost with 
respect to engaging specialist advice). 

Affordable Housing Provision 

3.30 The supporting text (Reasoned Justification - paragraph 5) to adopted Policy SWDP 
15 (Meeting affordable housing needs) sets out that where proposals due to viability 
considerations do not provide the required percentage of affordable housing the LPA 
may make arrangements for Deferred Contingent Obligations to be put in place. 
These obligations enable the viability of a given scheme to be re-appraised at a 
given point in time or once a particular phase of a development has been completed. 
In such circumstances it is envisaged that more will be known about the economic 
performance and potential of the proposed development as well as costs. 

3.31 Given the scale and significance of the strategic urban extensions at Worcester it 
was initially considered appropriate to make reference to Deferred Contingent 
Obligations as it was not possible to reach 40% affordable housing on these sites. 
The original Heads of Terms for application 13/00656/OUT included reference to the 
requirement for the applicant to agree to such obligations. 

3.32 However, with respect to 16/01168/OUT and 15/01419/OUT for the Worcester West 
urban extension, and 13/01617/OUT for the south of Worcester urban extension, on 
the advice of specialist consultants it was considered appropriate to accept 20% 
affordable housing on these applications without reference to a Deferred Contingent 
Obligation in the associated legal agreements. This in effect secures the future 
delivery of 20% affordable housing across the development site (not just initial 
phases) and removes some uncertainty for both the applicant and the Local 
Planning Authorities. 

Page 90



13         Report No.  
 

3.33 To do otherwise for the outline application submitted by Welbeck Strategic Land 
would establish an inconsistency. On 17th April 2019, Welbeck Strategic Land LLP 
(the applicant 13/00656/OUT) wrote to the District Council setting out a proposal that 
the associated legal agreement be drafted on the basis of 20% affordable housing 
across the entire proposal as opposed to 20% affordable housing on Phase 1 only, 
with any further affordable housing provision beyond Phase 1 to be subject to a 
further viability appraisal. This was agreed by all three south Worcestershire councils 
in 2019. 

3.34 Officers referred this revised position to the specialist consultants responsible for 
providing advice to the council on the application and their advice is that, based 
upon the known infrastructure demands placed on application 13/00656/OUT, 
development value and costs, 20% affordable housing across the entire scheme 
could be accepted as the maximum reasonable level of affordable housing. 

3.35 The South Worcestershire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (Arc4, 
2019) provides a useful insight into the housing market and affordability issues which 
are being faced by residents of the district and the City. The SHMA indicates a 
minimum net imbalance of 72 affordable dwellings each year over the next five years 
across Malvern Hills District and the Housing For You register is showing that there 
are 1667 households registered with a banding which indicates that they have a 
local connection to the district. 

3.36 House prices in Worcester City remain consistently higher than those for the West 
Midlands region and nationally across England and are in the upper quartile of 
values. The local property market is buoyant, and growth has been fuelled by the 
popularity of Worcester as a place to live, expansion of the University of Worcester 
and development of employment opportunities in the City. Therefore, when taking 
account of average earnings, Worcester City is one of the least affordable places to 
buy property both regionally and nationally. Many people on average or lower 
quartile incomes are also being priced out of privately rented accommodation in the 
City. The latest analysis of the Housing For You register, shows that over 3,000 
applicants are registered with a preference for housing in Worcester. There is a net 
imbalance of 374 affordable dwellings each year over the next five years across 
Worcester City. 

3.37 On this basis, your officers recommend that the affordable housing element of the 
package of s106 obligations, should not be reduced below 20% and greater certainty 
secured by not requiring a Deferred Contingent Obligation.  

3.38 For all details associated with other aspects of the proposed development the 
Committee is referred to the original reports, update sheets and minutes using the 
link identified in paragraph 1.5 above. 

Planning Conditions 

3.39 It has been necessary to update certain conditions since this planning application 
was last reported to the committee.  

 Condition 2 is amended to refer to an amended Public Open Space (POS) 
Parameter Plan to remove an area of common land from the POS area. The 
common land is outside the applicant’s land promotion agreements and is 
subject to common grazing rights. In addition, a small area of woodland has 

Page 91



14         Report No.  
 

been removed that is to be retained by the current landowner but will still 
contribute to green infrastructure within what is known as Plot 32 (land to the 
west of the A38). 

 Condition 4 is amended to provide clarity re phasing.  

 Condition 5 is amended to cross reference with condition 6 

 Condition 15 is amended to also make reference to a full application and 
provide flexibility 

 Condition 20 is amended to bring it up to date re changes to the Use 
Classes Order, particularly the introduction of Class E commercial, business 
and service uses. It has also been necessary to amend the description of 
development to take account of the changes coming into force through the 
Town and country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) 
regulations 2020 and amendments to the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015.  

 Condition 23 is amended to include the correct reference to condition 21 

 Condition 24 is amended to refer to phasing and cross reference with 
condition 21. 

 Condition 26 is amended to include “unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the LPA” because the surface water bypass infrastructure may not be 
entirely within the highway/publicly maintained land where is passes under 
the A38, through Plot 32 and connects to the River Severn. 

 Condition 35 is amended to allow flexibility as the site is built out and not 
completely prohibit construction traffic from using Taylors Lane. This will 
allow construction traffic routing for temporary periods relating to phases of 
the development closest to Taylors Lane, together with the use of haul 
roads. 

An updated list of conditions is attached at Appendix 2 

S106 Legal Agreement 

3.40 Similarly, it is necessary to advise members of the committee of changes to the s106 
legal agreement, since the original Heads of Terms were agreed. An updated Heads 
of Terms that reflects the latest drafting of the agreement, as agreed between your 
officers, the applicant, representatives for the landowners and other interested 
parties, is attached at Appendix 3. 

Other Matters 

3.41 Since the application was reported to committee in 2018, Norton juxta Kempsey 
Parish Council has published a Neighbourhood Plan and this is the subject of a 
referendum on 28th October 2021. It is not considered that the Neighbourhood Plan 
has any significant effect on the consideration of this outline planning application in 
terms of the principle of development and consideration of the application against 
policy SWDP45/1. 

Page 92



15         Report No.  
 

3.42 The committee report published in 2018 refers to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) that was in force at the time. Since then, the 
Framework has been amended and the latest version was published in July of this 
year. Having regard to the changes in national planning policy, set out in the latest 
version of the Framework with for example a greater emphasis on design quality, it 
is not considered that this raises any new material considerations that would change 
the original or latest recommendation on this application, the weight to be attributed 
to the Development Plan or the overall planning balance leading to a grant of outline 
planning permission. 

Conclusion 

3.43 Overall, your officers are still concerned as to whether the request for developer 
contributions towards acute healthcare services is compliant with Regulation 122(2) 
of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), however 
even if the request were to be compliant, following a detailed assessment of 
development viability, the development is unable to make the requested contribution 
as well as funding the infrastructure requirements listed in Appendix 3 and delivering 
at least 20% affordable housing across the whole development.  

3.44 The application has been considered against relevant national and local planning 
policy and is still considered to be broadly in accordance with the Framework and 
the Development Plan.  The proposal takes forward the SWDP strategic allocation 
SWDP 45/1 and therefore represents a significant contribution towards 
implementing the Plan and delivering much needed housing, including affordable 
housing, will provide significant economic development opportunities and jobs, as 
well as other social and environmental benefits. The proposals accord with the 
strategy and objectives of the SWDP. The proposals are subject to development 
viability considerations but are largely policy compliant. The extensive benefits of the 
development are not significantly and demonstrably outweighed by the adverse 
impacts and overall, the proposals are still considered to represent sustainable 
development. 

 

Appendices 
 

1. Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust representation dated 14 January 2021 
(Parts 1 and 2) 

2. Amended list of planning conditions 

3.  Amended s106 Heads of Terms. 

 
 
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Numbers 1. Planning Application P13A0617 (MHDC Ref: 

13/01617/OUT) 

2. Outline Planning Application P16L0448 

(Formerly P13L0316)(MHDC Ref: 

13/00656/OUT) 

Site Address South Worcestershire Urban Extension 

Description of 

Development 

Section 106 Requests for financial contributions from 

Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust and Affordable 

Housing provision and delivery. 

Case Officer Mr Alan Coleman Applicant 1. St Modwen 

Developments 

Ltd 

2. Welbeck 

Strategic Land 

Ward(s) All Agent 1. Savills 

2. Planning 

Prospects Ltd 

Reason for Referral to 

Committee 

 

In accordance with 

the adopted 

Schedule of 

Delegation 

Expiry 

Date 

 N/A 

Key Issues 
 

 Please refer to report attached at Appendix 1  

Web link to applications  https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/P13A0617 

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/P16L0448 

Recommendation 
 

The Deputy Director of Economic Development and 
Planning recommends that the Planning Committee 

endorse the recommendation set out in paragraphs 
2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 of the report to the meeting of the 
Northern Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills 

District Council on 14th August 2019 attached as 
Appendix 1. 

 
1. Background 

 
 1.1 Planning Application P13A0617 (MHDC Ref: 13/01617/OUT) relates to the 

erection of a pedestrian/cycle bridge over the A4440 Broomhall Way to 

facilitate access to a mixed use development comprising of up to 255 
dwellings, and employment uses (Classes B1 (B and C), b2 and/or B8) on 

land between Taylors Lane and the A4440 Broomhall Way, land adjacent 
to Lobelia Close, Cranesbill Drive, Broomhall Green and the A4440 

Page 95 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 5

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/P13A0617
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/P16L0448


Broomhall Way. The application was reported to the meeting of the 
Planning Committee at the meeting on 25th May 2017 at which it was 

resolved, as recommended, to: 
 

i. delegate its decision making authority in respect of the 
housing and employment development set out in application 
Ref: P13A617 to Malvern Hills District Council; and 

 
ii. raise no objection to the application, subject to the 

conditions recommended in the appended report and the 
applicant and all persons having an interest in the land 
entering into an agreement under Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act in accordance with the proposed 
Heads of Terms set out in the report to Malvern Hills District 

Council’s Northern Area Planning Committee on 31st May 
2017. 

 

1.2 Outline Planning Application P16L0448 (Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 
13/00656/OUT) including approval of access (appearance, landscape, 

layout, and scale reserved) relates to a mixed-use development with local 
centre to the south of Worcester including demolition of existing buildings 

and the construction of up to 2204 dwelling including affordable housing 
(Use class C3) and up to 14ha of employment land. The development to 
also include: Hotel(Use class C1); Elderly Persons Accommodation (Use 

class C2); Business (Use classes B1, B2 and B8); Retail (Use classes A1, 
A2, A3, A4, A5); Primary School (Use class D1); Assembly and Leisure 

(including: health(Use class D1), Indoor Leisure (Use class D2), Outdoor 
Sports and leisure (Use class D2)); landscape, public realm, open space, 
allotments and orchards; associated infrastructure and off-site highways 

works, within the administrative districts of Malvern Hills District Council, 
Worcester City Council And Wychavon District Council. The application was 

reported to the meeting of the Planning Committee at the meeting on 18th 
February 2018 at which it was resolved, as recommended, to:  

  

i. delegate its decision making authority in respect of Outline 
Planning Application P16L0488 (formerly P13L0316) to 

Malvern Hills District Council;  
 
ii. raise no objection to the application, subject to the conditions 

recommended in the appended report and the applicant and 
all persons having an interest in the land entering into an 

agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act in accordance with the proposed Heads of Terms 
set out in the report to Malvern Hills District Council’s 

Northern Area Planning Committee on 7th March 2018, and; 
 

iii. that Worcester City Council is consulted on any major changes 
that in the opinion of the Deputy Director of Economic 
Development & Planning raise issues not already covered in 

the report to Malvern Hills District Council’s Northern Area 
Planning Committee on 7th March 2018. 

 2. Purpose of report 

Page 96



 
2.1  The report attached as Appendix 1 is to be considered by the three South 

Worcestershire Councils in response to a request for financial contributions 
from the Worcestershire Acute Hospitals Trust involving a number of 

planning applications that have resolutions to approve subject to legal 
agreements. The background is set out within section 3 of the report to 
the meeting of the Northern Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills 

District Council on 14th August 2019, which is attached as Appendix 1, 
together with the written response of the Worcestershire Acute Hospitals 

NHS Trust to Malvern Hills District Council’s Position Statement which is 
attached as Appendix 2. 

 

2.2 The report makes the following recommendations at paragraphs 2.1, 2.2 
and 2.3 respectively: 

 
i. The requests for financial contributions towards acute health 

services arising from applications 13/00656/OUT, 13/01617/OUT 

15/01419/OUT and 16/01168/OUT have been considered and noted 
as a relevant material consideration. However, the local planning 

authority does not agree to pursue the contributions as each of the 
planning applications referred to have been subject to detailed 

investigation with respect to viability and the local planning 
authority is satisfied that the financial requests of the 
Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (in whole or part) could 

only be accommodated through the re-opening of already accepted 
financial appraisals and at the expense or reduction of the provision 

of other infrastructure considered critical to the delivery of 
sustainable development, including the provision of much needed 
affordable housing.  

ii.  The section 106 agreement associated with application 
13/01617/OUT includes requirements to secure the full 

proportionate financial contributions including secondary education, 
police accommodation, community development officer, off site 
public open space and gypsy and traveller accommodation.  

iii. The section 106 agreements associated with applications 
13/00656/OUT and 13/01617/OUT do not include reference to a 

Deferred Contingent Obligation review mechanism on the basis that 
affordable housing provision at 20% is agreed as the maximum 
reasonable level of affordable housing across the whole 

development and the mix of affordable housing is to be in 
accordance with the Heads of Terms previously accepted. 

 
2.3 Accordingly, Wychavon District Council and Worcester City Council are 

invited to consider Worcestershire Acute Hospital NHS Trust’s request and 

the recommendation that the s106 Agreement does not include an 
affordable housing review mechanism with respect to planning application 

13/00656/OUT and to confirm whether they are in agreement with 
proceeding on the basis of the recommendations above and for Malvern 
Hills District Council to issue outline planning approval for this application 

under the delegations previously given to Malvern Hills District Council.  
 

Page 97



2.4 Worcester City Council is also invited to consider Worcestershire Acute 
Hospital NHS Trust’s request and the recommendation that the s106 

Agreement does not include an affordable housing review mechanism 
request with respect to planning application 13/01617/OUT and to confirm 

whether they are in agreement with proceeding on the basis of the 
recommendations above and for Malvern Hills District Council to issue 
outline planning approval for this application under the delegations 

previously given to Malvern Hills District Council. 
 

2.5 At the meeting of the Northern Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills 
District Council it was unanimously resolved to authorise the Director of 
Planning and Infrastructure to implement recommendations 2.1 to 2.5 in 

the Agenda Report, in line with the Officer recommendations.   
 

2.3 The report was also considered by Wychavon District Council’s Planning 
Committee at the meeting on 22nd August 2019 at which it was also 
resolved not to pursue the requests for financial contributions towards 

acute health services and; that the section 106 agreement associated with 
application 13/00656/OUT does not refer to a Deferred Contingent 

Obligation review mechanism on the basis that affordable housing 
provision at 20% is agreed as the maximum reasonable level of affordable 

housing across the whole development and the mix of affordable housing 
is to be in accordance with the Heads of Terms previously accepted. 

  

3. Recommendation 
 

3.1  For the reasons set out in the report attached as Appendix 1 it is 
recommended that the Planning Committee confirm their agreement to 
proceeding on the basis of recommendations 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 of the 

report to the Northern Area Planning Committee of Malvern Hills District 
Council on 14th August 2019 i.e. to: 

 
i. refuse the request from the NHS Trust for contributions in respect 

of Planning Application P13A0617 (MHDC Ref: 13/01617/OUT) and 

Outline Planning Application P16L0448 (Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC 
Ref: 13/00356),  

ii. The section 106 agreements associated with applications 
13/00656/OUT and 13/01617/OUT do not include reference to a 
Deferred Contingent Obligation review mechanism on the basis that 

affordable housing provision at 20% is agreed as the maximum 
reasonable level of affordable housing across the whole 

development and the mix of affordable housing is to be in 
accordance with the Heads of Terms previously accepted , and; 

iii. to confirm to Malvern Hills District Council that the planning 

permissions in respect of Planning Application P13A0617 (MHDC 
Ref: 13/01617/OUT) and Outline Planning Application P16L0448 

(Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 13/00356) can be issued, subject 
to the completion of the s106 legal agreements under the 
delegations previously granted. 

 
  

 

Page 98



 

 

Application Number 20/00866/FUL 

Site Address Unit 7, St Martin’s Quarter, Worcester 

Description of 

Development 

Change of use from retail to 24 residential units 

Expiry Date 27 August 2021 

Applicant Cedar Worcester Ltd 

Agent Mr John Edwards 

Case Officer Sally Watts 

 Sally.watts@worcester.gov.uk 

Ward Member(s) Cathedral Ward 

Reason for Referral to 

Committee 

 

Major application 

 

Key Issues 

 

The principle of development and whether the proposal 

would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 

of its economic role, social role and environmental role.   

Web link to application  https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/20/00866/FUL 

Recommendation 

 

The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance 

recommends that the Planning Committee 
i) is minded to grant planning permission subject 

to the applicant and all persons having an 

interest in the land entering into an agreement 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 in accordance with the draft 
Heads of Terms, and; 

ii) delegates to the Corporate Director - Planning 

and Governance authority to agree the Heads of 
Terms and subject to being satisfied with the 

nature of such an Agreement authority to grant 
the necessary planning permission, subject to 
the conditions set out in section 9 of this report. 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The application was registered on 11 November 2020 and was due for a decision on 27 

August 2021. An extension of time for the determination of the application was agreed 
until 29th October 2021. 

Page 99 Agenda Item 8

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


 

 
1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee in accordance with the 

adopted Scheme of Delegation and at the request of Councillor Denham on the 
following grounds: 

 
 principle of development 
 car parking 

 inappropriate use 
 lack of facilities and poor standard of accommodation for future occupants 

 
2.       The site and surrounding area  

 

2.1 The site comprises Unit 7 St Martin’s Quarter, part of a retail led scheme anchored by 
Asda. The site falls within the Lowesmoor Conservation Area (Conservation Character 

Area – St Martin’s Quarter) and is designated as an Archaeologically Sensitive Area in 
the adopted South Worcestershire Development Plan. Unit 7B, the former ‘Old 

Fermenting Shed’, which comprises the central element of Unit 7 and the adjacent 
former Granary building are locally listed buildings and identified as non-designated 

heritage assets. The Old Vinegar Works, which is currently occupied by the Territorial 
Army, is a Grade II Listed Building.  

 

 
Figure 1. Site location plan 

Page 100



 

 
Figure 2. Identifying Lowesmoor Conservation Area 
 

2.2 Unit 7 is currently in retail use (formerly Class A1, now Class E as of 1st September 
2020) and is subdivided into units A – D on the ground floor. The first and second floors 

are unused. 
 
2.3  Units 7A, B and C have a combined Gross Internal Area of 1019m2, divided roughly 

equally between regularly shaped units. Unit D has a GIA of 98m2 
 

2.4 Until recently, Units 7A and 7B were occupied by ‘Poundstretcher’. However, as of 
September 2020 Units 7A and 7B are vacant with ‘Poundstretcher’ having gone into 
administration. Unit C has remained vacant for a decade and Unit 7D is occupied by 

Ladbrokes. 
 

  

Page 101



 

 
Unit 7 (The Old Fermenting Shed) September 2020 

 
Unit 7 (The Old Fermenting Shed) September 2020 

 
Units C & D 

 
Units C & D 

Figure 3. Showing Unit 7 (A, B, C and D) 
 
3.      The proposals 

 
3.1 The proposed development seeks to redevelop Unit 7 as a wholly residential entity, 

providing 24 residential dwellings, of which 14 will be one-bed and a further 10 will be 
two-bed. Externally, the proposed development seeks to retain the building’s existing 
external fabric, layout and elevations, with minimal changes proposed. As originally 

proposed, these included a lowering of the window cills, the replacement of louvres 
with windows, the provision of railings to improve both public and private amenity and 

a small number of balconies. However, revisions have been made to address concerns 
raised by officers as detailed in paragraph 3.4 below. 

 

3.2 Open courtyards would be formed at the rear of the site to provide an area of private 
amenity space, bicycle and refuse/recycling storage facilities.  The courtyards would be 

formed either side of The Fermenting Shed (Unit 7B) as follows: 
 

Page 102



 

 Two bays of the existing roof will be removed and part external walls to rear unit 7A 
will be demolished to a height of 2.1m. New walls will be erected to the rear and 

side walls to form the enclosures for the new residential units. The roof will be made 
good to suit the new profile. The enclosure walls will be the existing brickwork at 

the reduced height and capped with a suitable capping. 
 

 Two bays of the existing roof will be removed to rear unit 7C. New walls will be 

erected to form the rear wall of apartment 9 and over together with the side wall to 
apartment 10 and over. The existing wall to the south (Ex Party Wall) will be made 

good and structurally sound to remain in position.  
 

3.3 Any new brickwork will be formed from the bricks carefully demolished. The boundary 

treatments will therefore compose of the existing walls - that to apartments 3/5 
reduced in height and that to apartments 9/10 left as is. The proposed flats on the 

upper floor would also be served by roof terraces. 
 
3.4 Following negotiations, the scheme has been amended to address concerns raised by 

Officers regarding certain aspects of the proposals: 
 

Louvres - The proposal has been modified to allow the louvres to remain in place. The 
intention is to remove the exiting louvre and fit in an open position onto a new top 
hung casement window. The line and position of the louvres will be maintained. 

 
Windows - The fenestration pattern has been adjusted to provide a more 

regular pattern. Window details have been modified with the inclusion of a transom. 
 
One-way glazing has been provided to ground floor windows to ensure privacy. 

 
The balcony window originally proposed has been removed.  

 
Layout - The layout has been reviewed and the following detail is added to the Ground 

Floor plan: 
 
 Individual terracing provided to ground floor flats. 

 Cycle parking indicated. 
 Bin Storage indicated. 

 
Access to courtyards is maintained as external access only. (headroom from existing 
staircases would not allow an internal access position).  

 
  

Page 103



 

 
Proposed Ground Floor  

Proposed First Floor 

 
Proposed Second Floor 

 
Proposed Elevations 

Figure 4. Showing floor plans and proposed elevations 
 

3.5 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of supporting 
documents that include: 

 
208528 20 Location Plan A3 
0068528 006 Second Floor P2 

0078528 007 Elevations P2 
0058528 005 First Floor P2 

213 040523 C U07 213   04   0523 C U07 213 04 
100 090523 C U07 100   09   0523 C U07 100 09 

101 070523 C U07 101  07   0523 C U07 101 07 
102 060523 C U07 102   06   0523 C U07 102 06 
200 090523 C U07 200   09   0523 C U07 200 09 

Das 281020. 
Planning Statement   St Martins Gate Retail Estate 

Market Report V3 
16570 Hyd Zz Xx Rp Y 1001 Noise Planning Report P01 
RDA Heritage Assessment Statement of Significance UNIT 7 ST MARTINS QUARTER 

WR1 
2DA V2 plus HER 

Amended floor plans and elevations  
Addendum to DAS 06 2021.pdf 
Planning Statement Addendum.pdf 

85828-AR-00-DR-A-007Illustrative Sketch Elevations  
8528-AR-00-DR-A-008Illustrative Sketch Elevations  

004, revision: P58528 004 Ground Floor P2 

Page 104



 

 
3.6 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will have 

had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 
the application accordingly. 

 
4.  Planning Policy  

 
4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 

framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 

decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 
Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any other 

material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the development 
proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be determined in 

accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

4.2 The key legal provisions relating to the consideration of heritage assets in the planning 
system are s72 (1) and s66 (1) of the Planning Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 
Act 1990 which state that “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 

preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area” and “have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 

special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 
 

4.3  The Development Plan for Worcester now comprises: 

 
 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted February 

2016, and; 
 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012.  

 
 South Worcestershire Development Plan 
 

4.4     The following policies of the SWDP are relevant to the proposal: 
 

SWDP 1:  Overarching Sustainable Development Principles 
SWDP 2:  Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 
SWDP 4:  Moving Around South Worcestershire 

SWDP 6:  Historic Environment 
SWDP 9: Creating and Sustaining Vibrant Centres 

SWDP 10: Protection and Promotion of Centres and Local Shops  
SWDP 13:  Effective Use of Land SWDP 14: Market Housing Mix 
SWDP 14:  Market Housing Mix 

SWDP 15:  Meeting Affordable Housing Needs 
SWDP 21:  Design 

SWDP 22:  Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SWDP 24:  Management of the Historic Environment 
SWDP 26:  Telecommunications and Broadband 

SWDP 27:  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
SWDP 28:  Management of Flood Risk 

SWDP 29:  Sustainable Drainage Systems 
SWDP 30:  Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment 
SWDP 31:  Pollution and Land Instability 

SWDP 33:  Waste 
SWDP 39:  Provision for Green Space and Outdoor Community Uses in New   

Development 

Page 105



 

 
Material Considerations 

 
 National Planning Policy Framework 2021 

 National Planning Practice Guidance  
 Worcestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030 
 Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018) 

 South Worcestershire Design Supplementary Planning Document 
 South Worcestershire Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 

 South Worcestershire Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
 Planning for Health in South Worcestershire Supplementary Planning Document 
 South Worcestershire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Supplementary Planning 

Document 
 The New Homes Bonus 

 
5. Planning History 

5.1 The site has been the subject of the following planning applications: 

P06D0250 - Part demolition and refurbishment of existing structures and new  build to 
provide, food-store, non-food retail, restaurant, offices, apartments, multi-storey car 

park and office/training/social facilities for Territorial Army. (This application referred to 
the whole site). Planning permission was granted upon completion of a Section 106 

Agreement that was completed on 11 March 2008. 

 
P12D0537 - Proposed new shop frontage, siting of air conditioning units and satellite 

dish on roof level. Permitted 12th March 2013 
 
 
19/00685/CU - Change of use of Unit 7C and 7D from A1 to B1. Permitted 11th 

November 2019 

 

5.2 More recently, and located on adjacent land to the rear of the site, the following 
development proposal has been permitted: 

 
P15D0510 - Demolition and clearance of existing structures to facilitate development 

of 110 apartments with access, cycle and car parking, landscaping and associated 
works (full). Permitted 11th January 2018.  

 

P19D0005 - Application for the variation of conditions 1, 6, 7, 9, 18, 22, 23, 28 and 

29 and removal of condition 3 of planning application P15D0510. Permitted 7th April 

2019. 

20/00301/NMA - Amendment to condition 3 of application P19D0005 to change the 

period within which construction must be begun from not later than 10th January 2021 

to not later than 10th April 2022. Permitted 3rd July 2020  

21/00384/NMA - Amendment to conditions 2 and 3 of planning application 

P19D0005 to change the list approved drawings and the period within which 

construction must be begun. 

6.      Consultations 

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect of 
the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory consultees 
and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original and amended 

proposals and are summarised as follows: 

Page 106



 

Neighbours and other third-party comments: No comments have been received. 

Worcester City Council Archaeological Officer: Objected to original proposals on 

grounds of significant harm to the louvres and internal cast iron tank, by cutting a 
large hole through it to form a staircase, and consequently to the appearance and 

character of the building and the character of the conservation area. 
 

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: No objection in 

principle, subject to preliminary  bat assessment.  
 

Worcester City Council Planning Policy: No objection in principle as the site falls 
outside of ‘Worcester’ for the purposes of SWDP 10 part 5, table 5 – Town, District, 
Local and Neighbourhood centres of the policy. Accordingly, policy provisions under 

part G cannot be applied to this planning application. However, it is still considered that 
whilst residential use on the upper floors would be supported, commercial or retail uses 

should continue to operate at the ground floor level. Express concerns regarding 
security of ground floor units, impact on amenities of ground floor residents from noise 
and loss of privacy and layout of amenity space.  

 
Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): No objection to amended 

plans, subject to condition to secure provision of proposed cycle parking.   
 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality): No objection. 

 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Nuisance): No objection, subject to post-

completion noise statement confirming that the proposed glazing and trickle ventilators 
will meet the required sound reduction specification detailed in Tables 8 & 9 of the 
submitted noise assessment and that either there are no external plant or ventilation 

openings or that they meet the noise limits detailed within Table 10 of the 
submitted noise assessment. 

 
South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership: No objection. 

 
Lead Local Flood Authority: No objection. 

 

West Mercia Constabulary Crime Risk Manager: Requested further details of 
security to prevent unwanted access into the court yards and communal areas. 

Additional details have been submitted to show additional security and there is no 
objection to the amended plans. 

 

Conservation Advisory Panel: Object to both the original and amended plans on 
grounds of introduction of residential use at ground floor, introduction of additional 

windows (more ‘industrial’ style preferred to reflect historic use), and loss of louvres. 
 

6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 

received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses have 
been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members verbally 

or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt.  

6.3 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to all consultation responses as 
material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions should 

not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether they are for 
or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it changed the 

advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a ground for 
refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid planning reasons. 

7. Comments of the Corporate Director – Planning and Governance 

Page 107



 

7.1 Policy SWDP1 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan sets out overarching 
 sustainable development principles and these are consistent with the Framework. The 

 various impacts of the development have to be assessed and the benefit and adverse 
impacts considered, to establish whether what is proposed is sustainable development. 

Taking the above matters into account, the main issues raised by the proposal relate to 
the principle of development and whether the development would be sustainable, 
having regard to the 3 dimensions of sustainability set out in the Framework, with 

regard to: 

 1. The economic role; 

 
2. The social role: 
 

- vacant building credit; 
- housing mix; 

 
3. The environmental role: 

 

 - impact on heritage assets; 
 - archaeology  

- impact on future residents’ amenities;  
- noise and disturbance 
- size of accommodation 

- relationship to approved apartments in 20/00301/NMA 
- impact on ecology  

 - access, car parking and highway safety; 
  

 These issues will now each be considered in turn.  

  The Principle of Development 
 

7.2 Whilst the conversion of the upper floors of the premises is considered acceptable by 
Officers and would make full and beneficial use of the floorspace, there are objections 

to the scheme from consultees regarding the loss of the ground floor retail units with a 
preference for them to remain in retail/commercial use.  

7.3 The application is supported by a marketing report with an overview of marketing on 

the whole of St Martin’s Quarter site since 2008.  

7.4 In respect of Unit 7, Ladbrokes took on the lease of Unit 7D in 2012/13 and have 

operated from these premises since that time, apart from forced closure during 
lockdown due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

7.5 Units 7A & 7B were let to Poundland/Poundstretcher in 2017 but the company has 

subsequently ceased trading. These units have been actively marketed since but with 
no interest.  Unit 7C has been vacant since construction despite having been marketed 

since 2008.   

The applicant has been willing to reduce the rent, or to discuss incentive packages and 
turnover rents to interested parties and has also been open to proposals to split the 

space if required.  However, even with this flexibility, no viable offers or proposals have 
come forward. 

7.6 Notwithstanding the above, policies SWDP 9 and SWDP 10 seek to retain and enhance 
retail and commercial development in Worcester City Centre, by restricting the change 
of use of retail premises to non-commercial uses. However, St Martin’s Quarter is not 

Page 108



 

located within the City Centre as per the SWDP Policies Map and therefore no specific 
policy exists to retain retail use in this location.  

7.7 In addition, the majority of the ground floor could be changed to residential use using 

permitted development rights as of 1 August 2021, subject to the prior approval 

procedure. I consider that this fallback position is a significant material consideration in 

the assessment of this application. With the exception of Unit 7D (Ladbrokes) which 

does not meet the criteria for prior approval as it is occupied.  

7.8 As of 1 September 2020, Class A1 retail use became subsumed into the new Class E 
‘commercial, business and service’ use class. The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development etc.) (England) (Amendment) Order 2021 introduced Class MA 

into the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (as amended). This states that the following is permitted development: 

 “MA Development consisting of a change of use of a building and any land within its 
curtilage from a use falling within Class E (commercial, business and service) of 
schedule 2 to the Use Classes Order to a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of 

Schedule 1 to that Order.” 

7.9 Units 7A, 7B and 7C could benefit from this permitted development right, which is 

subject to a prior approval procedure, whereby the developer, must apply to the LPA 
for a determination as to whether the prior approval of the authority is required in 

respect of certain criteria. When assessed against these criteria, if a prior approval 
application were to be made for the change of use of Units 7A, 7B, and 7C, it would be 
difficult for the Local Planning Authority to resist as only limited criteria area available 

for assessment within the prior approval process.  

7.10 This fallback position, is that part of the proposal can be undertaken most likely within 

the prior approval process and in relation to the principle of the proposed development 
to which I attach significant weight. Whilst it is accepted that Unit 7D would not benefit 
from these permitted development rights, nevertheless it is considered that this only 

forms a small part of the building as a whole and would not be a reason to withhold 
planning permission for the residential use of the entire building. 

7.11 Notwithstanding the above, it is appreciated that where new development is 
introduced, it is important to evaluate whether the proposals would represent a 
sustainable form of development. 

  Sustainable Development  
 

1. The economic role 
  

7.12 In the short term, the proposal would see the creation of construction jobs for the 

construction period of the project and some on-going opportunities for the provision of 
goods and services. The longer-term benefits would be that it would help support local 

services and would potentially increase the level of disposable income in the area. 
Upon completion, the development would also attract a New Homes Bonus payment 
and Council Tax receipts. In my opinion, this weighs in favour of granting planning 

permission.  
 

 2. The social role  

7.13 The proposal seeks to redevelop Unit 7 as a wholly residential entity, providing 24 
residential dwellings, of which 14 will be one-bed and a further 10 will be two-bed. As a 

consequence, it has important social roles which weigh in favour of granting planning 
permission. Equally, the loss of the unit from retail use would, in my opinion, have a 

Page 109



 

negative impact on the retail function of St Martin’s Quarter which I consider weighs 
against the proposal. However, on balance, the social impact of the proposals would be 

neutral. 

Affordable housing  

 
7.14 Policy SWDP 15 requires the provision of affordable housing on residential development 

schemes of 15 dwellings or more. As such the site would provide 7.2 affordable units in 

accordance with the requirements of the SWDP. However, Paragraph 64 of the 

Framework sets out that: - 
 

‘To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or 

redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a 
proportionate amount.’ 

 

7.15  Further  guidance  on  the  ‘Vacant  Building  Credit’  is  provided  in  Planning  Practice  
Guidance: Planning Obligations (Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 23b-021-20160519) 

which explains that ‘where a vacant building is brought back into any lawful use, or is 
demolished to be replaced by a new building, the developer should be offered a 
financial credit equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings… 

The existing floorspace of a vacant building should be credited against the floorspace 
of the new development’. 

 
7.16 For a brownfield site of 24 units in Worcester City, 30% of the dwellings should be 

affordable. In this case, this means that 7.2 of the units proposed through this scheme 

should be provided as affordable homes. However, in line with government policy in 
paragraph 64 of the NPPF, the Affordable Housing SPD makes provisions for Vacant 

Building Credit (VBC), meaning that the majority of the site qualifies for Vacant 
Building Credit given the vacant nature of units 7A, 7B and 7C. However, Unit 7D does 
not qualify as is it is occupied. The amount of affordable housing required is calculated 

below.  
 

 Calculated required affordable housing before application of Vacant Building Credit = 
30% of 24 units = 7.2 units 

 

 Calculation of Vacant Building Credit 
 

  Gross Floor Space of Units 7A, 7B, 7C and 7D = 1641.6 m2 
  

Minus Floor Area where Vacant building credit applicable = 1465.4 m2 
 
 Equals Net floor area = 176.2 m2 

 
 Percentage of Gross floor area where affordable housing required  

(176.2 m2 divided by 1641.6 m2)= 10.7%  
 
The percentage of gross floor area multiplied by the affordable housing liability 10.7% 

x 7.2 = 0.77 
 

 No of affordable units required when VBC accounted for= 0.77 affordable units.  
 
7.17 Given that the limited number of units in this location would be isolated it is considered 

appropriate to consider the payment of a commuted sum for off-site affordable housing 
provision in lieu of on-site provision in this instance. This is to be calculated in 

accordance with the SPD on Affordable Housing.   
   
 Mix of housing 

Page 110



 

 
7.18 Policy SWDP 14 states under part A that all new residential developments of five or 

more units, having regard to location, site size and scheme viability, should contain a 
mix of types and sizes of market housing. The mix will be informed by the latest 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment and/or other local data, for example, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Parish Surveys, Parish Plans and developers’ assessments. In 
this respect, the development would provide a mix of 1 and 2-bedroom flats. 

 
7.19 Given the location of the application site coupled with the constraints of the site, the 

proposal is considered to be appropriate to the site location in terms of housing mix. 
 
3.The Environmental Role  

 
Impact on Heritage Assets  

  
7.20 The site is located within the Lowesmoor Conservation Area (Conservation Character 

Area – St Martin’s Quarter) and is designated as an Archaeologically Sensitive Area. 

Nearby, The Old Vinegar Works, which is currently occupied by the Territorial Army, is 
a Grade II Listed Building. 

 
7.21 The central element of Unit 7 and the adjacent former Granary Works are locally listed 

buildings and identified as non-designated heritage assets. They can be seen below 

before refurbishment the wider regeneration of St Martin’s Quarter.  

  
 

Page 111



 

  
Figure 5. Showing the locally listed building ‘The Fermenting Shed’ before the St. 

Martin’s Quarter redevelopment.   
 
7.21 The characteristic window and louvre features of Unit 7B, the former ‘Old Fermenting 

Shed’, were retained and restored as part of the renovation of the building during the 
re-development of the former Vinegar Works. In order to facilitate the conversion of 

the premises now proposed, it was originally proposed to lower the window cills, 
replace louvres with windows, install railings to the ground floor openings, together 

with a small number of balconies to upper floor windows. Objections to these aspects 
of the proposal were raised by Officers and the Conservation Advisory Panel. In 
response, amended plans have been submitted to address these objections as detailed 

in paragraph 3.5 of this report. The Conservation Advisory Panel has maintained its 
objection to the treatment of the windows and louvres.  

7.22 The proposals should be considered against Policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 which seek 
to protect and enhance designated and non-designated heritage assets and guide 
against development that would cause substantial harm to the significance of any 

heritage asset. This is consistent with the NPPF in that they seek to protect and 
enhance designated and non-designated heritage assets and guide against 

development that would cause substantial harm to the significance of any heritage 
asset. In accordance with the NPPF, great weight must be given to the conservation of 
designated heritage assets and in accordance with s66 of the Planning Listed Building 

and Conservation Areas Act 1990, special regard is to be had to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their settings 

7.23 There is a substantial amount of planning case law regarding how a decision taker must 
address the issue of harm to heritage assets, such as listed buildings. Essentially, this 
makes it is clear that the decision maker is required to give considerable importance 

and weight to the desirability of avoiding harm to the heritage asset. There is 
accordingly a strong presumption, imposed by the Planning Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas Act 1990, against harmful development. This is the case whether 
the harm is ‘substantial’ or is ‘less than substantial’. There is no specific test in the 
NPPF of what differentiates substantial harm from other harm for the purposes of 

national policy.  

Page 112



 

Whilst the judgments are not prescriptive as to where the threshold between 
‘substantial’ and ‘less than substantial’ lies, nevertheless case law has been established 

that for harm to be substantial, the impact on significance is required to be serious 
such that very much, if not all, of the significance of the asset is eroded, for example 

by complete demolition. 

 
 

Figure 6. Unit 7 (The Old Fermenting Shed) September 2020 

 
Proposed Front Elevation 

Figure 7. Proposed front elevation showing Unit 7.  

 
7.24   The scheme proposes railing to be inserted to the ground floor openings as shown in 

Figure 7. These would be designed to match existing railings that have been restored 

and retained on the site as shown below in Figure 8. They would be set against one 
way 'mirror glass' across the openings that would help to mitigate their visual impact.  

Page 113



 

 
Figure 8. Restored railings adjacent to Asda.   

 
7.25 With regard to the formation of the courtyards at the rear of the site these would be 

formed either side of The Fermenting Shed (Unit 7B) by the partial demolition and 
reconfiguration of units 7A and 7C that would have re-built rear elevations. As there is 
currently no internal wall between Units 7A and 7B (The Fermenting Shed) or 7B and 

7C the exposed sections of the flank walls of The Fermenting Shed will be re-
built/dressed in matching brickwork to the main building. Units 7A, 7C and 7D are 

recent wing additions to The Fermenting Shed that were purpose-built retail units as 
part of the redevelopment of the former Vinegar Works.  

  
 7.26 An objection has also been raised by the City Council’s Archaeology Officer to the harm 

the conversion works would have on the internal cast iron tank. The tank is housed 

within the roof structure and is supported from below on a new structure of steel frame 
of girders to allow existing walls to be removed, gain insertion of a first floor with an 

internal open space to the first floor as part of the previous refurbishment and 
enlargement of the building. There is currently no internal access to the roof space, 
however the underside of the cast iron tank is visible from the first floor.  

 

 
Figure 9. Cast Iron Tank as ceiling / Cut timbers 

Page 114



 

7.27 The Heritage Statement submitted with the application recognises that from an 
archaeology and historical interest prospective, the internal roof structure and the cast 

iron tank are significant features and advises that ‘for any reuse/conversion of this 
building the roof structure, timber louvres, and ideally the cast iron tank should be 

retained. Any removal of the tank in any case would damage the remaining historic 
fabric.’ 

 

7.28 As proposed, the tank would be retained on the upper floor of Unit 7B. However, in 
order to facilitate access to the upper floor apartments, an opening in the floor of the 

tank is proposed to accommodate a staircase rather than removing the tank in its 
entirety. This is regrettable as the tank is an important historical feature of this locally 
listed building. The alternative would be to leave the upper floor vacant or amend the 

whole layout of the scheme to relocate the staircase to avoid the tank thereby serving 
a fewer number of apartments overall or on the upper floor. However, the option 

proposed is deemed to be the optimum design solution by the applicant.  
 

7.29 The issue therefore is whether this aspect of the scheme would denigrate The 

Fermenting Shed to such a degree that its contribution as a heritage asset would be 
unacceptably eroded. Its importance would be diminished by the proposed works and 

would not reflect responsible stewardship of the building. Nevertheless, the building is 
not statutorily listed and, as such, its internal and external features are not protected. 
The tank could therefore be removed or altered as proposed without the need to obtain 

consent. Currently, there are no controls or mechanisms available to ensure the 
retention of the tank in its entirety or unaltered. In the event that members agree with 

my conclusion on this matter, conditions are recommended for a full photographic 
survey of the tank and a method statement for its adaptation to be submitted and 
approved prior to the commencement of this part of the scheme.  

 
7.30 The partial demolition and reconfiguration of Units 7A and 7B would not have a harmful 

impact on the setting The Fermenting Shed which was historically an independent 
building with the wings added later. The reduction in the depth of Units 7A and 7C 

would also provide an opportunity to reveal more of The Fermenting Shed to enhance 
its prominence and integrity, albeit from limited public vantage points. 
 

7.31 Part of the building has never been occupied since it was first constructed, despite 
continued active marketing. The residential use of the building will help to sustain the 

viability of this non-designated heritage asset as well as this part of the conservation 
area. The active use of this building will have a positive effect on the character of the 
conservation area. 

 
7.32 The north elevation is the primary frontage of the building. It is proposed that the 

existing openings would have windows inserted with one way glazing to limit views into 
the residential units, also railings are proposed across the existing openings. Much of 
the historic fabric was lost when the buildings were significantly altered when changed 

to a retail use. The proposal does not fully accord with the Heritage Statement which 
sets out the ideal position of retention of the remaining features of the building. 

However, given it is locally listed, the building is not afforded actual statutory 
protection.  
 

7.33 Overall, the amended proposals achieve an acceptable standard of design and 
appearance that would ensure that the main architectural features of Unit 7B will be 

retained to preserve the character and appearance  of the building and ensure that its 
origins as a Fermenting Shed remain legible. 
 

7.34 I consider the changes proposed are necessary to facilitate the residential conversion. 
Whilst the changes are significant to the heritage asset they amount to less than 

Page 115



 

Substantial harm. The works to the elevations are necessary to facilitate the residential 
conversion, and there is insufficient justification to refuse on these grounds. 

 
7.35 In summarising the likely effects of the proposal on heritage assets and having full 

regard to the policies in the development plan and national guidance it is assessed that 
the proposed development would have less than substantial harm to the significance of 
the designated heritage assets. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF requires a balancing 

exercise to be undertaken between the “less than substantial harm” to the designated 
heritage asset on the one hand, and the public benefits of the proposal on the other 

including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 

7.36  Taking this into account and the significance of the conservation area, neighbouring 

listed building and the locally listed status of this building, I am of the opinion that the 
proposal would result in a less than substantial harm. I consider that this would be 

marginally outweighed by the public benefits of the proposals, namely the conversion 
of this locally listed building into full and beneficial use. 

 

 Impact on future residents’ amenities 
 

7.37 Policy SWDP 21 requires that new development does not have a significant adverse 
effect on neighbouring amenity. This is consistent with paragraph 130 of the NPPF that 
requires planning policies and decisions, amongst other matters, to ensure a high 

standard of amenity for existing and future users of land and buildings. 
 

7.38 The proposed apartments would be situated in a busy commercial environment 
adjacent to commercial and retail premises within St Martin’s Quarter, including the 
ASDA supermarket.  

 
7.39 The main issue raised by this aspect of the proposals is the whether the proposal would 

result in an unacceptable living environment for future residents, most particularly the 
ground floor apartments, in relation to privacy, actual and the perception of 

overlooking and noise/disturbance from shoppers, pedestrians and retail/servicing 
activities in St Martin’s Quarter, and amenity space. 
 

Noise and disturbance  

7.40 In order to protect the privacy of the ground floor apartments the habitable room 

windows of those facing onto St Martin’s Quarter have been set back from the façade 
of the building behind one-way mirror glass and private terraces to each apartment. 
This would allow natural light into the apartments and views out but not into the 

apartments. To the rear, the habitable room windows facing onto the courtyards would 
also be set back behind terraces with privacy screens 

Page 116



 

 

Figure 10. Proposed ground floor plan  

7.41 As proposed, I am satisfied that future residents would not experience an unacceptable 
level of overlooking from the public vantage points from within the streetscene to a 

significant degree more than would be experienced elsewhere in a city centre location. 
 
7.42  A noise report has been submitted that has been the subject of consideration by               

Worcestershire Regulatory Services with regard to noise and disturbance from 
shoppers, pedestrians and retail/servicing activities in St Martin’s Quarter. The 

assessment advises that necessary measures will include the installation of standard 
thermal double glazing and trickle ventilator(s) to meet the necessary standard 
(BS8233:2014 regarding internal noise levels). The report is considered satisfactory by 

Worcestershire Regulatory Services and no objection is raised, subject to 
recommended conditions for post-completion testing to achieve acceptable internal 

noise levels.  
 
7.43 With regard to air quality, an Air Quality Assessment has also been submitted for 

consideration by Worcestershire Regulatory Services and no objection is raised in 
response. 

 
Size of accommodation 
 

7.44 The proposals would satisfy the prescribed standards within the Technical housing 
standards -nationally described space standard 2015 that require a minimum gross 

internal area of 37 m2 for a 1-bed/1-person flat (with a shower instead of a bathroom) 
and 50 m2 for a 1-bed/2-person flat, and 61-70 m2 for a 2-bed flat.  
 

7.45 Each of the proposed flats would be self-contained varying in size from 42.6 m2 to 120 
m2 with bedroom/s, shower room/W.C. and kitchen/living areas. Whilst there is no 

specific policy requirement within the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 or 
guidance within the Design Guide SPD regarding internal space standards for 

residential development schemes, nevertheless I consider that the proposed 
apartments would provide acceptable levels of internal space.  

Page 117



 

 
7.46 External amenity space would be provided in the courtyard terraces for the ground 

floor apartments and roof terraces for the upper floor flats. Provision for 
refuse/recycling and bike storage facilities are also proposed in the courtyards to serve 

the proposed development. 
 
Relationship to approved apartments in 20/00301/NMA 

 
7.47 There are some concerns regarding loss of privacy/overlooking from the upper floor 

windows of habitable rooms of adjacent development of apartments on the adjoining 
site approved under planning application 20/00301/NMA, which currently remains 
extant until 10th April 2022. In figure 11 below, you can see the buildings are 

significantly taller at 7 storeys than the proposed scheme which is shown by the dotted 
line in figure 11.   

 
7.48 There is a distance of 42 metres between the facing windows of the two buildings. 

Whilst I accept that there is likely to be some natural overlooking and interaction 

between accommodation in the city centre environment, the local planning authority 
has concerns regarding if this would have a negative impact upon the residential 

enjoyment of the residential accommodation proposed if these schemes were 
undertaken.   
 

7.49 In terms of the relationship with the approved apartments proposed on the adjoining 
site to the rear I am satisfied that there would be adequate spatial separation between 

facing habitable room windows and the courtyards/roof terraces. However it is likely 
that there will be a perception of overlooking from the adjacent 7 storey residential 
building.   

 

 

Figure 11. Rear elevation of the proposed scheme on adjacent site 20/00301/NMA 

7.50 Taking all of the above matters into account, I consider there are aspects of the 

scheme which could have less than ideal levels of amenity even with the consideration 
of city centre living is added into the assessment. There may be overlooking or a 
perception of overlooking from the proposed scheme to the south and the footpath to 

the north is well trafficked and may generate some noise and disturbance. Overall, the 
design solutions proposed on the frontage are not ideal but it is not considered that 

there is sufficient justification to refuse on these grounds.    
 

7.51 However, I am also mindful of the fallback position applicable to Units 7A, 7B and 7C in 

terms of the prior approval process and these issues, given their technical solutions to 
remedy the issue would be likely to be sufficient to adequately overcome these 

reservations.  
 

Page 118



 

7.52 It is recognised that the residential accommodation for some of the ground floor units 
is less than ideal. However, on balance I consider that the proposed dwellings would be 

acceptable with regard to the impact on future residents’ amenities and would thereby 
also be consistent with the aims and objectives of policy SWDP 21.  

 
Impact on Ecology 
 

7.53 Policy SWDP22 seeks to ensure that all new development must be designed to enhance 
biodiversity/geodiversity interest and safeguard ecological corridors. It continues to 

state that development should also contribute toward ds securing coherent, robust 
ecological networks at both a local and wider landscape scale. When considering this 
proposal, reference should also be made to paragraph 174 of the NPPF, which states 

that local planning authorities should aim to minimise impacts on and provide net gains 
for biodiversity when determining planning applications. 

 
7.54  I note the comments of the Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser regarding the potential 

for bats to be found in the roof void and the need for this to be assessed. A survey of 

the roof was undertaken accordingly on 3rd September and it has been confirmed that 
no bats nor evidence of bats have been found. 

 
Access, car parking and highway safety 
 

7.55 No car parking is proposed to serve the development, which is located in a highly 
sustainable location in transportation terms with a wide range of services, amenities 

and employment sites located within the immediate site locality and city centre with 
Shrub Hill and Foregate Street train stations within short walking distances. Public and 
private car parking is also available nearby, including the St Martin’s Gate and Asda 

multi-storey car parks. Provision for safe and secure bicycle parking would also be 
made within the proposed courtyards. The Highway Authority has been consulted on 

this aspect of the proposals and is satisfied that its criteria for parking free 
development has been met and has no objection, subject to recommended conditions 

for the provision of the cycle parking prior to occupation of the apartments and a 
residential Travel Welcome Pack to promote sustainable forms of access to the 
development.  

 
7.56 Subject to the recommended conditions, I consider that this aspect of the proposals is 

acceptable and would meet the requirements of Policy SWDP 4 and Section 9 of the 
NPPF, in that there would be no detrimental impact on highway safety as a result of the 
proposed development.  

 
Planning obligations 

 
7.57 Planning obligations mitigate the impact of development to make it acceptable in 

planning terms. Obligations should meet the tests that they are necessary to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development, and 
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind. These tests are set out as statutory 

tests in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2012 and as policy tests in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

7.58 The contributions being sought relate to open space and affordable housing, as follows:  

Open Space Contribution for 24 market units 

 
The Developers Contribution SPD states that 'one and two bedroom dwellings have 
lower average occupancy rates therefore the developer contributions are reduced by 

25% for 2 bed dwellings and by 50% for one bed dwellings.’ As such, the level of open 
space contributions sought is as follows: 

Page 119



 

 
14 x 1-bed = £1,298.70 (50% discount applied) x 14 = £18,181.80 

10 x 2-bed = £1,948.05 (25% discount applied) x 10 = £19,480.50 
 

Total = £37,662.30 (this presumes all provision being made off site and all open space 
typologies in the SPD being applied). 

 

7.59 A commuted sum for future maintenance is also required. With the 1 and 2 bed 
discounts applied this would generate a sum of £29,417.60.  

 
7.60 The total amount of contributions with a commuted sum for open space would 

therefore be £67,079.90.  

 
7.61 An off site affordable housing contribution is required of £49,268.45 in lieu of on site 

provision of 0.77 of an affordable housing unit.  
 
7.62  Draft Heads of Terms for the Section 106 Agreement accompanying this application are 

attached as Appendix 1. 
 

8. Conclusion and planning balance 
 
8.1 No objection is raised to the principle of the proposed development as there are no 

specific policies of the Development Plan to retain retail use in this location. In addition, 
the majority of the ground floor could be changed to residential use using permitted 

development rights as of 1 August 2021, subject to the prior approval procedure which 
it is deemed would be difficult to resist and is considered to be a significant material 
consideration that weighs in favour of the proposals. 

 
8.2 With regard to the economic role, the proposed development would result in some 

economic benefits; employment during construction and thereafter upon the 
occupation of the flats it is likely that the occupants would contribute towards 

maintaining the vitality of local services and facilities.  
 

8.3 The loss of the retail function is a consideration which is balanced against the provision 

of housing which is considered to be a benefit of the proposals with 24 units of 
accommodation being provided in buildings which are currently vacant without active 

use for the most part. The mix of units in this location is considered to be suitable on 
the site.  
 

8.4 However there remain concerns regarding the conversion the units to residential 
accommodation in terms of the impact of the approved adjacent building to be built 

and whether it would generate a perception of overlooking and possibly being 
overbearing on the rear facing windows due to the height and massing of this 
development. Additionally, the proximity to the busy footpath in from the unit gives 

rise to concerns regarding noise and disturbance. Whilst measures have been provided 
to mitigate this impact, the inclusion of fencing and one way glass does not fully 

overcome these concerns on the impact on the residential accommodation and its 
suitability in this location.  
 

8.5 With regard to noise, this aspect of the proposal has been assessed to the satisfaction 
of Worcestershire Regulatory Services, subject to recommended conditions. No adverse 

impacts have been identified with regard to air quality and the proposed flats are 
considered to provide an acceptable standard of accommodation and amenity for future 
residents. As such, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in many areas of 

policy SWDP 21. 
 

8.6 In heritage terms, adverse impacts have been identified with regard to the treatment 

Page 120



 

of the water tank on the upper floors. However, in overall terms the proposals have 
been identified as having a ‘less than substantial’ impact and in accordance with the 

balancing exercise required by paragraph 202 of the NPPF it is considered that the less 
than substantial harm would be marginally outweighed by the public benefits of the 

proposals, namely the namely the conversion of this locally listed building into full and 
beneficial use. 
 

8.7 With regard to highway matters, the development is considered to be sustainable 
development in transportation terms and my view on this matter is reinforced by the 

lack of objection from the Highway Authority, subject to the recommended conditions.  
 
8.8 The total amount of contributions generated by the proposals equates to an open space 

contribution of £37,662.30 and a commuted sum to fund future maintenance of 
£29,417.60 and an off site affordable housing contribution of £49,268.45.  Draft heads 

of terms for the required section 106 agreement are annexed as appendix 1.  
 
8.9 I acknowledge all comments received as part of the consultation process and consider 

all material planning issues have been considered in the determination of this 
application. Having regard to the totality of the policies in the Framework, I consider 

that the proposed development is sustainable when looking at its social, economic and 
environmental credentials in the round. Overall, it is considered that the proposals 
constitute an environmentally, socially and economically sustainable form of 

development that accords with the Framework and the Development Plan as a whole. 

 
9. Recommended conditions 

9.1 In the event that members resolve to grant planning permission the following 

conditions are recommended:  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To conform with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in accordance with 

the following approved plans and associated documents and the specifications and 

recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise stipulated by conditions 

attached to this permission 

208528 20 Location Plan A3 

0068528 006 Second Floor P2 

0078528 007 Elevations P2 

0058528 005 First Floor P2 

213 040523 C U07 213   04   0523 C U07 213 04 

100 090523 C U07 100   09   0523 C U07 100 09 

101 070523 C U07 101  07   0523 C U07 101 07 

102 060523 C U07 102   06   0523 C U07 102 06 

200 090523 C U07 200   09   0523 C U07 200 09 

Page 121



 

Das 281020. 

Planning Statement   St Martins Gate Retail Estate 

Market Report V3 

16570 Hyd Zz Xx Rp Y 1001 Noise Planning Report P01 

RDA Heritage Assessment Statement of Significance UNIT 7 ST MARTINS QUARTER WR1 

2DA V2 plus HER 

Amended floor plans and elevations 

Addendum to DAS 06 2021.pdf Planning 

Statement Addendum.pdf 

85828-AR-00-DR-A-007Illustrative 

Sketch Elevations 

8528-AR-00-DR-A-008Illustrative Sketch Elevations 

004, revision: P58528 004 Ground Floor P2 

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme 

3. No development shall take place within Unit 7 until full details of a programme of archaeological 

building investigation and recording have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority and the approved scheme shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall 

include:  

All main structural elevations 

Louvres 

Internal cast iron tank Remaining timber floor beams Three window openings 

The roof structure 

and the preserved shaped opening on the ground floor 

Reason: To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the building to be recorded in 

accordance with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 

and aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

4. No development shall take place in Unit 7 until a comprehensive photographic survey has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason:- 

To allow the historical and archaeological interest of the building to be recorded in accordance 

with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and aims 

and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

5. Before the occupation of the development hereby permitted, a noise statement which measures 

and sets out the internal noise levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

Page 122



 

planning authority that the implemented measures are sufficient to meet the required noise 

reduction specification detailed in tables 8 and 9 of the approved  Noise Assessment.  

Any further mitigation measures so approved shall be completed and post completion testing to 

verify that the noise level requirements of this condition have been met shall be carried out at 

sample locations to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority before any of the dwellings hereby 

approved are first occupied. The testing procedure shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority at least 7 days prior to noise testing being carried out. 

 Reason: To ensure the proposal preserves residential amenity and to prevent unacceptable 

noise pollution to the detriment of human health contrary to policy SWDP31 of the South 

Worcestershire Development Plan. 

6. If any external plant / ventilation openings are required as part of the development then the 

cumulative noise levels from these items should not exceed the noise limits detailed in Table 10 

of the submitted noise assessment. 

Prior to occupation a noise statement  must be submitted to the local planning authority 

confirming that either there are no external plant / ventilation openings or that they meet the 

noise limits detailed within Table 10 of the submitted noise assessment as in the approved plans. 

Reason: To ensure the site does not generate excessive noise which could be harmful to 

residential enjoyment of occupiers of the approved development in line with the aims of 

SWDP21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 

7. The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the applicant has submitted to and 

had approval in writing from the Local Planning Authority, a residential Travel Welcome Pack 

promoting sustainable forms of access to the development. The pack shall be provided to each 

resident at the point of occupation. 

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access. 

8 . The Development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle parking (34 spaces) shown 

on the submitted plan (Drawing No. 8528 004 P5) has been properly provided and covered to 

comply with the Streetscape Design Guide with details to be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the cycle parking shall be kept available for the parking 

of bicycles only. 

Reason: To comply with the Council’s parking standards. 

9.  The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the existing building shall 

match in type, colour, texture, size, coursing, jointing and pointing -those used in the existing 

building. 

 Reason: To protect, conserve and enhance the significance of heritage assets and to ensure that 

the new materials are in keeping with the surroundings and/or represent quality design in 

accordance with policies SWDP 6, SWDP21 and SWDP24 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan. 

10. Details of the render and the colour of the external finish of the render window panels must be 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any changes to openings on the 

site.  

 

Reason: To ensure the quality of the heritage asset is retained in line with SWDP 6 and SWDP24 

of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016. 

Page 123



 

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 124



DRAFT HEADS OF TERMS 
Proposed Planning Obligation Agreement 

Section 106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 

Planning Application: 20/00866/FUL 
 

CHANGE OF USE FROM RETAIL TO 24 RESIDENTIAL UNITS 
 

AT: UNIT 7, ST MARTIN’S QUARTER, WORCESTER 
 

 OPEN SPACE 

 
1. In lieu of the provision of sporting, play, allotments and informal open 

space on the site the Owner/Developer shall pay to the City Council a public 
open space contribution as follows: 

 

14 x 1-bed@£1,298.70 = £18,181.80 
10 x 2-bed@£1,948.05 = £19,480.50 

 
Plus a commuted sum to fund future maintenance of £29,417.60. 

  

Total contribution = £67,079.90 
 

The sum shall be paid on or before commencement of development. 

 
2. The monies pursuant of paragraph 1 shall be used for the provision of off-

site open space facilities including: 
 

 For the provision or enhancement of amenity green space in the 
vicinity of the development, 

 

 For the provision or enhancement of equipped play space in the 

vicinity of the development, 
 

 For the provision or enhancement of civic space in the vicinity of the 
development,  

 
 For the provision or enhancement of allotments in the vicinity of the 

development, 
 

 For the provision or enhancement of formal pitches in the vicinity of the 

development. 

 
  
3. In the event that the City Council does not for any reason expend or 

commit the expenditure of the said sums in paragraph 1 for the purposes 
specified in the Agreement within ten years of the date of receipt of the 

payment, the City Council shall repay to the developer the said sum or such 
part thereof which has not been used by the City Council. 
 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 

4. In lieu of the provision of affordable housing within the site the 
Owner/Developer shall pay to the City Council the sum of £49,268.45 

Page 125 Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



(calculated in accordance with the Affordable Housing SPD) which sum shall 
be paid on or before the first occupation of the development. The monies 
shall be used for the provision of off-site affordable housing facilities in 

accordance with the relevant policies of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan or any statutory replacement of those policies.  

 

5. In the event that the City Council does not for any reason expend or 
commit the expenditure of the said sums in paragraph 4 for the purposes 

specified in the Agreement within ten years of the date of receipt of the 
payment, the City Council shall repay to the developer the said sum or such 
part thereof which has not been used by the City Council 

 
6. The Developer shall provide to the City Council either a solicitor’s 

undertaking for the reasonable legal costs incurred by the City in 
connection with the preparation and completion of the Agreement or if no 
solicitor is instructed these fees must be paid direct to the City Council. 

These fees shall be payable prior to the commencement of any legal work 
and are payable whether or not the agreement completes. 

 

7. The developer covenants with the City Council to pay a Section 106 
monitoring fee of £650 to the city council which shall be paid on or before 

completion of the agreement. This fee will be to cover the cost relating to 
the administration and monitoring of the planning obligations. 
 

8.  The Developer shall complete the Agreement within three calendar months 
of the application being presented to Planning Committee, unless otherwise 

agreed by the Director of Planning and Governance otherwise the 
application will be registered as deemed refused. 

 

 

Oct 2021 

Page 126



 

 

Application Number 21/00680/FUL 

Site Address New Bungalow, Grosvenor Walk, WORCESTER, 

WR2 5BJ 

Description of 

Development 

Proposed new bungalow to the rear of New Bungalow, 

(Land adjacent to) Grosvenor Walk  

Expiry Date 17 September 2021 

Applicant Mr ANDY GEORGE 

Agent Mr Jim Lowden 

Case Officer Sally Watts 

 sally.watts@worcester.gov.uk 

Ward Member(s) St. John Ward 

Reason for Referral to 

Committee 

 

Ward Member referral 

Key Issues 

 

The principle of development and whether the proposal 

would be sustainable form of development having regard 
to the 3 dimensions of sustainable development in terms 
of its economic role, social role and environmental role.   

Web link to application  https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Planning/Display/21/00680

/FUL 

Recommendation 
 

The Corporate Director - Planning and Governance 
recommends that the Planning Committee grants 

planning permission, subject to conditions as set 
out in section 9 of this report.   

 
1. Background 

 
 1.1 The application was registered on 23 July 2021 and was due for a decision on 17 

September 2021. An extension of time for the determination of the application has 

been agreed until the 29th October 2021 to allow determination by the Planning 
Committee. 

 
 1.2 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of 

Councillor Udall on the following grounds: 

 
   significant over development of the site,  

   a loss of privacy and natural light to other properties  
   a significant danger to pedestrians and other road users in Bromyard Terrace 

Page 127 Agenda Item 9

https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results
https://plan.worcester.gov.uk/Search/Results


 

 
2.       The site and surrounding area  

 

2.1 The site is within the St Johns ward to the west of the city. Bromyard Terrace links 

together the St Johns District Centre and Henwick Road. Given its limited width it is a 

well-used route for pedestrians and cycles rather than through traffic. 

2.2 The site is accessed only from Bromyard Terrace off Henwick Road and forms part of 

the existing garden area of New Bungalow whose frontage is accessed from Grosvenor 

Walk via the footpath. 

2.3 Grosvenor Walk is a footpath which links Nelson Road and Henwick Road. It has a 

higher natural ground level than the adjoining car park which has an existing 

boundary to separate the rear amenity area and the car park accessed from Bromyard 

Terrace.  

2.4 There is no car parking on site for the existing dwelling called New Bungalow, and the 

car parking area of the site is used by the dental laboratory opposite the site entrance 

and accommodates 7 cars.  

 

Figure 1. Site location plan 

2.5 The site area is within a largely residential context with a mix of dwellings and 

house types although terraced and semi- detached are a common house 

typelocally, in line with the dense development pattern of the area, however a 

public house and food retailer are in close proximity. 

2.6 Around the site and adjacent car park there are a number of dwellings which 

share a boundary- particularly whose rear gardens are within close proximity. 

These are: 

 New Bungalow (in blue line) 

Page 128



 

 24, 26 and 28 Bromyard Terrace 

 5, 7 & 9 Grosvenor Walk 

 68 Nelson Road 

2.7 Opposite the entrance to the site are 5,7,9 Bromyard Terrace and Ceroplast a 

specialist dental laboratory. 

2.8 The site is archaeologically sensitive but has no other constraints as identified in the 

South Worcestershire Development Plan 2016 

3. The proposal  

3.1 The proposal is for a single two bedroom dwelling with access from Bromyard 

Terrace. It is proposed to use part of the existing amenity area of New Bungalow, 

Grosvenor Walk and to continue to use the existing car parking area for car parking 

for the dental laboratory business. 

3.2 It is a resubmission of a previous application P17K0234which was determined under 

delegated powers on 22nd December 2017. The permission was for a three-year 

period and so the permission has now elapsed. The permission included conditions 

on matters such as drainage, renewables, external details, samples of materials, 

external lighting and surface water drainage.  

3.3    The previous decision notice (P17K0234) and report can be seen in appendix 1 and 

2 respectively.  

3.4 It would utilise the rear amenity area of New Bungalow (owned by the applicant) for 

the proposed new dwelling with access from the car parking area to provide two car 

parking space plus access up steps to the existing ‘new bungalow’ and the proposed 

single unit. 

 

Figure 2. Proposed site plan 

3.5 The plan shows 7 spaces can be accommodated in the current car park and the 

proposed car park area would accommodate an additional 4 spaces for the existing 

bungalow and proposed dwelling.  

Page 129



 

3.6 The proposed dwelling takes into account the topography of the site with the front 

portion of the dwelling being two storey with the rear being 6 steps higher on a split 

level. The rear element has a native green roof proposed. The house has a lounge, 

study and store at ground level. The kitchen/diner, utility and WC at the interim 

level. The upper floor has 2 bedrooms, one with en-suite and a bathroom.

 

Figure 3. Proposed floor 

plans 

3.7 The application is accompanied by a full set of plans together with a suite of supporting 

documents that include: 
 

 Img 7068Imgp7068 

 Img 7070Imgp7070 

 P2021 028/0101 Location V2020 

 P2021 028/0202 Existing Site V2020 

 P2021 028/0909 Section Bb V2020 

 P2021 028/0303 Site Sections V2020 

 P2021 028/0606 Elevations V2020 

 P2021 028/2121 Coping Detail V2020 Rev A 

 P2021 028/0505 Floor Plans V2020 

 P2021 028/2222 Drive Detail V2020 

 P2021 028/0208 Boundary Treatment V2020 

 P2021 028/1616 Retaining Wall V2020 

 P2021 028/2020 External Lighting V2020 

 P2021 028/0404 Proposed Site V2020 

 P2021 028/0707 Wms V2020 

Page 130



 

 Aquacel 

 Hrwallingford Uksuds Storage Report 

 4380Ltrrpt 8 8 18   Worcester 

 Design Statement George(1) 

 Upvc Gutters 

 Sliding Doors Internorm 

 New Unit At Grosvenor Walk Design Stage Sap Fee Pea 

 Int Ks430 NrSliding Doors 

 British Flora Green Roofing Brochure 

 Windows Internorm 

 Energy Statement 

 IntKf310 S4nrWindow Details 

 Int At310 TuereEntrance Door 

 Skygarden 

 Doors Internorm 

3.8 In accordance with Article 15 (7) of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
 Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), full details of the 
application have been published on the Council’s website. As such, Members will have 

 had the opportunity to review the submitted plans and documents in order to 
familiarise themselves with the proposals prior to consideration and determination of 

the application accordingly.  
 

4. Planning Policy  
 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the Act’) establishes the legislative 

framework for consideration of this application. Section 70(2) of the Act requires the 
decision-maker in determining planning applications/appeals to have regard to the 

Development Plan, insofar as it is material to the application/appeal, and to any other 
material consideration. Where the Development Plan is material to the development 
proposal it must therefore be taken into account.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the application/appeal to be determined in 
accordance with the Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
4.2 The Development Plan for Worcester comprises: 
 

 The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) which was adopted February 
2016, and; 

 The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy, which was adopted on December 2012.  
 

South Worcestershire Development Plan 

 
4.3     The following policies of the SWDP are considered to be relevant to the proposal: 

 

Page 131



 

SWDP 1 Overarching Sustainable Development Principles 
SWDP 4     Moving Around South Worcestershire 

SWDP 6 Historic Environment  
SWDP 21  Design 

SWDP24 Management of the Historic Environment  
SWDP 27  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
SWDP 29  Sustainable Drainage Systems 

 
Material Considerations 

 
1. National Planning Policy Framework 

 

4.4 The latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)has been recently 
revised and places a greater emphasis on design quality and beautiful places. The NPPF 

sets out the Government's planning policies for England and how these are expected to 
be applied. It constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers 
and is a material planning consideration in determining planning applications.  

 
2. National Planning Practice Guidance  

 
4.5 On 6th March 2014 the Government also published National Planning Practice Guidance 

(NPPG) that has been updated in the meantime and comprises, amongst other 

matters: Design, Determining a planning application, Health and Wellbeing, Noise, and 
Use of Planning Conditions.  

 
3. Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

4.6 The following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) are relevant to the application 
proposals:- 

 
 South Worcestershire Design SPD 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy SPD 
 Worcestershire’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4) 2018 – 2030 
 Worcestershire County Council Streetscape Design Guide (2018) 

 
5 Planning History 

5.1 The site has been the subject of the following planning applications: 

 
P16K0052 Proposed use of part of rear amenity area of New Bungalow to facilitate an 

extension to the existing car park to serve business located in Bromyard Terrace. 

Refusal 3rd May 2016  

P16K0489 Erection of garden room extension and demolition of existing single storey 

uPVC conservatory. Approved on the 7th November 2016  

P17K0234 Proposed erection of dwelling on land to rear of New Bungalow, Grosvenor 

Walk Approved on the 22nd December 2017  

6      Consultations 

6.1 Formal consultation, including display of site notices, has been undertaken in respect of 
the application. The following comments from statutory and non-statutory consultees 
and interested third parties have been received in relation to the original and amended 

proposals and are summarised as follows: 

Page 132



 

Neighbours and other third party comments: 1 letter of support and no objections 
have been received in relation to the proposal.  

The neighbours at 28 Bromyard Terrace advise:  

It appears to be a proposal with merit, which will enhance the site and complement the 

existing housing stock on the Bromyard Terrace and hopefully set a standard for 
design, execution and environmental considerations. 

Worcester City Council Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser: Preference for a  

native green roof rather than sedum which will add greater biodiversity gain.  
 

Worcestershire County Council (Highway Authority): No objection subject to 
conditions 

 

Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Air Quality): No objection 
 

South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership: No objection or requirement 
for conditions 
 

6.2 Members have been given the opportunity to read all representations that have been 
received in full. At the time of writing this report no other consultation responses have 

been received. Any additional responses received will be reported to members verbally 
or in the form of a late paper, subject to the date of receipt.  

6.3 In assessing the proposal due regard has been given to local residents comments as 

material planning considerations. Nevertheless, I am also mindful that decisions should 
not be made solely on the basis of the number of representations, whether they are for 

or against a proposal. The Localism Act has not changed this, nor has it changed the 
advice that local opposition or support for a proposal is not in itself a ground for 
refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded on valid planning reasons. 

7. Comments of the Corporate Director - Planning and Governance 

  The Principle of Development 

 
7.1 The proposal is largely the same as the scheme approved under application P17K0234 

on the 22nd December 2015. The only difference in the proposal is rather than a sedum 
roof as in the previous scheme this is replaced with a native green roof, however this is 
not significantly different and would not affect the principle of development.  

7.2 There has been no material change in site circumstances or relevant policy 
considerations in the meantime. The principle of development has therefore been 

established by the approval of application P17K0234 and is material to the 
consideration of this application. 

Material Considerations 

7.3 The local planning authority continue to be satisfied that there would be no adverse 
impact on the amenities of neighbouring residents in terms of loss of privacy through 

actual, or the perception of overlooking, noise/disturbance from the intensification in 
the residential use of the site or its visual impact. There have been no objections to the 
application from neighbouring residents.  

7.4 As part of this application further information has been submitted beyond that of the 
earlier approved submission. This relates to conditions and further information which 

was sought in relation to the development. These matters included ; 

Page 133



 

 Drainage;  

 Renewable measures;  

 External details;  

- Window and door product information and specification 

- Coping detail on flat roof 

 - Mix for native green roof-  

- Rainwater goods 

 Facing, roofing and surfacing samples of materials; 

 External lighting and; 

 Surface water including management plans and implement details.  

7.5 The additional information provides the local planning authority the opportunity to 
consider these matters during the application period rather than post decision and this 

is reflected in the consultation responses such as drainage which are satisfied that no 
drainage conditions are necessary. The Landscape and Biodiversity Adviser has a 

preference for a native green mix rather than a sedum mix, which has been amended in 
the proposed scheme to reflect this preference.  
 

7.6 In terms of siting, design and appearance, there is a minor change with the change from 
a sedum roof to a native green roof, but is unchanged from the previous approved 

application. There have been no material changes in the circumstances affecting this 
proposal and, for this reason I also remain satisfied that the site has the capacity to 
accommodate the development in an acceptable manner. The external appearance 

utilises the changes in levels within the site and allows the change in level an opportunity 
to add the native green  roof as a design feature on the rear mid-level section as shown 

in figure 4.  
 

 
 

Figure 4. Cross section through the site 
 

7.7 As previously approved, the scheme would include provision for car parking in 
accordance with the operative parking standards set out in the Streetscape Design Guide 
and can confirm that there have been no material changes in the circumstances affecting 

this proposal. These aspects of the proposal have been assessed by the Highway 
Authority and the scheme is considered to be acceptable in terms of the proposed access 

Page 134



 

arrangements including the access onto Bromyard Terrace, subject to the recommended 
conditions. 

 
7.8 The site is designated as an archaeologically sensitive location in the city given its 

proximity to the historic core of St Johns area. This is recognised within the SWDP 2016 
and is afforded relevant protection within policies SWDP6 and 26 regarding the historic 
environment.  

 
7.9 As such conditions to safeguard the potential for archaeological finds on the site and to 

ensure this historic aspect of the site are necessary. The earlier scheme included 
conditions regarding archaeology, these would continue to apply if approved.  

8.  Conclusion 

8.1 The proposal is largely the same as the scheme approved under application 
P17K0234under delegated powers on 22nd December 2017 and there has been no change 

in site circumstances or relevant policy considerations in the meantime. The only change 
is the replacement of a sedum roof mix with a native green mix at the request of the 
Landscape and Biodiversity Advisor.  

8.2 The local planning authority remains of the opinion that the proposals constitute an 
acceptable and sustainable form of development when assessed against the policy 

framework both nationally and locally.  The site has the capacity to accommodate the 
development in an acceptable manner in terms of its siting, size, design, layout, 
appearance, impact on neighbouring residents’ amenities, access arrangements and car 

parking. As such, it is recommended that planning permission is granted.  

9. Recommended  Conditions 

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 

For the following reason:- 

Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed in 

accordance with the following approved plans and associated documents and the 

specifications and recommendations contained therein, except where otherwise 

stipulated by conditions attached to this permission 

Img 7068Imgp7068  

Img 7070Imgp7070 

P2021 028/0101 Location V2020 

P2021 028/0202 Existing Site V2020 

P2021 028/0909 Section Bb V2020 

P2021 028/0303 Site Sections V2020 

P2021 028/0606 Elevations V2020 

P2021 028/2121 Coping Detail V2020 Rev A  

Page 135



 

P2021 028/0505 Floor Plans V2020 

P2021 028/2222 Drive Detail V2020 

P2021 028/0208 Boundary Treatment V2020 

P2021 028/1616 Retaining Wall V2020 

P2021 028/2020 External Lighting V2020 

P2021 028/0404 Proposed Site V2020 

P2021 028/0707 Wms V2020 

Aquacel 

Hrwallingford Uksuds Storage Report 

4380Ltrrpt 8 8 18   Worcester 

Design Statement George(1) Upvc 

Gutters 

Sliding Doors Internorm 

New Unit At Grosvenor Walk Design Stage Sap Fee Pea 

Int Ks430 NrSliding Doors 

 British Flora Green Roofing Brochure  

Windows Internorm 

Energy Statement 

IntKf310 S4nrWindow Details Int 

At310 TuereEntrance Door 

Skygarden 

Doors Internorm 

Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved scheme 

3. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the access, turning 

area and parking facilities have been properly laid out and provided in accordance 

with the approved plan (Drawing No. p2021-028-04). These areas shall thereafter 

be retained and kept available for those users at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of Highway safety 

4. Twenty one days before any development is commenced resulting in any excavation 

within the site, written notice shall be given to the local planning authority, 

whereupon the local planning authority shall, within 21 days of receipt of such 

notice, specify in writing to the developer which persons authorised by the local 

Page 136



 

planning authority shall be allowed access to the site whilst any excavations are in 

progress for the purpose of archaeological investigation.  This access shall allow for a 

period of one day for unencumbered archaeological recording to take place within 

the trenches if in the opinion of the City Archaeological Officer features of interest 

are revealed.For the following reason:- 

To allow the historical and archaeological interest of the site to be recorded in 

accordance with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

5. If during the course of the works hereby approved any of the following features of 

interest are uncovered, the local planning authority shall be notified immediately 

and no works affecting such features shall take place until they have been 

inspected by persons authorised by the local planning authority and a scheme for 

their retention and/or treatment agreed in writing. 

Schedule of features of interest:- 

 

Buried archaeological remains of medieval or earlier date 

For the following reason:- 

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the site to be realised in 

accordance with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

Page 137



 

Appendix 1. decision notice relating to P17K0234 

 

 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 

 
Planning Permission 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Name and address of applicant                                Name and address of agent 

 
Mr ANDY GEORGE                                                       Mr Jim Lowden 
YEW TREE HOUSE                                                          30 Stonebow 

Road BRICKLEHAMPTON                                                      Drakes 
Broughton PERSHORE                                                                 Pershore 
WR10 3HJ                                                                  WR10 2AP 

 

 
Part I - Particulars of Application 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Application Number             P17K0234 
 
Location NEW BUNGALOW (LAND ADJACENT TO) GROSVENOR WALK 

WORCESTER 

 
Development Proposed erection of dwelling on land to rear of New 

Bungalow, Grosvenor Walk 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Part II - Particulars of Decision 

The WORCESTER CITY COUNCIL HEREBY GIVE NOTICE in pursuance of the provisions of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that permission has been GRANTED for the 
carrying out of the development referred to in Part I hereof for the following reason: 

The decision to grant planning permission takes into account the provisions of the 

Development Plan, in particular policy SWDP21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan 

2016 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework and it was 
considered that, on balance, the proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to the 
amenities of the area and highway safety. 

 

The development referred to in Part I hereof shall be carried out in accordance with 
the application and plans submitted subject to the following conditions: 

 
 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission. 
 

For the following reason:- 
 

Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 

submitted plans, except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this 
permission. 

 
For the following reason: 

 
For the avoidance of doubt and to secure a satisfactory form of development in 
accordance with policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

3. Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved an area shall be laid out within 
the curtilage of the property for the parking of 2 cars for the new dwelling and 'New Bungalow' 

Page 138



 

and this area shall be properly consolidated, surfaced and drained in accordance with details to 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This area shall not 
thereafter be used for any other purpose than the parking of vehicles. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the safety and free flow of traffic using the 
adjoining highway in accordance with policy SWDP 4 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

4. Full details of the following matters including any details shown on the submitted plans shall be 

submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing before the development is 
commenced. 

 
Schedule:- 

 
Supporting evidence and details of the renewable and/or low- carbon measures proposed to 
meet the requirements for 10% of proposed energy use to be met through on site 
measures. 

 
The development shall not be undertaken other than in full accordance with such approved 
details. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
Insufficient details were submitted for these matters to be fully and properly considered in 
respect of the approval hereby granted and policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 29 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
5. Full details of the following matters including any details shown on the submitted plans shall be 

submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing before the development is 
commenced. 

 
Schedule:- 

 
- Window and door product information and specification 

- Coping detail on flat roof 

- Sedum mix for sedum roof- 

- Rainwater goods 

 
The development shall not be undertaken other than in full accordance with such approved 
details. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
Insufficient details were submitted for these matters to be fully and properly considered in 
respect of the approval hereby granted and policy SWDP 21of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

 
6. Samples of facing, roofing and surfacing materials shall be submitted to and approved by the 

local planning authority in writing prior to implementation as part of the development hereby 
approved. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with such 
approved details. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
For the avoidance of doubt and to secure a satisfactory form of development in accordance with 
policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 139



 

7. Details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority before the building(s) is occupied. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
Insufficient details were submitted for these matters to be fully and properly considered in 
respect of the approval hereby granted and policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire 
Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8. Twenty one days before any development is commenced resulting in any excavation within 
the site, written notice shall be given to the local planning authority, whereupon the local 
planning authority shall, within 21 days of receipt of such notice, specify in writing to the 
developer which persons authorised by the local planning authority shall be allowed access to 
the site whilst any excavations are in progress for the purpose of archaeological investigation. 
This access shall allow for a period of one day for unencumbered archaeological recording to 
take place within the trenches if in the opinion of the City Archaeological Officer features of 
interest are revealed. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
To allow the historical and archaeological interest of the site to be recorded in accordance 
with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. If during the course of the works hereby approved any of the following features of interest 
are uncovered, the local planning authority shall be notified immediately and no works 
affecting such features shall take place until they have been inspected by persons 

authorised by the local planning authority and a scheme for their retention and/or treatment 
agreed in writing. 

 

Schedule of features of interest:- 

Buried archaeological remains of medieval or earlier date 

For the following reason:- 

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the site to be realised in accordance with 
policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

10. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a scheme for surface water 
drainage shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior 
to submission of the scheme an assessment shall be carried out into the potential of disposing 
of surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system (SuDS), and the results of this 
assessment shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. If infiltration 
techniques are used then the plan shall include the details of field percolation tests. There shall 
be no increase in surface water run-off from the site compared to the existing pre-application 
greenfield run-off rate up to a 1 in 100 year storm event plus 
40% allowance for climate change. The scheme shall provide an appropriate level of runoff 
treatment. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before 
the development is first brought into use. Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to be 
provided, the submitted details shall: 

 
i. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method employed to 
delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the measures taken to 
prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters; 

 
ii. include a timetable for its implementation 

Page 140



 

iii. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall 
include robust arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

 
For the following reason:- 

 
To ensure a satisfactory means of disposal for surface water without increasing the risk of 
flooding to the site or elsewhere. 

 

Date      22nd December 2017    

                                             
 

Development Management 
The Guildhall 

High Street 
Worcester WR1 2EY                                                      Development Services Manager 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Appendix 2. delegated report relating to P17K0234 

OFFICER DELEGATED REPORT 

REFERENCE: 

PROPOSAL: 

LOCATION: 

P17K0234 

Proposed erection of dwelling on land to rear of New 

Bungalow, Grosvenor Walk 

NEW BUNGALOW (LAND ADJACENT TO) GROSVENOR 

WALK WORCESTER  

SITE INSPECTED: 13th July 2017 

 

PURPOSE 

To determine the application 

1. BACKGROUND 

The application was submitted on 2nd May 2017 and the period for determination expires on 

24th December 2017. 

The site is accessed only from Bromyard Terrace off Henwick Road and forms part of the existing 

garden area which has a higher natural ground level than the adjoining car park which has an 

existing boundary to separate the areas. 

The relevant area is within a residential context with a mix of dwellings and house types 

although terraced and semi- detached are a common house type locally, in line with the dense 

development pattern of the area.  

Page 141



 

Bromyard Terrace links together the St Johns shopping district (designated within the City of 

Worcester Local Plan 2004) and Henwick Road, however given its limited width it is a well used 

route for pedestrians and cycles.  

Around the site and adjacent car park there are a number of dwellings which share a boundary- 

particularly whose rear gardens are within close proximity. These are: 

  

24, 26 and 28 Bromyard Terrace 

5 & 7 Grosvenor Walk 

68 Nelson Road 

The proposal seeks to increase the existing car park which is used for the dental practise 

opposite on Bromyard Terrace. The proposal wishes to use part of the existing amenity area of 

New Bungalow Road, Grosvenor Walk to extend the existing car park to support the business 

needs for staff car parking. It would utilise the rear amenity area of New Bungalow (owned by 

the applicant but rented out) to accommodate additional car parking as well as provide off 

street carking for New Bungalow in the area adjacent to the side of the dwelling. This would 

need to gain access via the shared car park as the frontage of this part of Grosvenor Walk is 

accessible by pedestrian access only.  

The plan shows 7 spaces can be accommodated in the current car park and the proposed car 

park area would accommodate an additional 4 spaces for the existing bungalow and proposed 

dwelling.  

The proposed dwelling takes into account the topography of the site with the front portion of 

the dwelling being two storey with the rear being 6 steps higher on a split level. The rear 

element has a sedum roof proposed. The house has a lounge, study and store at ground level. 

The kitchen/diner, utility and WC at the interim level. The upper floor has 2 bedrooms, one with 

en-suite and a bathroom. 

2. POLICIES 

The following saved policies set out in the City of Worcester Local Plan 2004 and supporting 

documents are of relevance: 

SWDP 21 Design 

SWDP 4 Moving Around South Worcestershire 

SWDP 1 Overarching Sustainability Principles 

A. When considering development proposals, the Local Authority will takea 

positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. It will always 

work jointly and proactively with applicants to find solutions that mean 

proposals can be approved wherever possible and to secure development that 

improves economic, social and environmental conditions in south Worcestershire. 

B. Planning applications that accord with the policies in the SWDP (andwhere 

relevant, with polices in Neighbourhood Plans) will be approved unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

C. Where applications do not accord with policies in the SWDP, the LocalAuthority 

will seek to work with applicants with a view to mitigating adverse impacts and 

identifying sustainable solutions where possible. 

D. Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevantpolicies are 

Page 142



 

out of date at the time of making the decision then the Local Authority will grant 

permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise â¿¿ taking into 

account whether: 

i. any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly 

anddemonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 

Framework taken as a whole; or 

ii. specific policies in the Framework indicate that development should 

berestricted. 

SWDP 27 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

SWDP 29 Substainable Drainage Systems 

The following National Guidance is of relevance: 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Published March 2012 

3. PLANNING HISTORY 

The site has been subject to the following applications: 

P16K0052 Proposed use of part of rear amenity area of New Bungalow to facilitate an extension 

to the existing car park to serve business located in Bromyard Terrace. Refused 03/05/16 

4. CONSULTATIONS 

The period for consultations expired on 1st November 2017. 

West Mercia Constabulary No Objection 24-05-2017 

Hi Sally  

  

With regard to this application, I have no concerns or objections  

  

regards Mike 

South Worcestershire Land Drainage General Concerns 17-05-2017 Partnership 

The Applicant has stated "sustainable drainage system" and "main sewer" as the proposed 

means of disposal for surface water.  On its own rainwater harvesting volume is ignored for 

the assessment of surface water attenuation as such systems can be full or off-line during a 

critical storm event.  There is no public surface water sewer shown on the Severn Trent 

Water Limited Sewer Map in the vicinity, only a combined sewer in the highway.  The 

Applicant should follow the recommended drainage hierarchy: source control-watercourse-

sewer to control additional surface water generated by roof and paved areas so that the 

proposed total rate and volume of run-off from the site is restricted to greenfield run-off 

rates.  Refer to EA Surface Water Management Advice Note for Worcestershire and the latest 

EA advice on climate change allowances (+40%) that came into force on 19th February 2016.  

STWL should be formally consulted for any proposal to discharge additional surface water to a 

Page 143



 

public sewer, even by an existing lateral or drain, on net.dev.west@severntrent.co.uk and I 

recommend that the following condition is attached to any planning permission granted for 

this application:  

Condition: Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a scheme for 

surface water drainage shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Prior to submission of the scheme an assessment shall be carried out into the 

potential of disposing of surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system (SuDS), 

and the results of this assessment shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority. If infiltration techniques are used then the plan shall include the details of field 

percolation tests. There shall be no increase in surface water run-off from the site compared 

to the existing preapplication greenfield run-off rate up to a 1 in 100 year storm event plus 

40% allowance for climate change. The scheme shall provide an appropriate level of runoff 

treatment. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details before 

the development is first brought into use.  Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to be 

provided, the submitted details shall:  

i. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the methodemployed 

to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the measures taken to 

prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters;   

ii. include a timetable for its implementation;  

iii. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of thedevelopment which 

shall include robust arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 

lifetime.  

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of disposal for surface water without increasing the 

risk of flooding to the site or elsewhere. 

City Archaeological Officer General Comment 27-10-2017 

I refer to my earlier comment and have no further observations. 

James Dinn General Comment 16-05-2017 The application site is outside the medieval St 

John's suburb but in an area where there may have been associated industrial or other 

activity. This area of the gravel terrace close to the Severn floodplain was also a favoured 

zone for prehistoric and Roman settlement and a number of sites have been found in the St 

John's area.  

  

There are no specific indications for this site.  

  

As a precaution I recommend CE13 and CE06 conditions.  

  

  

Recommendation:   

  

  

CE13 Archaeology - access (unencumbered recording) (1 day)  

  

CE06 Uncovering features/interest  

If during the course of the works hereby approved any of the following features of interest 

are uncovered, the local planning authority shall be notified immediately and no works 

affecting such features shall take place until they have been inspected by persons authorised 

by the local planning authority and a scheme for their retention and/or treatment agreed in 

writing.  

  

 Schedule of features of interest:  

  

Page 144



 

 Buried archaeological remains of medieval or earlier date 

Kerry Poole General Comment 17-05-2017 

Regarding refuse and recycling, standard sized bins would be allocated to the 3 bed bungalow 

when developed. 

Highways Partnership Unit Defer 24-05-2017 Hi Sally 

Application No: P17K0234 

Location : NEW BUNGALOW (LAND ADJACENT TO) GROSVENOR WALK WORCESTER 

Development : Proposed erection of dwelling on land to rear of New Bungalow, Grosvenor 

Walk 

Please see the Deferral comment attached. 

Regards 

Fiona Allen 

South Worcestershire Land Drainage General Concerns 17-05-2017 

Partnership 

Thank you for your re-consultation request regarding amended information submitted by the 

Applicant since my previous comments dated 17th May 2017.  

  

There appeared to be no new flood risk or surface water management information provided, 

so my previous comments and recommendation for condition still stand. 

Carole Denning Objection 08-06-2017 

Please can you clarify. The planning number says as  

I cation to build a new bungalow but the application form put in my agent says new 2 storey  

3 bed house. I think There could be some confusion  with the bungalow already on this land. 

Neighbours 

28 Bromyard Terrace 

28 Bromyard Terrace 

Objection 

Objection 

24-05-

2017 

24-05-

2017 

We object to this Planning Application for the reasons detailed in our letter dated 21/05/2017, 

emailed and posted. 

28 Bromyard Terrace Objection 24-05-2017 

We, Cristina and Gavin Gardiner, object to the above Planning Application for the following 

reasons:  

1. Generation of extra traffic onto the Bromyard Terrace which is alreadyproblematic for 

existing residents facing on-going issues of access and exit due to carparking or deliveries 

blocking the road. These can and do spark confrontation sometimes; there is on-going car 

damage for those parking on the terrace. There will be no permanent means of access/exit for 

the house and New Bungalow without the movement of vehicles parked in Ceroplast's car park, 

which is invariably full. There is likely to be many more vehicle movements in and out: eg.to 

Page 145



 

move one car in or out could involve a further 3-5 car movements into and out of Ceroplast's 

car park causing nuisance.   

2. Although the siting of the proposed house has been arrived at by the 45degreerule, the 

two storey dwelling is very close to No.28, 3meters away from the principal bedroom's window 

which is frequently opened for cross ventilation and provides light.   

3. The application is also wrong because No 28 has two east facing ground floorwindows at 

the rear of the kitchen, which will be completely obscured by the new house.  

4. The size, height and scale of the proposed two-storey building seems very largefor the 

plot and in relation to the neighbouring houses that are mostly one storey or small two storey 

terrace housesits design is bulky design.  The proposed render finish will make it stand out 

even more against the backdrop of No 28's North elevation and because of the elevated plot 

making it visible as far away as the Henwick Road.   

5. The assertions that the use of render 'to match 26 Bromyard Terrace' and to'reflect 

omnidirectional light towards all neighbours, reducing visual impact' are in our view spurious. 

No. 26 has one rear elevation rendered, as a recent addition over the original brick and this 

should not be taken as the main material to construct a new house at the edge of St. Johns 

Conservation Area. The render will definitely make the house stand out in an environment 

where the principal material is Worcestershire red brick.  

6. The ground level of the plot, where the house is to be situated, is approximately1.2m 

higher than Bromyard Terrace and it is proposed that the house will be built in this elevated 

position. A portion of the ground in front of the house is to be excavated to provide carparking. 

The resulting boundary wall in front of the new house, facing Bromyard Terrace therefore 

appears to be 2.6meters high and will without doubt look overbearing in the context of 

Bromyard Terrace.   

7. Drawing 04 states that 'the existing retaining wall becomes a garden wall'between the 

development and Nos 24, 26 but at present there is a timber fence above ground not a wall. 

The only wall is our house, no 28. Could the applicant please provide details of this wall? and 

realise that there will probably be implications in conjunction with the Party Wall Act for No. 28 

(and No 24).  

8. It is impossible to see how the excavations of the grounds to provide parking andthe 

house could be carried out without the uttermost disruption to the life of the inhabitants of the 

terrace and those using it on a daily basis: parents delivering young children to nursery and 

primary schools, with prams and pushchairs; schoolchildren walking and biking to and from 

Christopher Whitehead; elderly residents of numerous local sheltered housing slowly going to 

shops and facilities. 

28 Bromyard Terrace Objection 24-05-2017 

We object to this application because of vehicular traffic generation issues of this proposal, as 

detailed in our previous response, which still do not appeared to have been addressed. 

24 Bromyard Terrace Objection 26-05-2017 Due to the proposed site being at a higher level 

than my property,  24 Bromyward Terrace, any 2 storey building would overpower the back of 

my property. This property is already overpowered by the former factory premises opposite at 

the front and this proposal would overpower my property at the back too, thus removing all 

my natural light. There are no foot ways along Bromyard Terrace, as this is a very narrow 

terrace, not constructed for traffic, which many elderly people live and walk through, along 

with children going to and from the local St. Clements school and Christopher  Whitehead 

Language College, so any more veichicle movement along this terrace would be detrimental 

and dangerous to children and elderly residents alike . I also think there would be issues 

regarding construction traffic which could not physically get up the terrace without a total 

parking ban and without a turning facility all construction traffic would then have to reverse 

back down the terrace, again causing a dangerous and very unacceptable situation.  Also 

access is very awkward, the proposed property is accessed across a small car park (belonging 

Page 146



 

to a factory unit used by a dentist),  at the side of my property so there would be lots of 

disturbance from the residents cars coming and going. There is no where to turn in Bromwayd 

Terrace and  there is minimal parking for residents cars, let alone anyone visiting residents in 

the terrace. 

24 Bromyard Terrace Objection 26-05-2017 My objection stands as per the original plans 

and my comments statement. Also on the plans it shows a large area that states neighbours 

parking. This is in fact a small gated area belonging to the sheltered accommodation flats and 

is not for all neighbours only the visitors of the elderly residents that live in this complex. I had 

not received any letter giving me the opportunity to comment on the revised plans I only found 

out by chance that the plans had been amended and re submitted. 

Surely all residents in the terrace and Nelson Road and Grosvenor Walk should should have 

been informed and the time factor is not very long to allow residents to look at the plans. 

26 Bromyard Terrace General Concerns 31-05-2017 

I feel that the height of the building is a cause of concern as it will cast a shadow over our 

property blocking the evening sun and potentially disturbing our privacy, I am also concerned 

about the situation over the extra traffic that this building may cause. The Terrace is already 

narrow and it will make it potentially dangerous if extra vehicles, especially heavy goods 

vehicles are driving up and down, with many young children and families using the Terrace as 

a short cut to walk to the nearby schools and shops. The parking is also a concern as 

although the plans say that there are two spaces for parking on the property, it has been 

highlighted that due to the uneven ground this may not eventually be the case and if the 

extra cars do end up parking on the Terrace this will cause disruption for the rest of the 

residents as there is not enough spaces as it is. 

19 solitaire ave Objection 27-10-2017 

My objection entered earlier for this application  still stands for this proposed amended 

development . Also why have no of the residents in Bromyward terrace been informed that 

this plan has been amended thus enabling them to re assess and enter their objections. 

No other comments have been received as part of the consultation process. 

5. COMMENTS 

Following a comprehensive site visit, I find the principle material considerations to be the 

following which will be considered in greater detail below;  

· The principle of the proposed change of use 

· Impact of the proposed use on neighbouring properties 

· Impact on the streetscene 

· Impact on highway network 

The principle of the proposed change of use 

Having considered the -application in terms of the current policy status I consider it would be 

broadly compatible with the core planning principles as stated in the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2012 of promoting economic growth and supporting enterprise and small 

businesses. However this needs to be carefully balanced with the duty to ensure development 

does not harm the amenity of neighbouring residents and negative impacts are appropriately 

mitigated to a satisfactory level.  

Page 147



 

Impact of the proposed use on neighbouring properties 

I consider the proposed scheme addresses many of the former issues regarding amenity. The 

scheme utilises the rear amenity space of 'New Bungalow' which is amended to wrap around 

the rear element of the garden. The rear element is proposed to be utilised to form a shared 

car parking space (4 cars) for the two dwellings.  

The scheme has been revised and amended with extended discussion in terms of design 

solutions to resolve the constraints of the site. I consider that the design has now resolved 

these issues and that the proposal has addressed the concerning relationship issues of former 

schemes. The rear facing windows are off set from the side facing widows of 61 Nelson Road 

and have been arranged so these are the bathroom and en-suite and hallway to ensure they 

do not relate to habitable room windows which could create overlooking.  

Given the issues of car parking in the local area I consider the off road car parking provision 

for @New Bungalow' is of benefit in relieving some of the pressure within the local area. The 

site area includes the car parking for the dentist business. As such should there be issues with 

a conflict of access it would need to be resolved with the land owners.  

I am comfortable in my assessment that the impact of the proposal will be limited and I consider 

the additional use of the car parking area for the residential units -by virtue of the proximity to 

a number of residential amenity areas- is not harmful given that this could be altered without 

planning permission as permitted permission.  

In additional this is a densely populated area of the city and additional car parking provision 

can help to ease the outstanding frustrations locally.  

The use of the existing amenity space for the host property at New Bungalow would result in 

the loss of some of the rear private amenity space. However I consider the amended scheme 

has a reasonable relationship with the proposed dwelling which sits well within the site.   

The effect of vehicular movement would also be felt by 24 and 26 Bromyard Terrace and 

consider that their amenity would also be harmed although to a lesser degree. Whilst there is 

sufficient room to manoeuvre in terms of highways the manoeuvring would be undertaken in 

close proximity to the residential amenity space. However as discussed given the dense nature 

the development there will be inevitable compromises in amenity levels as a result. I do not 

consider that the additional noise and disturbance would be significantly harmful to an 

unacceptable level.  

·Visual impact of the proposal  

I consider that the design of the proposal of the design is such that it has been designed to be 

sensitive to the visual aspect of the neighbouring dwellings and the design has been revised to 

be positive and to utilise the opportunities of the site in a positive way.  

Impact on the highway network.  

The scheme is considered acceptable to the Highways team with the inclusion of conditions 

relating to cycle parking although I consider there is a proposed shed in the rear garden which 

would be used for this purpose, also the consolidation of the parking area.  

Conclusion 

Page 148



 

The Local Planning Authority considers that on balance the impact of the proposal has been 

reduced to the extent of being acceptable. The improved design results in a more positive 

scheme which addresses the constraints of the site more firmly and resolves them adequately.  

As such the proposal complies with the requirements of development and meets the standards 

necessary to ensure the protection of the amenity of neighbours from unacceptable 

development. The design of the site is more positive and the host dwelling is less compromised 

and the inclusion of off road car parking for this dwelling is considered to be a positive given 

the parking constraints in the local area.  

the scheme does not address the renewables element of a required, however this can achieved 

by condition.  

The concerns of the neighbours have been carefully considered and been included as part of 

the consideration as to the impact on amenity and also design.  

As such I consider the side has been refined and improved to the extent that it now is able to 

meet the requirements of SWDP 21. 

6. RECOMMENDATION 

The decision to grant planning permission takes into account the provisions of the 

Development Plan, in particular policy SWDP21 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and it was considered that, on balance, the proposal would not cause 

demonstrable harm to the amenities of the area  and highway safety. 

P17K0234 

That planning permission is APPROVAL (PLANNING) subject to conditions: 

1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 

For the following reason:- 

Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete accordance 

with the submitted plans, except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to 

this permission. 

For the following reason: 

For the avoidance of doubt and to secure a satisfactory form of development in 

accordance with policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the 

aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

3 Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved an area shall be laid 

out within the curtilage of the property for the parking of 2 cars for the new dwelling 

and 'New Bungalow' and this area shall be properly consolidated, surfaced and drained 

in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority. This area shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose than 

the parking of vehicles. 

For the following reason:- 

Page 149



 

In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the safety and free flow of traffic using 

the adjoining highway in accordance with policy SWDP 4 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

4 Full details of the following matters including any details shown on the submitted 

plans shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing 

before the development is commenced. 

Schedule:- 

Supporting evidence and details of the renewable and/or low- carbon measures 

proposed to meet the requirements for 10% of proposed energy use to be met through 

on site measures.  

The development shall not be undertaken other than in full accordance with such 

approved details. 

For the following reason:- 

Insufficient details were submitted for these matters to be fully and properly considered 

in respect of the approval hereby granted and policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 29 of the 

South Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

5 Full details of the following matters including any details shown on the submitted 

plans shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing 

before the development is commenced. 

Schedule:- 

- Window and door product information and specification 

- Coping detail on flat roof 

- Sedum mix for sedum roof-  

- Rainwater goods 

The development shall not be undertaken other than in full accordance with such 

approved details. 

For the following reason:- 

Insufficient details were submitted for these matters to be fully and properly considered 

in respect of the approval hereby granted and policy SWDP 21of the South 

Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

6 Samples of facing, roofing and surfacing materials shall be submitted to and 

approved by the local planning authority in writing prior to implementation as part of 

the development hereby approved.  The development shall not be carried out otherwise 

than in accordance with such approved details. 

For the following reason:- 

For the avoidance of doubt and to secure a satisfactory form of development in 

accordance with policy SWDP 21 of the South Worcestershire Development Plan and the 

aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 150



 

7 Details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the local planning authority before the building(s) is occupied. Development shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

For the following reason:- 

Insufficient details were submitted for these matters to be fully and properly considered 

in respect of the approval hereby granted and policy SWDP 21 of the South 

Worcestershire Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

8 Twenty one days before any development is commenced resulting in any 

excavation within the site, written notice shall be given to the local planning authority, 

whereupon the local planning authority shall, within 21 days of receipt of such notice, 

specify in writing to the developer which persons authorised by the local planning 

authority shall be allowed access to the site whilst any excavations are in progress for 

the purpose of archaeological investigation.  This access shall allow for a period of one 

day for unencumbered archaeological recording to take place within the trenches if 

in the opinion of the City Archaeological Officer features of interest are revealed. 

For the following reason:- 

To allow the historical and archaeological interest of the site to be recorded in 

accordance with policies SWDP 6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

9 If during the course of the works hereby approved any of the following features of 

interest are uncovered, the local planning authority shall be notified immediately and 

no works affecting such features shall take place until they have been inspected by 

persons authorised by the local planning authority and a scheme for their retention 

and/or treatment agreed in writing. 

Schedule of features of interest:- 

Buried archaeological remains of medieval or earlier date 

For the following reason:- 

To allow the historical and archaeological potential of the site to be realised in 

accordance with policies SWDP6 and SWDP 24 of the South Worcestershire 

Development Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

10 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a scheme for 

surface water drainage shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. Prior to submission of the scheme an assessment shall be carried 

out into the potential of disposing of surface water by means of a sustainable drainage 

system (SuDS), and the results of this assessment shall be submitted to and approved 

by the Local Planning Authority. If infiltration techniques are used then the plan shall 

include the details of field percolation tests. There shall be no increase in surface water 

run-off from the site compared to the existing pre-application greenfield runoff rate up 

to a 1 in 100 year storm event plus 40% allowance for climate change. The scheme 

shall provide an appropriate level of runoff treatment. The scheme shall be implemented 

in accordance with the approved details before 

Page 151



 

the development is first brought into use. Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to 

be provided, the submitted details shall: 

i. provide information about the design storm period and intensity, themethod 

employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the 

measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface 

waters; 

ii. include a timetable for its implementation; 

iii. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of thedevelopment 

which shall include robust arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme 

throughout its lifetime. 

For the following reason:- 

To ensure a satisfactory means of disposal for surface water without increasing the risk 

of flooding to the site or elsewhere. 

7. IMPROVEMENTS 

 

OFFICER: Mrs Sally Watts 

DATE: 22nd December 2017 

 

 

Page 152


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Planning Committee
	4 Minutes of Previous Conservation Advisory Panel
	7 Outline Planning Application P16L0448 (Formerly P13L0316) (MHDC Ref: 13/00656/OUT) - South Worcestershire Urban Extension
	Appendix 1 (Pt.1 and Pt.2)
	Appendix 1 (Pt. 1) 079. 13_00656_OUT- 2021 WAHT.pdf (p.1-2)
	Appendix 1 (Pt.2) - 080. 13_00656_OUT- 2021 WAHT Rep.pdf (p.3-30)

	Appendix 2 - Amended list of planning conditions
	Appendix 3 - S106 Heads of Terms Oct 21
	Appendix 4 - S106 Worcs Acute Hospitals Trust October 21 v3
	Appendix 5 PC Report September 2019

	8 Application 20/00866/FUL - Unit 7, St Martin's Quarter
	Appendix 1 - Heads of Terms Unit 7

	9 Application 21/00680/FUL - New Bungalow, Grosvenor Walk

